
   

CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA 
 

 
AGENDA 

City Council Meeting  
 

Monday, January 22, 2018 – 7:00 p.m.  
 

City Hall Council Chambers 
5800 Melaleuca Lane 

 
 

 
Mayor and City Council 

 
Joel Flores, Mayor 

Paula Bousquet, Deputy Mayor 
 
  John Tharp, Council Member   District I 
  Peter A. Noble, Council Member  District II 
  Judith Dugo, Council Member   District III 

Anderson Thelusme, Council Member  District IV 
 

Administration 
 

Andrea McCue, City Manager 
James Stokes, City Attorney 

Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act:  In accordance with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA), this document can be made available in an alternate format (large print) upon request.  Special 
accommodations can be provided upon request with three (3) days advance notice of any meeting, by 
contacting City Clerk Joanna Cunningham at Greenacres City Hall, 5800 Melaleuca Lane, Greenacres, 
Florida. Phone No. 561-642-2006.  Hearing Assistance:  If any person wishes to use a Listen Aid Hearing 
Device, please contact the City Clerk prior to any meeting held in the Council Chambers. 
 
Attention All Lobbyists:  Palm Beach County Code of Ordinances, Article VIII, entitled “Lobbyist 
Registration” requires the registration of all lobbyists prior to engaging in any lobbying activity with the City 
Council, any City Board or Committee, or any employee as defined in the aforementioned Palm Beach 
County Ordinance.  Copies of the Palm Beach County Ordinance are available upon request in the City 
Clerk’s Office. 
 

Web Site:  http://www.greenacresfl.gov 
 
 



City Council Meeting– 01-22-2018                                                            Page 2 
 

Agenda 
City Council Meeting  

City Hall Council Chambers 
5800 Melaleuca Lane 

Monday, January 22, 2018 - 7:00 p.m. 
 
Notice:  Any person requesting the appeal of a decision of the City Council will require a verbatim record of 
the proceedings and for that purpose will need to ensure that such verbatim record is made.  Pursuant to 
F.S. 286.0105, the record must include the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.  
The City of Greenacres does not prepare or provide such verbatim record. 

 
1. Call To Order and Roll Call. 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 
 
3. Comments From the Public for Agenda Items Only. 
 
4. Agenda Approval. 
 

A. Additions, deletions, or substitutions to the agenda. 
 

B. Motion to approve and adopt entire agenda as set.  
 

5. Special Business  
 

A. Presentation: Certificate of Congratulations to Mr. Edgar Perez of El Sabor 
Latino for being named the Hispanic Chamber of Commerce “Business of 
the Year” – Joel Flores, Mayor. 
 

6. Consent Agenda. 
 

A. Motion to Approve Consent Agenda. 
 

1. Official Minutes: City Council Meeting December 18, 2017 – 
Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk. 

 
2. Proclamation:  “School Choice Week” – Joel Flores, Mayor.  

 
3. Resolution No. 2018-01: Authorizing the execution of the Fiscal Year 

2017-2018 Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Agreement 
for Phase 5 of the Stormwater Drainage Enhancement in the Original 
Section; and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo - 
Kara Ferris, Planning & Engineering Director. 

 
4. Resolution No. 2018-02: Opposing legislative efforts to impede the 

constitutional right Florida’s citizens have enjoyed for nearly 50 years 
to govern themselves under municipal home rule powers; opposing 
the legislature’s persistent intrusion into local finances, which are 
necessary to provide financial stability and essential services 



City Council Meeting– 01-22-2018                                                            Page 3 
 

uniquely required by municipal residents and local businesses; 
directing city administration to transmit a certified copy of this 
resolution to the Florida League of Cities, the Palm Beach County 
legislative delegation and any other interested parties; providing for 
conflicts; providing for severability; and providing an effective date – 
Andrea McCue, City Manager.  

 
5. Resolution No. 2018-03: Satisfying certain liens imposed against 

residential property, pursuant to Section 15-32, City of Greenacres 
Code; pursuant to Staff Memo - James McInnis, Finance Director. 

 
6. Resolution No. 2018-04: Authorizing the Interlocal Agreement 

(“Agreement”) between the Board of County Commissioners, Palm 
Beach County, a political subdivision of the State of Florida (herein 
referred to as the "County"), and the City of Greenacres, a municipal 
corporation of the State of Florida (herein referred to as the ("City"), 
each one constituting a public entity as defined in Part I of Chapter 
163, Florida Statutes, to provide the staffing of emergency shelters by 
emergency medical services staff and providing for an effective date; 
.–Mark Pure, Fire Chief.   

 
7. Regular Agenda.  

 
A. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-20: Second  Reading; Annexing 

three parcels of land totaling approximately 5.4249 acres, located 
approximately 500 feet south of the intersection of Lake Worth Road and 
South Military Trail at 4215 South Military Trail, 4101 South Military Trail, 
and the adjacent  Lake Worth Drainage District Drainage Right-of-Way, as 
requested by the Planning and Engineering Department in accordance with 
Chapter 171.0413 of the Florida Statutes; providing for redefining the 
boundary lines of the City of Greenacres to include the subject property in 
the City’s Official Boundary Map; providing for repeal of conflicting 
ordinances; providing for severability; and providing for an effective date; 
pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report – Kara Ferris, Planning & 
Engineering Director. 

 
B. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017 27: Second Reading; Amending 

the future land use map of the Future Land Use Element of the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan, to change the Future Land Use Designation of two 
parcels of land totaling approximately 3.9949 acres, located approximately 
500 feet south of the southwest corner of Lake Worth Road and South 
Military Trail at 4215 South Military Trail, 4101 South Military Trail, from a 
Palm Beach County Designation of Urban Infill (PBC UI) to a City of 
Greenacres designation of Commercial (CM) and Public Institutional (PI), 
as requested by the Planning and Engineering Department; providing for 
repeal of conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; providing for 
transmittal to the Division of Community Development; providing for 
inclusion in the Comprehensive Plan; and providing for an effective date; 
pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report – Kara Ferris, Planning & 
Engineering Director. 



City Council Meeting– 01-22-2018                                                            Page 4 
 

 
C. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-28: Second Reading; Approving 

the application for a zoning change for two parcels of land totaling 
approximately 3.9949 acres, located approximately 500 feet south of the 
intersection of Lake Worth Road and South Military Trail at 4215 South 
Military Trail, 4101 South Military Trail, from a Palm Beach County Zoning 
Designation of Urban Infill (PBC UI) to a City of Greenacres Zoning 
Designation of Commercial Intensive (CI) and Government Use (GU), as 
requested by the Planning and Engineering Department; providing for 
changes to the Official Zoning Map; providing for repeal of conflicting 
ordinances; providing for severability; and providing for an effective date; 
pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report – Kara Ferris, Planning & 
Engineering Director.  

 
D. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-29: Second Reading; Amending 

the Future Land Use Map of the Future Land Use Element of the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan, to change the Future Land Use Designation of one 
parcel of land totaling approximately 0.16 acres, located on the south side of 
Lake Worth Road approximately 515 feet west of South Military Trail at 4644 
Lake Worth Road, from a Palm Beach County Designation of Urban Infill 
(PBC UI) to a City of Greenacres designation of Commercial (CM), as 
requested by the Planning and Engineering Department; providing for repeal 
of conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; providing for transmittal 
to the Division of Community Development; providing for inclusion in the 
Comprehensive Plan; and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff 
Memo and Staff Report - Kara Ferris, Planning & Engineering Director. 

 
E. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-30: Second Reading; Approving 

the application for a Zoning Change for one parcel of land totaling 
approximately 0.16 acres, located on the south side of Lake Worth Road 
approximately 515 feet west of South Military Trail at 4644 Lake Worth Road, 
from a Palm Beach County Zoning Designation of Urban Infill (PBC UI) to a 
City of Greenacres Zoning Designation of Commercial Intensive (CI), as 
requested by the Planning and Engineering Department; providing for 
changes to the Official Zoning Map; providing for repeal of conflicting 
ordinances; providing for severability; and providing for an effective date; 
pursuant to Staff Memo - Kara Ferris, Planning & Engineering Director. 

 
F. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-32: Second Reading; Annexing 

three (3) parcels of land totaling approximately 2.14 acres, located at the 
northwest corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road, as requested by 
the petitioner, Dunay, Miskel and Backman, LLP, agent for the owners, 
Morris W. Sperber Trust, Roslyn L. Emerson and Craig B. Morris; providing 
for redefining the boundary lines of the City of Greenacres to include the 
subject property in the City’s Official Boundary Map; providing for repeal of 
conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; and providing for an 
effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report -Kara Ferris, 
Planning & Engineering Director. 

 
G. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-33: Second Reading; Amending 



City Council Meeting– 01-22-2018                                                            Page 5 
 

the Future Land Use Map of the Future Land Use Element of the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan, to change the Future Land Use Designation of four 
parcels of land totaling approximately 3.201 acres, located at the northwest 
corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road, from a Palm Beach County 
Designation of Low Residential 3 units per acre (RL-3) in part and from City 
Mixed Use (MU) to a City of Greenacres Designation of Commercial (CM) 
located on the west side of South Jog Road and north of Chickasaw Road 
as requested by the petitioner, Dunay, Miskel and Backman, LLP, agent for 
the owners, Morris W. Sperber Trust, Roslyn L. Emerson, Craig B. Morris 
and Shahveer Dhatigara; providing for repeal of conflicting ordinances; 
providing for severability; providing for transmittal to the Division of 
Community Development; providing for inclusion in the Comprehensive 
Plan; and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff 
Report - Kara Ferris, Planning & Engineering Director. 

 
H. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-34:Second Reading; Approving 

the application for a zoning change for four (4) parcels of land totaling 
approximately 3.201 acres, located at the northwest corner of Chickasaw 
Road and South Jog Road, from a Palm Beach County Zoning Designation 
of Agricultural (AR) in part and City Mixed Use Development Office Zoning 
(MXD-O) to a City of Greenacres Zoning Designation of Commercial 
Neighborhood (CN), as requested by the petitioner, Dunay, Miskel and 
Backman, LLP, agent for the owners, Morris W. Sperber Trust, Roslyn L. 
Emerson, Craig B. Morris and Shahveer Dhatigara; providing for repeal of 
conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; and providing for an 
effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report - Kara Ferris, 
Planning & Engineering Director. 

 
I. Site Plan Amendment – SP-17-02:  – Approving Site Plan for NW Corner 

of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road (Aldi’s); pursuant to Staff Memo 
and Staff Report – Kara Ferris, Planning & Engineering Director 

 
J. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-39: Second  Reading; Amending 

Chapter 4, entitled Buildings and Building Regulations, of the City of 
Greenacres Code, to include the Florida Building Code 6th Edition, together 
with all amendments thereto, as recommended by the Building Code 
Advisory Board of Palm Beach County, Florida and as conformed to the 
City’s Operational Standards; providing for repeal of conflicting ordinances; 
providing for severability; providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff 
Memo – Michael Grimm, Building Director.  

 
8. Comments from the Public. 
 
9. Discussion Items:   

 
10. Staff Comments. 
  



City Council Meeting– 01-22-2018                                                            Page 6 
 
 

A. City Manager’s Report. 
 
1. Building Department Report  
2. Finance Department Report  
3. Leisure Services Department Report  
4. Planning & Engineering Department Report  
5. Fire Rescue Department Report  
6. Public Works Department Report 
7.  PBSO Report 
 

 B. City Attorney’s Report. 
 
11. Mayor and City Council Reports. 
 
12. Adjournment. 
 
 

NOTICE OF COUNCIL MEETINGS AND AGENDAS 
The first and third Monday of each month are regular meeting dates for the City Council; special or workshop 
meetings may be called on the second and fourth Mondays of the month, or whenever necessary.  Council 
Agendas are posted on the City’s website on the Friday prior to each Council meeting.  A public copy of the 
complete agenda is also available for review in the City Clerk’s Office at City Hall.  Questions regarding the 
agenda should be directed to the City Clerk at 642-2006. 

 
 

February  2018 - Calendar of Meetings and Events 
 

02-05-18 City Council Meeting Cancelled 
02-07-18 Planning Commission Meeting (Tentative) 7:00 pm 
02-12-18 City Council Meeting 7:00 pm 
02-19-18 President’s Day City Offices Closed  
02-21-18 Planning Commission Meeting (Tentative)  7:00 pm 
02-26-18 Zoning Board of  Adjustments & Appeals (Tentative) 7:00 pm 
02-28-18 Code Enforcement Board 3:00 pm 

 





 

 
 

OFFICIAL MINUTES 
 

CITY OF GREENACRES 
5800 Melaleuca Lane 

Greenacres, FL  33463 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Monday, December 18, 2017 - 7:00 P.M. 

 
1. Call To Order and Roll Call. 
 

Mayor Flores called the City Council Meeting of Monday, December 18, 2017 to order at 7:00 
p.m.  City Clerk Joanna Cunningham called the roll. 
 
ROLL CALL: 

 
Council Present: Staff Present: 
   Joel Flores, Mayor    Andrea McCue, City Manager 
   Paula Bousquet, Deputy Mayor    James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
   John Tharp, Council Member    Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk/PIO 
   Peter A. Noble, Council Member    Michael Grimm, Director/Building 
   Judith Dugo, Council Member    Jim McInnis, Director/Finance 
   Anderson Thelusme, Council Member    Mark Pure, Fire Chief/Fire Rescue Department 
    Suzanne Skidmore, Director/Human Resources 
Attendees from Public: 39    Michele Thompson, Director/Leisure Services 
Press:  1    Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, Director/Planning & Engineering 
    Carlos Cedeño, Director/Public Works 
    Osniel Leon, Senior Planner/Plng. & Engineering 
    Scott Cirino, Associate Planner/Plng. & Engineering 
    Melody Larson, Assistant to the City Clerk 
    Capt. Tristram Moore/PBSO 

2. Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 
 
Mayor Joel Flores led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
3. Comments From the Public for Agenda Items Only. 
 

Mayor Flores asked if there were comments from the public.  Noting the number of 
attendees, he asked those present to limit their comments to three minutes to give 
everyone a chance to be heard.  
 
Sam Ferreri, former mayor of Greenacres, addressed Agenda Item K (Ordinance 2017-
33) and Item L (Ordinance 2017-34), proposals to change the future land use to 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 2 

Commercial Neighborhood (CN) and Commercial (CM) zoning. He explained that 
historically, in 1986, the City worked hard to down-zone properties along South Jog Road 
from commercial to residential to avoid turning it into another South Military Trail.  The 
development approvals, other than those at the major intersections of Forest Hill 
Boulevard, 10th Avenue North and Lake Worth Road have been for office, professional, 
child care, assisted living, etc.; uses that do not affect the adjacent residential properties.  
The City worked very hard to minimize the commercial impact on residents like that of a 
grocery store which is better suited for a major intersection.  Chickasaw Road is a private 
easement owned by the Lake Worth Drainage District.  He urged the Mayor and Council 
to look at what happened historically and hoped they would vote “no”.  The proposed use 
will negatively affect residents and their property values. 
 
Gerald Bowe 6504 Cindi Lane, reported he was an original owner who was deployed at 
sea when he received a notice from his builder giving him and his wife a chance to back 
out of the sale of their home because the builder could not get approval from the City or 
the County to build the road (Chickasaw Road) since it was owned by the Lake Worth 
Drainage District (LWDD).  Six months later, he received another notice from the builder 
stating that the City and County were granted access of the road but that LWDD 
maintained ownership because of the canal.  The builder then paved the road and later 
added on another six feet and the City began maintaining the road.  He asked if Chickasaw 
Road is a “private” road, how can the City grant approval for a road that is not theirs?  The 
road does not meet City or County road widths and there’s no barrier along the canal.  He 
asked if permits had been pulled yet?  Who is going to maintain the road?  The County 
wants owners to pay and grant them an easement.  Five cars exiting Aldi’s will cause 
major traffic problems.   
 
Property owner Lisa Saxon of 3409 Wry Road, reported on residents’ outrage when they 
learned about the proposed Aldi’s with an entrance/exit onto Chickasaw Road.  She said  
this project will create more traffic and create increased child safety concerns. 
 
Steve Katz of 6561 Cindi Lane, reported that during the Planning Commission meeting, a 
board member who lives in Village of Woodlakes agreed with the residents over traffic 
concerns that would be created by the proposed Aldi’s.  Chickasaw Road is an illegal road 
since it is not wide enough nor does it have a guardrail.  In 2013, Mr. Katz spoke with the 
former City Manager who approached the Board of County Commissioners about 
improving the road.  It was determined at that time that it would cost residents an estimated 
$700,000.  Residents received a similar response from the City.  No one wants to pay for 
road improvements, but are quick to accept revenue money for the Aldi’s.  The notice from 
the County is charging $20,000 per household over 20 years and will cost $1.4 million to 
build.    The City and the County were aware that 60 feet of road would require 
improvement.  Chickasaw Road is one of the only roads with four U-turns in both 
directions.  Accidents have been avoided because residents are extra cautious when 
exiting. 
 
Patricia Collado of 3469 Chickasaw Circle is a 40-year resident.  She stated if it were not 
for neighbors filling potholes, there would be no Chickasaw Road.  The proposed project 
does not provide any outlet heading west on Chickasaw Road.  She questioned signage 
for drivers exiting Aldi’s traveling west through their neighborhood only to realize there’s 
no exit.  She agreed with the safety concerns mentioned. 
 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 3 

Peter Horn of 6567 Cindi Lane, noted that no one takes responsibility for Chickasaw Road, 
so how can the City grant approvals.  He questioned how the traffic study was conducted. 
There is already a dangerous intersection with two (2) U-turns on both sides with six lanes 
of traffic.  He asked, “Why not only provide one entrance/exit off of South Jog Road?” He 
believed the issue was due to safety.  He asked if moving it 60 feet down the road will 
make it safer.   
 
Michelle Imbimbo of 3499 Chickasaw Circle explained that Chickasaw Road is a school 
bus pickup/drop-off point for children.  This project will cause more traffic and serious 
safety issues.  It is horrendous to get onto South Jog Road.   
 
Linda Warren of 3524 Harwich Court, explained that at Chickasaw Road and South Jog 
Road is a school bus pickup/drop-off point for Okeeheelee Middle School.  She proposed 
installing a traffic light.   
 
Carol Eubank of, 3560 Harwich Court, a 31 year resident, agreed with her neighbors.  We 
don’t need another grocery store at that location.  Publix is approximately 1.5 miles to the 
west, Walmart is 1/10 of a mile away, there is another Publix in River Bridge Plaza on 
South Jog Road and Forest Hill Boulevard, and a Save-A-Lot on the corner of Lake Worth 
Road and South Jog Road that has gone out of business.   
 
Seeing no one else come forward, Mayor Flores closed the floor for public comments and 
continued with the Agenda. 

 
4. Agenda Approval. 
  

A. Additions, deletions, or substitutions to the Agenda. 
B. Motion to approve and adopt entire agenda as set. 

 
Mayor Flores inquired if there were any additions, deletions or substitutions to the 
Agenda.   
 
Council Member Noble requested moving Agenda Items 7.J, 7.K and 7.L to A.1, A.2 and 
A.3 of the Agenda.   
 
Council Member Dugo believed that A.1 should be moved. 
 
Mayor Flores called for a motion. 

 

 Discussion on the Motion: 
 
 Council Member Dugo believed that 7.A (Ordinance No. 2017-31) should 
 remain and be heard first.  Deputy Mayor Bousquet agreed. 

MOTION: Council Member Noble made a motion to move Agenda Items 
7.J, 7.K and 7.L to 7.A, 7.B and 7.C of the Agenda.  Council 
Member Dugo seconded the motion. 

 

AMENDED 
MOTION: 

Council Member Dugo moved to keep 7.A in place, moving 
Agenda Items 7.J, 7.K and 7.L to 7.B, 7.C and 7.D.  Council 
Member Thelusme seconded the motion as amended. 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 4 

 
VOTE ON  
THE AMENDED 
MOTION: 

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member Tharp, 
Council Member Dugo, and Council Member Thelusme. 
Opposed:  Council Member Noble.   
 

 Motion carried: 4 - 1. 
 
5. Special Business.  
 

A. Presentation: Florida League of Cities Certificate of Completion to Mayor Joel 
Flores- Paula Bousquet, Deputy Mayor. 

 
Deputy Mayor Bousquet was pleased to present Mayor Flores with a Certificate of 
Completion by the John Scott Daley Florida Institute of Government and the 
Florida League of Cities for completing 18 hours of instruction at the Institute for 
Elected Municipal Officials in Jacksonville Florida on October 13-15, 2017.  He 
thanked former mayor Sam Ferreri for his encouragement and believed in the 
democratic process.  Photos were taken. 

 
B. Presentation: Honoring Estelle Friedman for over twenty years of volunteer 

service to the City– Joel Flores, Mayor. 
 

Mayor Flores presented long-time volunteer Estelle Friedman with a Certificate of 
Appreciation and a token of the City’s appreciation for her 24 years of community 
service.   
 
Ms. Friedman thanked the Mayor and Council and spoke of the importance of 
giving back to the community.  The most meaningful gift she ever received was a 
post-it note that said, “You made a difference”.  She urged everyone to give back. 

 
6. Consent Agenda. 
 

A. Mayor Flores asked Council if they wished to pull the Consent Agenda item hearing 
none, he called for a motion. 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION: 

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council 
Member Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council 
Member Dugo, and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
 

7. Regular Agenda: 
   

A. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-31: Second Reading; Amending 
Chapter 11, Streets, Sidewalks, and Other Public Places, in order to modify and 

 

MOTION: Council Member Tharp made a motion to approve the 
Consent Agenda item.  Council Member Noble 
seconded the motion.   
 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 5 

clarify the regulations that govern the use of the City’s streets, swales, rights-of-
way, and public places and to provide for regulations governing the collocation of 
small wireless facilities or micro wireless facilities on existing utility poles or the 
installation of new utility poles to support the collocation of small wireless facilities 
or micro wireless facilities in City-owned rights-of-way and amending the 
definitions to be consistent with Section 337.401, Florida Statutes; providing for 
repeal of conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; providing for inclusion 
in Code; and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo – Kara Irwin 
Ferris, Planning & Engineering Director. 

 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-31 into the record on 
second reading. 
 
Planning and Engineering Director Kara L. Ferris reported that there were this is 
and no changes from first reading.  She stated that a copy of this Ordinance was 
sent to the Secretary of State on November 17, 2017, as well as to Holland & 
Knight on December 7, 2017.  Comments were received back from Holland & 
Knight on December 18, 2017.  The moratorium expires on December 19, 2017; 
therefore, staff recommends approval of Ordinance 2017-31.  She noted that code 
amendments and policies can be made in the future. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments. 
 
Council Member Noble emphasized the importance of passing this Ordinance as 
presented and suggested that staff can meet later with Verizon and present 
changes to Council at a future public hearing. 
 
Director Ferris reminded the Mayor and Council that regulations must be adopted 
by January 2018. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments; hearing none, he opened 
the meeting to the public.  He asked if anyone was in favor of Ordinance No. 2017-
31 to come forward. 
 
Scott Gustafson of 1396 Country Club Drive, Tequesta, Florida on behalf of 
Verizon, requested amendment and reported that City Attorney James Stokes had 
been in contact with attorneys for Verizon and T-Mobile.   
 
Mayor Flores asked if anyone was opposed to Ordinance No. 2017-31 to come 
forward.  Seeing no one come forward, he closed the meeting to the public and 
called for a motion. 

MOTION: Deputy Mayor Bousquet made a motion to approve 
Ordinance No. 2017-31 on second reading.  Council Member 
Dugo seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 6 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
 
B. Ordinance No. 2017-32: First Reading; Annexing three (3) parcels of land totaling 

approximately 2.14 acres, located at the northwest corner of Chickasaw Road and 
South Jog Road, as requested by the petitioner, Dunay, Miskel and Backman, LLP, 
agent for the owners, Morris W. Sperber Trust, Roslyn L. Emerson and Craig B. 
Morris; providing for redefining the boundary lines of the City of Greenacres to 
include the subject property in the City’s Official Boundary Map; providing for 
repeal of conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; and providing for an 
effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report.  -Kara Ferris, Planning & 
Engineering Director.  

 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-32 into the record on 
first reading. 

 
Senior Planner Osniel Leon described the voluntary annexation request for three 
parcels of land located on the northwest corner of South Jog Road and Chickasaw 
Road.  The subject parcels are contiguous to City property on the north, south and 
east, they are located within the City’s Future Annexation Area and are within an 
existing enclave.  The proposal meets the six (6) annexation criteria and the 
Planning Commission recommended approval; therefore, staff recommends 
approval of ANX-17-03 through the adoption of Ordinance 2017-32. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments. 
 
Council and staff discussed that by approving the annexation it does not mean 
Council is approving the petition for rezoning; the issue is not the proposed use (a 
grocery store), the issue is Chickasaw Road; local gas tax monies could be used 
to improve the road; what is the City’s and County’s position on the road and who 
owns the road. 
 
Director Ferris explained that the City approached the County to partner with them 
to build the road and the City would agree to maintain it.  The County agreed to 
review the issue.  In October 2016, the County notified the City that they would be 
moving forward with the matter and one year later sent notices to residents asking 
them to pay for the improvements.  The cost was assessed based on acreage.  
The County continues refusing to take ownership of the road and it does not show 
on any County road maps. Notwithstanding, during the site plan review, the County 
requested right-of-way dedications, a corner clip and corner road improvements 
for the Aldi’s.  It is possible the road was originally an access easement for the 
homes during construction.  The plats had legal access to get to South Jog Road 
using Chickasaw Road, but the road was never built.  She could not definitively 
confirm who owns the road, however, there are many unincorporated pockets that 
were developed on easements with direct access to a major roadway or 
thoroughfare.  As long as you have an easement you can develop.  One resident 
questioned how does the applicant have the right to access Chickasaw Road; it is 
because two sites are being purchased that have direct legal access to Chickasaw 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 7 

Road. 
 
Mayor Flores asked for clarification on the County notice sent to residents about 
the Chickasaw Road improvements. 
 
Director Ferris explained that the County sent a letter to residents who have access 
onto Chickasaw Road.  The cost is based on acreage and the improvements would 
be implemented as a voluntary taxing district (MSTU).  Residents must respond by 
January 18, 2018. The County was five (5) “no” votes short of reaching 50% to tax 
residents.  There has been no further update. 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
 

A. Ordinance No. 2017-33: First Reading; Amending the Future Land Use Map of the 
Future Land Use Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, to change the Future 
Land Use Designation of four parcels of land totaling approximately 3.201 acres, 
located at the northwest corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road, from a 
Palm Beach County Designation of Low Residential 3 units per acre (RL-3) in part 
and from City Mixed Use (MU) to a City of Greenacres Designation of Commercial 
(CM) located on the west side of South Jog Road and north of Chickasaw Road as 
requested by the petitioner, Dunay, Miskel and Backman, LLP, agent for the owners, 
Morris W. Sperber Trust, Roslyn L. Emerson, Craig B. Morris and Shahveer 
Dhatigara; providing for repeal of conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; 
providing for transmittal to the Division of Community Development; providing for 
inclusion in the Comprehensive Plan; and providing for an effective date; pursuant 
to Staff Memo and Staff Report. - Kara Ferris, Planning & Engineering Director. 

 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-33 into the record on 
first reading. 
 
Senior Planner Osniel Leon described the small-scale future land use amendment 
to replace the County future land use designation of RL-3 in part and a City MU 
designation with a City designation of CM.  Uses include retail, professional 
businesses, personal services and restaurants.  Map 5 of the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan identifies the subject site as a secondary activity sphere which consists of less 
intensive commercial.  Senior Planner Leon stated the proposal is compatible with 
surrounding land uses, it is consistent with the goals, objectives and policies of the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan, the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council’s 
Strategic Regional Planning Policy (SRPP) and Florida Statutes.  Therefore, staff 
recommends approval of Ordinance No. 2017-33.   
 
Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments.  

MOTION: Council Member Dugo made a motion to approve Ordinance 
No. 2017-32 on first reading.  Council Member Tharp 
seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 8 

 
 
Deputy Mayor Bousquet asked how does this project impact the City’s ability to 
control development along South Jog Road so as to avoid another South Military 
Trail.  She asked if it was possible to eliminate the Chickasaw Road exit from the 
project. 
 
Director Ferris explained that Council has complete legislative control over any land 
use designations.  Staff looked at density and intensity and concurrency issues.  
When comparing the Commercial (CM) and Commercial Neighborhood (CN) 
zoning designations, the density/intensity is less than in a Mixed Use Development-
Office (MXD-O) district.  This proposal reduces the impact on adjacent residential.  
As for eliminating the exit onto Chickasaw Road, Director Ferris explained that the 
applicant was granted concurrency approval by the County including the exit, to 
help distribute traffic circulation.  The site will have access with a turn-lane from 
South Jog Road.  
 
Council Member Noble asked Director Ferris to explain the definition of a corner 
clip.   
 
Director Ferris explained that the County took a 20-foot right-of-way for future 
improvements like turn lanes.  
 
Council Member Thelusme asked if installing a traffic light had been considered.   
 
Director Ferris reported that initial discussions with Aldi’s included providing a traffic 
light; however, the County did not feel a traffic signal was warranted. 
 
Council Member Dugo agreed that a signal may not be warranted now, but when 
the store is built, a signal would be warranted.  With the school bus stops and the 
County rejecting a signal, residents would still need to use Chickasaw Road to exit 
Aldi’s. 
 
Director Ferris reported that a traffic study was conducted for the project using 
existing data.  Some drivers will turn right and head south, others will make a U-
turn and head north onto South Jog Road.   
 
Council Member Tharp asked if drivers can exit Chickasaw Road and head north 
onto South Jog Road.   
 
Director Ferris replied, “Yes”. 
 
Council Member Thelusme noted that Aldi’s conducted their own traffic study. 
 
Director Ferris explained that Aldi’s hired a traffic engineer to conduct a traffic study. 
That study was submitted and reviewed by the County who ensured the study 
meets Traffic Performance Standards (TPS) and granted concurrency.  The study 
was also reviewed by the City’s traffic engineer.   
 
Senior Planner Leon emphasized that the traffic study takes into consideration the  
highest use (maximum development potential) of the site not just for a grocery store.  



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 9 

This includes all uses under Commercial (CM) and Commercial Neighborhood (CN) 
zoning districts.  
 
Council Member Tharp asked with respect to the annexation passing on first 
reading, what becomes of the land use and zoning designations if Council decides 
to vote against them?    
 
Director Ferris explained if City land use and zoning is not assigned, the property 
will keep County designations until a determination is made. 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Noble, Council Member Dugo, and Council Member 
Thelusme.   
Opposed:  Council Member Tharp 
 

 Motion carried: 4 - 1. 
 

A. Ordinance No. 2017-34:First Reading; Approving the application for a zoning 
change for four (4) parcels of land totaling approximately 3.201 acres, located at the 
northwest corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road, from a Palm Beach 
County Zoning Designation of Agricultural (AR) in part and City Mixed Use 
Development Office Zoning (MXD-O) to a City of Greenacres Zoning Designation of 
Commercial Neighborhood (CN), as requested by the petitioner, Dunay, Miskel and 
Backman, LLP, agent for the owners, Morris W. Sperber Trust, Roslyn L. Emerson, 
Craig B. Morris and Shahveer Dhatigara; providing for repeal of conflicting 
ordinances; providing for severability; and providing for an effective date; pursuant 
to Staff Memo and Staff Report.- Kara Ferris, Planning & Engineering Director. 

 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-34 into the record on 
first reading. 
 
Senior Planner Leon described the request to rezone four parcels of land totaling 
3.2 acres located on the northwest corner of Chickasaw and South Jog Road.  An 
annexation, land use amendment and site plan petitions are being processed 
concurrently with this request for rezoning.  The proposed zoning is for an Aldi’s 
Grocery Store.   
 
The 1.09-acre parcel to the north was annexed into the City in 2010.  The proposed 
zoning designation of Commercial Neighborhood (CN) is consistent with the 
proposed Commercial (CM) future land use designation.  The proposal meets the 
goals, objectives and policies of the City’s Comprehensive Plan and the CN zoning 
designation is consistent with the surrounding land use pattern.  The proposal 
meets the ten (10) zoning change criteria as supermarkets are allowed by right in a 
CN zoning district. The Planning Commission recommended approval of ZC-13-04; 
therefore, staff recommends approval of Ordinance No. 2017-34. 
 

MOTION: Council Member Dugo made a motion to approve Ordinance 
No. 2017-33 on first reading.  Council Member Noble 
seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 10 

Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments. 
 
The Mayor and Council discussed if the Aldi’s does not receive development 
approval the road will remain the same; using the local gas tax funds of $1.9 million 
to improve the road; Aldi’s should pay for the road and right-of-way improvements; 
look at alternative sites for an Aldi’s and vote against this project; road 
improvements to be made to portions adjacent to the site; dedicating a clip to the 
County, improve the road and provide a barrier between the canal and right-of-way; 
road issue needs to be resolved before second reading of ordinance; the County 
notice asking residents to pay for the road improvements; it being insane for the 
County to assess residents for a road who are already paying taxes; renegotiate 
with Aldi’s regarding Chickasaw Road. 
 
Mayor Flores called on the applicant for comment.   
 
Attorney Dwayne Dickerson, of Dunay, Miskel & Backman, LLP, pointed out that 
many of the public comments made relate to the site plan which is scheduled for 
public hearing next month.  Aldi’s has agreed to make substantial improvements on 
South Jog Road and Chickasaw Road.  They met with the Lake Worth Drainage 
District (LWDD) and have agreed to install a guardrail the length of the property 
along the canal on Chickasaw Road.  Additionally, Aldi’s has agreed to repave 
areas where customers will access the site from Chickasaw Road to South Jog 
Road and agreed to install a dedicated right-turn lane from South Jog Road into the 
site, although it was not required.  The City’s traffic engineer reviewed the traffic 
study and the County’s traffic engineer reviewed/approved it.   
 
Mayor Flores called for a motion 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Noble, Council Member Dugo, and Council Member 
Thelusme.   
Opposed:  Council Member Tharp. 
 

 Motion carried: 4 - 1. 
 

E. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-35: Second Reading;  Amending 
Chapter 5 of the City of Greenacres Code entitled, “Fire Prevention and 
Protection,” Section 5-2 to update the name of the Department; Section 5-3 to 
adopt the Florida Fire Prevention Code 6th Edition, together with the local 
amendments thereto as conformed to the City’s operational standards; Sections 
5-6 and 5-10 to update the name of the Department; providing for repeal of 
conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; providing for inclusion in Code; 
and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo. – Mark Pure, Fire 
Chief. 
 

MOTION: Council Member Dugo made a motion to approve Ordinance 
No. 2017-34 on first reading.  Council Thelusme seconded 
the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 11 

City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-35 into the record on 
second reading. 
 
Mayor Flores called for a recess.  The meeting reconvened at 8:30 pm. 
 
Fire Chief Mark Pure reported on the adoption by the State Fire Marshal of the 
Florida Fire Prevention Code, 6th Edition to become effective statewide 
commencing on January 1, 2018.  Pursuant to state statutes, local governments 
are required to re-adopt their local amendments following the adoption of the state 
edition, therefore, staff recommends approval of Ordinance No. 2017-35. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments; hearing none, he opened 
the meeting to the public.  He asked if anyone was in favor of, or opposed to, 
Ordinance No. 2017-35 to come forward.  Seeing no one come forward, he closed 
the meeting to the public and called for a motion.  

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
 

F. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-36: Second Reading; Providing for a 
temporary ban on medical marijuana dispensaries which extends the moratorium 
previously adopted by the City Council; providing for further extensions if 
necessary; providing for geographic boundaries of applicability; providing 
provisions for early termination; providing for conflicts; providing for severability; 
and providing an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo. – Andrea McCue, City 
Manager and James Stokes City Attorney.  
 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-36 into the record on 
second reading. 
 
City Manager Andrea McCue reported there were no changes from first reading 
and explained that this extension was needed in order to coordinate a Council 
workshop scheduled for January 16, 2018.  At that workshop, PBSO will provide a 
presentation on medical marijuana and Council will discuss the successes and 
challenges of having a medical cannabis dispensary in the City. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments; hearing none, he opened 
the meeting to the public.  He asked if anyone was in favor of, or opposed to, 
Ordinance No. 2017-36 to come forward.  Seeing no one come forward, he closed 
the meeting to the public and called for a motion.  

MOTION: Council Member Noble made a motion to approve Ordinance 
No. 2017-35 on second reading.  Deputy Mayor Bousquet 
seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 12 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
  

G. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-37: Second Reading; Amending 
Chapter 7 “Health, Sanitation and Nuisances” Article II “Property Maintenance” 
Section 7-27 “Nuisances Declared”, to declare the collection of textiles for recycling 
purposes from stationary vehicles to be a nuisance and to allow for the placement 
of unattended drop-off bins through a franchise agreement with the City; providing 
for repeal of conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; providing for 
inclusion in Code; and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo – 
Michael Grimm, Building Director.  

 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-37 into the record on 
second reading. 
 
Building Director Michael Grimm reported there were no changes to this Ordinance 
from first reading; therefore, staff recommends approval of Ordinance No. 2017-
37.    
 
Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments; hearing none, he opened 
the meeting to the public.  He asked if anyone was in favor of, or opposed to, 
Ordinance No. 2017-37 to come forward.  Seeing no one come forward, he closed 
the meeting to the public and called for a motion.  

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
 
H. Ordinance No. 2017-20: First Reading; Annexing one parcel of land totaling 

approximately 5.4249 acres, located approximately 500 feet south of the 
southwest corner of Lake Worth Road and South Military Trail at 4215 South 
Military Trail, 4101 South Military Trail, and the adjacent  Lake Worth Drainage 
District Drainage Right-of-Way, as requested by the Planning and Engineering 
Department in accordance with Chapter 171.0413 of the Florida Statutes; 
providing for redefining the boundary lines of the City of Greenacres to include the 

MOTION: Council Member Noble made a motion to approve Ordinance 
No. 2017-36 on second reading.  Deputy Mayor Bousquet 
seconded the motion. 

 

MOTION: Council Member Tharp made a motion to approve Ordinance 
No. 2017-37 on second reading.  Council Member Noble 
seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 13 

subject property in the City’s Official Boundary Map; providing for repeal of 
conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; and providing for an effective 
date; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report. – Kara Ferris, Planning & 
Engineering Director. 
 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-20 into the record on 
first reading. 
 
Planning & Engineering Director Kara L. Ferris reported that the proposal began 
as a voluntary annexation of the PBC Tax Collector site; however, the City looked 
at including adjacent parcels to reduce an existing unicorporated pocket area.  
Parcel One is the FPL substation built in 1980, Parcel Two is a Lake Worth 
Drainage District (LWDD) drainage right-of-way, and Parcel Three is the PBC Tax 
Collector site.  The proposal meets the six (6) requirements for involuntary 
annexation and the parcels are contiguous to the existing City boundary; therefore, 
staff recommends approval of ANX-17-01 through the adoption of Ordinance No. 
2017-20. 
 
Mayor Flores disclosed attending a meeting with Anne Gannon, PBC Tax Collector 
and staff, City Manager McCue and Planning & Engineering Director Ferris where 
they expressed their interest in annexing into the City. 
 
Council comments included the City not receiving revenue from the PBC Tax 
Collector or LWDD but would from FPL; the PBC Tax Collector site not having 
sufficient parking; the proposal meeting levels of service requirements; and what 
happens to County building permits.  

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
 
I. Ordinance No. 2017 27: First Reading; Amending the future land use map of the 

Future Land Use Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, to change the Future 
Land Use Designation of one parcel of land totaling approximately 5.4249 acres, 
located approximately 500 feet south of the southwest corner of Lake Worth Road 
and South Military Trail at 4215 South Military Trail, 4101 South Military Trail, and 
the adjacent  Lake Worth Drainage District Drainage Right-of-Way, from a Palm 
Beach County Designation of Urban Infill (PBC UI) to a City of Greenacres 
designation of Commercial (CM) and Public Institutional (PI), as requested by the 
Planning and Engineering Department; providing for repeal of conflicting 
ordinances; providing for severability; providing for transmittal to the Division of 
Community Development; providing for inclusion in the Comprehensive Plan; and 
providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report.– Kara 
Ferris, Planning & Engineering Director. 

MOTION: Council Member Dugo made a motion to approve Ordinance 
No. 2017-20 on first reading.  Council Member Thelusme 
seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 14 

 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-27 into the record on 
first reading. 
 
Director Ferris described the small-scale future land amendment to assign a City 
future land use designation of CM to the FPL site and a future land use designation 
of PI for the PBC Tax Collector site.  The proposal is compatible with surrounding 
properties to the north, south, east, and west, it meets concurrency and is 
consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan, the Treasure Coast Regional 
Planning Council’s Strategic Regional Policy Plan (SRPP) and Florida Statutes; 
therefore, staff recommends approval of CPA-17-02 through the adoption of 
Ordinance No. 2017-27. 
 
Mayor Flores called for a motion. 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried:  5 – 0. 
 

J. Ordinance No. 2017-28: First Reading; Approving the application for a zoning 
change for one parcel of land totaling approximately 5.4249 acres, located 
approximately 500 feet south of the southwest corner of Lake Worth Road and 
South Military Trail at 4215 South Military Trail, 4101 South Military Trail, and the 
adjacent  Lake Worth Drainage District Drainage Right-of-Way, from a Palm Beach 
County Zoning Designation of Urban Infill (PBC UI) to a City of Greenacres Zoning 
Designation of Commercial Intensive (CI) and Government Use (GU), as 
requested by the Planning and Engineering Department; providing for changes to 
the Official Zoning Map; providing for repeal of conflicting ordinances; providing for 
severability; and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff 
Report. – Kara Ferris, Planning & Engineering Director.  

 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-28 into the record on 
first reading. 
 
Director Ferris described the request to rezone one parcel of land from a County 
UI zoning designation to a City CI designation for the FPL site and a GU 
designation to the PBC Tax Collector and the LWDD drainage right-of-way.  The 
proposal meets the ten (10) zoning change criteria; therefore, staff recommends 
approval of ZC-17-02 through the adoption of Ordinance No 2017-28. 
 
Mayor Flores called for comments; hearing none, he called for a motion. 

MOTION: Council Member Noble made a motion to approve Ordinance 
No. 2017-27 on first reading.  Council Member Tharp 
seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 15 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
  
K. Ordinance No. 2017-29: First Reading; Amending the Future Land Use Map of the 

Future Land Use Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, to change the Future 
Land Use Designation of one parcel of land totaling approximately 0.16 acres, 
located on the south side of Lake Worth Road approximately 515 feet west of South 
Military Trail at 4644 Lake Worth Road, from a Palm Beach County Designation of 
Urban Infill (PBC UI) to a City of Greenacres designation of Commercial (CM), as 
requested by the Planning and Engineering Department; providing for repeal of 
conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; providing for transmittal to the 
Division of Community Development; providing for inclusion in the Comprehensive 
Plan; and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report.-
Kara Ferris, Planning & Engineering Director. 
 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-29 into the record on 
first reading. 
 
Director Ferris described the small-scale future land use amendment for the Dunkin 
Donuts located at 4644 Lake Worth Road.  The parcel was annexed into the City 
through an interlocal annexation agreement with the County.  This proposal is to 
assign a City land use designation of CM.  The subject site is an outparcel of the 
Office Depot Plaza.  The proposed land use designation of CM is consistent with 
the adjacent parcels; it is consistent with the goals, objectives and policies of the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan, the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council’s 
Strategic Regional Policy Plan (SRPP) and Florida Statutes; therefore, staff 
recommends approval of CPA-17-01 through the adoption of Ordinance No. 2017-
29. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments; hearing none, he called 
for a motion. 

MOTION: Council Member Dugo made a motion to approve Ordinance 
No. 2017-28 on first reading.  Council Member Thelusme 
seconded the motion. 

 

MOTION: Council Member Noble made a motion to approve Ordinance 
No. 2017-29 on first reading.  Deputy Mayor Bousquet 
seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 16 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
  
L. Ordinance No. 2017-30: First Reading; Approving the application for a Zoning 

Change for one parcel of land totaling approximately 0.16 acres, located on the 
south side of Lake Worth Road approximately 515 feet west of South Military Trail 
at 4644 Lake Worth Road, from a Palm Beach County Zoning Designation of 
Urban Infill (PBC UI) to a City of Greenacres Zoning Designation of Commercial 
Intensive (CI), as requested by the Planning and Engineering Department; 
providing for changes to the Official Zoning Map; providing for repeal of conflicting 
ordinances; providing for severability; and providing for an effective date; pursuant 
to Staff Memo.- Kara Ferris, Planning & Engineering Director.  
 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-30 into the record on 
first reading. 
 
Director Ferris described the proposed zoning request to change the zoning 
designation of the Dunkin Donuts from a County UI designation to a City 
designation of CI.  The proposal is compatible with surrounding properties and 
meets the ten (10) zoning change criteria; therefore, staff recommends approval 
of ZC-17-01 through the adoption of Ordinance No. 2017-30. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments; hearing none, he called 
for a motion. 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
 
M. Ordinance No. 2017-39: First Reading; Amending Chapter 4, entitled Buildings 

and Building Regulations, of the City of Greenacres Code, to include the Florida 
Building Code 6th Edition, together with all amendments thereto, as recommended 
by the Building Code Advisory Board of Palm Beach County, Florida and as 
conformed to the City’s Operational Standards; providing for repeal of conflicting 
ordinances; providing for severability; providing for an effective date; pursuant to 
Staff Memo. – Michael Grimm, Building Director.  

 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-39 into the record on 
first reading. 
 
Building Official Michael Grimm gave a brief history of the various building codes in 

MOTION: Deputy Mayor Bousquet made a motion to approve 
Ordinance No. 2017-30 on first reading.  Council Member 
Tharp seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 17 

Florida and the State Legislature’s creation of the Florida Building Code to provide 
uniformity state-wide.  Every three years, a new edition is issued and administrative 
amendments to Chapter One are reviewed by the PBC Building Advisory Board,  
who proposes additional changes to meet local standards.  The County 
recommendations are then adopted by each municipality; therefore, staff 
recommends approval of Ordinance No. 2017-39. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments; hearing none, he called 
for a motion. 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
 

N. Resolution No. 2017-51:  Approving an Agreement between the City of 
Greenacres and Palm Beach County Tax Collector for services related to the 
collection of Non-Ad Valorem Assessments, authorizing the appropriate city officials 
to execute the Agreement, and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff 
memo. – James McInnis, Finance Director. 

 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Resolution No. 2017-51 into the record on 
first reading. 
 
Finance Director Jim McInnis reported that the purpose of this Resolution is to 
continue with the solid waste collection assessment process which is to enter into 
agreements with the PBC Property Appraiser’s Office and the PBC Tax Collector to 
cover administrative fees for services.  Resolution No. 2017-51 is the agreement 
with the PBC Tax Collector to place the assessment on the 2018 tax bill. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments; hearing none, he called 
for a motion. 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
 
O. Resolution No. 2017-52: Approving an Agreement between the City of Greenacres 

MOTION: Council Member Dugo made a motion to approve Ordinance 
No. 2017-39 on first reading.  Deputy Mayor Bousquet 
seconded the motion. 

 

MOTION: Council Member Tharp made a motion to approve 
Resolution No. 2017-51 as presented by staff.  Deputy 
Mayor Bousquet seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 18 

and Palm Beach County Property Appraiser for services related to the collection of 
Non-Ad Valorem Assessments, and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff 
Memo. – James McInnis, Finance Director. 
 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Resolution No. 2017-52 into the record on 
first reading. 
 
Finance Director Jim McInnis reported that the purpose of this Resolution is to enter 
into an agreement with the PBC Property Appraiser’s Office to place the solid waste 
collection assessment on the 2018 tax bill; therefore, staff recommends approval of 
Resolution No. 2017-52. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments. 
 
Council Member Noble questioned the cost of $13,500 and asked where were the 
savings. 
 
Director McInnis explained that the $13,500 represented 1% of the amount billed.  
The savings will come in the form of greatly improving collection rates of unpaid 
balances and will reduce City administrative costs.  

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
 
P. Resolution No. 2017-53: Authorizing the execution of the Fiscal Year 2017-2018 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Agreement for Phase 4 of the 
Stormwater Drainage Enhancement in the Original Section; and providing for an 
effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo.- Kara Ferris, Planning & Engineering 
Director. 

   
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham, read Resolution No. 2017-53 into the record. 

 
Director Ferris reported that this is the grant agreement for Phase 4 of the 
Stormwater Drainage Enhancement Project currently being done at the southeast 
quadrant of the Original Section.  This phase consists of improving drainage by 
modifying the swales and alleyways.  The City is looking to improving outfalls along 
Biscayne Drive.  The City has been notified that $148,771 has been granted and 
the total cost of the project is $242,000.  Staff recommends approval of Resolution 
No. 2017-53. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council Members for comments; hearing none, he called 
for a motion. 

MOTION: Deputy Mayor Bousquet made a motion to approve 
Resolution No. 2017-52 as presented by staff.  Council 
Member Thelusme seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 19 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
 
Q. Board Appointments:  Appoint one member to the Alternate 1 position on the 

Planning and Zoning Commission from the two applications received, and appoint 
one member to the Zoning Board of Adjustments and Appeals; pursuant to Staff 
Memo. – Joel Flores, Mayor.  

 
Mayor Flores presented Council his recommendation to appoint Valerie Neilson to 
the Planning Commission and Terry Snively to the Zoning Board of Adjustments 
and Appeals and called for a motion.   

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Bousquet, Council Member 
Tharp, Council Member Noble, Council Member Dugo, 
and Council Member Thelusme.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
 
8. Comments from the Public.  None. 
  
9. Discussion Items:   
  

A. Legal Fee Discussion –Paula Bousquet, Deputy Mayor  
 

Deputy Mayor Bousquet commented that upon comparing the fully burdened 
salary of an in-house City Attorney to the cost of hiring an outside counsel and 
speaking with other municipalities who use outside counsel, she directed the City 
Manager and the Finance Director to review further.  She distributed a cost 
comparison to the Mayor and Council for consideration. 
 
Mayor Flores asked what would be the benefits for the City to make such a move. 
 
Deputy Mayor Bousquet reported a $20,000-$30,000 annual savings and 
explained that firms can offer specialty services . 
 
Council Member Dugo pointed out that the City is also paying for a Special 
Magistrate. 

MOTION: Council Member Tharp made a motion to approve 
Resolution No. 2017-53 as presented by staff.  Deputy 
Mayor Bousquet seconded the motion. 

 

MOTION: Council Member Noble made a motion to approve the board 
appointments as recommended.  Deputy Mayor Bousquet 
seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 20 

 
Deputy Mayor Bousquet explained that under Personnel Services, she backed out 
special expenses in 2015, 2016, and 2017.  She noted that it totals $96,000.   
 
Council Member Dugo recalled Council discussing the hiring outside counsel in 
the past. 
 
Council Member Noble noted that in his 20-years serving as a Councilmember, the 
City has had in-house counsel and cautioned that when dealing with a legal firm 
you are paying a clock.   
 
Deputy Mayor Bousquet believed the City Manager should conduct a cost analysis.  
She noted that the pension negotiations were not included and she removed the 
extra payout for the former City Attorney and additional monies paid to Attorney 
Stokes for the PBSO contract. 
 
Mayor Flores called for a consensus on the City Manager conducting a cost 
comparison. 
 

 Deputy Mayor Bousquet: Yes. 
 Council Member Tharp: Yes. 
 Council Member Noble: Not necessary. 
 Council Member Dugo: Yes. 
 Council Member Thelusme: Agreed, not a bad idea. 
 

Consensus:  Mayor Flores directed the City Manager to conduct a cost 
comparison. 

 
B. Property Acquisition Discussion – James Stokes, City Attorney.  

 
City Attorney James Stokes reported that based on Council’s request to research 
the legality of purchasing the Roedel property, the determining factor would be if 
Council finds the purchase to serve a public purpose.  A super majority vote would 
be required if the cost exceeds $500,000; however, that is not the case therefore, 
it would only require a simple majority vote and the willingness of the Roedel’s to 
sell. 
 
Council and staff commented on what kind of legal precedent would the sale 
create; it would be an administrative action; Council may want to look at the impact 
on other property owners abutting City parks; offer the Roedel’s a price and enter 
into negotiations; the City offered to purchase the property years before but the 
Roedel’s were not interested; the City should offer a fair price and if the Roedel’s 
are not willing to sell, then they should stop complaining; the intent is to remove a 
constant nuisance that will continue until resolved; the Roedel’s have not shown 
an interest in selling and the property is not currently on the market so it is 
meaningless if they are not willing to sell; if the City should consider purchasing 
the property at a fair market value, not at $300,000; in the Roedel’s mind it will be 
difficult to bring them down to a fair market value and the City is not in the business 
of using  taxpayer’s money to purchase homes. 
 
Mayor Flores recommended that Council direct the City Manager to pursue a 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 21 

purchase and called for a consensus on Council’s interest in buying the Roedel 
property at fair market value. 
 
Deputy Mayor Bousquet:  Against the purchase unless the Leisure Services 
Department has a use for the property 
Council Member Tharp: He would be in favor of the purchase only if the Roedel’s 
list the property for sale. 
 
Council Member Noble:  In favor, the City will continue with the same problem for 
many years to come. 
 
Council Member Dugo:  Against, the City has the courts and parking lot and the 
Roedel’s refused fair market value before. 
 

 Council Member Thelusme: Against, the Roedel’s have no interest in selling. 
 
Consensus:  The City is not looking to purchase the Roedel property at this 
time. 
 

C. Textile Bin Options and Locations – Andrea McCue, City Manager and James 
Stokes, City Attorney. 

 
City Manager Andrea McCue reported that based upon Council discussion on 
Ordinance 2017-37 related to textile recycling bins and locations, she provided the 
Mayor and Council with information previously provided by Florida Textile 
Recycling during their presentation which included a rendering of the private and 
public locations throughout the City.  This information was provided to assist 
Council in future discussions moving forward.   

 
D. Legislative Priorities Review – Andrea McCue, City Manager. 

 
City Manager McCue provided the Mayor and Council with 16 pages of proposed 
legislation seeking Council feedback.   
 
Mayor Flores announced his future attendance at Palm Beach County Days in 
Tallahassee. With the passing of recent legislation that had a direct impact on 
municipalities he believed this was a great first step in working with the League of 
Cities and municipalities.  His hope was to put Greenacres in the minds of our state 
legislators. 

 
E. Ordinance Presentation Procedure – Judy Dugo, Council Member  

 
Council Member Dugo suggested that in an effort to expedite meetings, ordinances 
and resolutions should read into the record on first reading only.   
 
City Attorney Stokes clarified that staff performs full presentations on first and 
second reading of all ordinances. Florida Statutes requires the reading of first and 
second reading; however, generally, staff does not need to provide a full 
presentation for both public hearings, only at first reading.  He suggested having 
further discussion on incorporating quasi-judicial matters and meeting procedural 
changes as well. 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 22 

  
Mayor Flores called for a consensus on having the City Attorney and City Clerk 
research and present information on meeting procedures. 

 
 Deputy Mayor Bousquet:  Yes. 
 Council Member Tharp: Yes. 
 Council Member Noble: Passed. 
 Council Member Dugo: Yes. 
 Council Member Thelusme: Yes. 

 
10. Staff Comments: 

 
A. City Manager’s Report. 

 
 Lunch with Santa – She thanked staff for the great events since the last 

meeting 
 

 Passport Acceptance Program – The application has been submitted and the 
City is awaiting a response from the Deartment of State. 
 

 Medical Marijuana Moratorium – A Council Workshop is scheduled for 
January 16, 2018. 
 

 Legislative Session App – This is a one-stop shop that includes the 2018 Action 
Agenda, bill summaries, a directory of state legislators, policy committee 
information, advocacy resources and more.  

 
 News Rack Placement Policy – The County has a policy that regulates 

newspaper racks.  She will forward the  information to the Mayor and Council. 
 
 Fire Rescue Toy Collection for the Children’s Hospital at Palms West – Toys 

will be collected through December 20th and delivered to the hospital on 
December 24th. 

 
 2018 Municipal Election - Candidate qualifying goes through December 19th at 

noon for Council Seats II, III and IV.  
 
 Holiday Schedule - City Offices will be closed December 25-26, 2017 for the 

holiday.   
 

B.  City Attorney’s Report.  None. 
 
11. Mayor and City Council Reports. 
 

District I – Council Member Tharp wished everyone Happy Holidays and Happy Hanukkah 
and thanked PBSO for their holiday party. 

 
District II – Council Member Noble commended Mark Eastman of the Lake Worth Herald 
for his wonderful photo of the horse and carriage with Santa.  He was hopeful that between 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 23 

now and making a final decision on Aldi’s, the City will research the cost to pave 
Chickasaw Road.  He emphasized that the City has $1.9 million of local gas tax monies 
that are earmarked specifically for road construction.  As part of the deal, he recommended 
annexing nearby residents in unincorporated Palm Beach County. 
 

 Mayor Flores asked if preliminary costs for the road were available. 
  

City Manager McCue reported that the estimate received for resurfacing Wry Road and 
Chickasaw Circle was $60,000. As for Chickasaw Road, more research would be required.  
Public Works Director Carlos Cedeno will be contacting the Lake Worth Drainage District 
to gather more information and she will be meeting with the Planning and Engineering 
Director and representatives from Aldi’s to work out a solution. 
 
District III – Council Member Dugo had nothing new to report. 
 
District IV – Council Member Thelusme thanked the Mayor, Council and staff for their 
support the seven months he has served on the Council and wished everyone Happy 
Holidays.  He reported on attending a productive meeting with the sports director of Palm 
Beach County, the City Manager and Leisure Services staff where they discussed how to 
better promote Greenacres and attract more sporting events.  The County is looking for 
multi-purpose fields and the City is looking into future accommodations.  A club in Boca 
Raton has shown an interest in using unused land at Freedom Park. 
 
District V – Deputy Mayor Bousquet thanked the Mayor, City Manager, Department 
Directors, Fire Rescue and PBSO for holding fabulous events.  The feedback she has 
received from residents has been very positive.   
 
Mayor – Mayor Flores announced his upcoming participation in a Puerto Rican tradition 
of Christmas caroling at Community Park, Wednesday, Dec. 20th between from 6:00 pm-
9:00 pm and invited everyone to attend.   
 
Mayor Flores wanted to discuss shopping carts, specifically on South Jog Road in 
unincorporated Palm Beach County and suggested meeting with shopping plaza owners.   

 
City Manager McCue noted that Council had previously discussed meeting with plaza 
owners as part of the economic development vision and marketing of the City.  The focus 
was to get plaza owners engaged in the City’s plans to improve aesthetics.  She reported 
that meetings could begin as soon as February.  Public Works staff have been actively 
removing carts across from the Post Office.  Trying to contact the responsible parties to 
get them removed can be costly and timely.  She urged Council to contact Public Works 
if they see any carts.  She explained that the confusion lies with residents not realizing the 
City’s boundaries. 
  
Mayor Flores stressed the desire to have a healthy discussion on shopping carts since he 
did not agree with City staff removing the carts when it should be the responsibility of the 
store owners.  –He asked that this topic be added to a future agenda for discussion. 
 
Mayor Flores heard tonight from many residents regarding the proposed Aldi’s.  He 
reported receiving emails and Facebook messages from residents in support of the project 
from an economic standpoint as it would provide added revenue and job opportunities.  



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      December 18, 2017 

Page 24 

He urged that road improvements need to be considered.  Aldi’s will provide affordable 
food prices and economic growth to the City. 
 
Council Member Noble thanked City Manager McCue for immediately pursuing his idea 
of approaching Aldi’s and upon being contacted, Aldi’s agreed to come into the City.  He 
reiterated the need to resolve the Chickasaw Road issue. 

 
12. Adjournment.  
 

Deputy Mayor Bousquet moved to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Council Member 
Thelusme.  The meeting adjourned at 10:06 p.m. 

 
 
CITY COUNCIL    Respectfully submitted, 
    
 
_____________________________  ________________________________ 
Joel Flores     Joanna Cunningham, MMC 
Mayor      City Clerk  

 
Date Approved: __________________ 
 

/mel   
 
Attachment    



 
 

John Tharp 
Councilman  District I 

Peter A. Noble 
Councilman  District II 

Judith Dugo 
Councilwoman  District III 

Anderson Thelusme 
Councilman  District IV 

Paula Bousquet 
Councilwoman  District V 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA, PROCLAIMING 
“SCHOOL CHOICE WEEK” FOR JANUARY 21-27, 2018 

 
WHEREAS, all children in Greenacres should have access to the highest-quality education 

possible; and 

 WHEREAS, Greenacres recognizes the important role that an effective education plays in 
preparing all students in Greenacres to be successful adults; and 

 WHEREAS, quality education is critically important to the economic vitality of Greenacres; and 

 WHEREAS, Greenacres is home to a variety of high quality public and non-public schools from 
which parents can choose for their children, in addition to families who educate their children in the 
home; and  

WHEREAS, educational variety not only helps to diversify our economy, but also enhances 
the vibrancy of our community; and  

WHEREAS, Greenacres has many high-quality teaching professionals in all types of school 
settings who are committed to educating our children; and  

WHEREAS, “School Choice Week” is celebrated across the country by millions of students, 
parents, educators, schools and organizations to raise awareness of the need for effective educational 
options; and  

 NOW, THEREFORE, I, Joel Flores, Mayor of the City of Greenacres, proclaim the week of 
January 21-27, 2018 as “School Choice Week” in Greenacres and call this observance to the attention 
of all of our citizens.  
 

       
               
                         
               
         
 
               
 
              Attest: 
  
         

Given under my Hand and Seal of the City of 
Greenacres, Florida this 22nd day of January, 
2018. 
 
 
Joel Flores, Mayor 
 
Attest: 

 
Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk  







RESOLUTION NO. 2018-01 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AUTHORIZING THE SUBMITTAL OF AN 
APPLICATION TO THE PALM BEACH COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF 
ECONOMIC SUSTAINABILITY FOR COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
BLOCK GRANT FUNDING FOR FY 2018-2019, FOR PHASE 5 OF THE 
STORMWATER DRAINAGE ENHANCEMENT PROJECT IN THE 
ORIGINAL SECTION; AND AUTHORIZING THE APPROPRIATE CITY 
OFFICIALS TO EXECUTE ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS. 
 

 
WHEREAS,  the City Council entered into an Interlocal Agreement with Palm Beach 

County on June 5, 2017, for the Community Development Block Grant program to qualify 

for appropriations in Federal Fiscal Years 2018, 2019, and 2020; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council has identified the Original Section of the City as a 

target area eligible for authorized Community Development Block Grant activities; and 

 WHEREAS, it was determined there is a need for Phase 5 of the Stormwater 

Drainage Enhancement Project in the Original Section of the City of Greenacres; entailing 

the construction of a stormwater conveyance system north of and flowing into the First 

Street collection system between the Lake Worth Drainage District E-3 Canal and the 

Haverhill Road constructed in Phase 1 thru 4 and restoration of pavement, driveways, and 

sidewalks disturbed by the construction; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that this project has priority and is 

consistent with all relevant sections of the City’s adopted Comprehensive Plan. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

 Section 1.  The City Council grants authorization for the submittal of the 

application to the Palm Beach County Department of Economic Sustainability for FY 2018-



Resolution No. 2018-01 
CDBG 18-19 Stormwater Drainage Enhancement Phase 5 

Page 2 
 
  

2019 Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding for the Phase 5 of the 

Stormwater Drainage Enhancement Project in the Original Section of the City of 

Greenacres. 

 Section 2. The City authorizes the appropriate City officials to execute and submit 

all documents for the 2018-2019 Community Development Block Grant Application. 



Resolution No. 2018-01 
CDBG 18-19 Stormwater Drainage Enhancement Phase 5 

Page 3 
 
  

 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED this 22nd of January, 2018. 

            Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores       Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    John Tharp 
City Clerk      Council Member, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Council Member, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Council Member, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Anderson Thelusme 
       Council Member, District IV 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 

 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-02 

 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE  CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES FLORIDA, OPPOSING LEGISLATIVE EFFORTS TO 
IMPEDE THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT FLORIDA’S CITIZENS HAVE 
ENJOYED FOR NEARLY 50 YEARS TO GOVERN THEMSELVES 
UNDER MUNICIPAL HOME RULE POWERS; OPPOSING THE 
LEGISLATURE’S PERSISTENT INTRUSION INTO LOCAL FINANCES, 
WHICH ARE NECESSARY TO PROVIDE FINANCIAL STABILITY AND 
ESSENTIAL SERVICES UNIQUELY REQUIRED BY MUNICIPAL 
RESIDENTS AND LOCAL BUSINESSES; DIRECTING CITY 
ADMINISTRATION TO TRANSMIT A CERTIFIED COPY OF THIS 
RESOLUTION TO THE FLORIDA LEAGUE OF CITIES, THE PALM 
BEACH COUNTY LEGISLATIVE DELEGATION AND ANY OTHER 
INTERESTED PARTIES; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING 
FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 WHEREAS, it is the expressed will of the voters of Florida to have the right to 
govern themselves under municipal Home Rule powers; and 

 WHEREAS, Floridians have possessed this constitutional right of local self-
government for nearly 50 years; and 

 WHEREAS, as the only form of voluntary government, Florida’s municipalities are 
the embodiment of the Florida Constitution’s right of local self-government; and 

 WHEREAS, municipal Home Rule powers include all governmental, corporate and 
proprietary powers necessary to conduct municipal government, perform municipal 
functions and render municipal services for the unique benefit of the people who live and 
work within a municipality; and 

 WHEREAS, Floridians exercise their Home Rule powers by voting to incorporate 
and be governed under a municipal form of government for a variety of reasons, including 
increased services, a unique business and residential environment, and greater voice in 
how their government is run; and 

 WHEREAS, municipal citizens further exercise their Home Rule powers by voting 
on a charter that specifies the desired form, functions and powers of their municipal 
government; and 

WHEREAS, Floridians’ constitutional right to govern themselves locally under 
municipal Home Rule powers and pursuant to their adopted municipal charters, is being 
increasingly eroded and limited by actions of the Florida Legislature; and 

 WHEREAS, these actions of the Florida Legislature take power away from Florida 
citizens to ensure their chosen municipal government provides their desired level of 



Resolution No. 2018-02                                                                                                                Page 2 
 

services, offers their desired quality of life and otherwise meets their needs in a timely 
and effective manner; and 

 WHEREAS, municipalities are authorized by the Florida Constitution and by 
general law to levy ad valorem and other forms of local taxation, and are further 
authorized by general law and their Home Rule powers to impose special assessments 
and fees; and 

 WHEREAS, municipal residents and local businesses pay local taxes, 
assessments and fees for the specific purpose of obtaining and enhancing their desired 
level of municipal services and amenities; and 

 WHEREAS, intrusion from the Florida Legislature into municipal finances prohibits 
elected municipal leaders from meeting the expectations of their residents and local 
businesses that local revenues will be used as intended; and 

WHEREAS, the Florida League of Cities has included the protection of local self-
government under municipal Home Rule powers as one of its 2018 Legislative Priorities. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

Section 1. The above “WHEREAS” clauses are hereby ratified and confirmed 
as being true and correct and are incorporated herein by this reference.   

Section 2. The City Council of the City of Greenacres urges all members of the 
Florida Legislature to oppose legislation that limits Floridians’ constitutional right to govern 
themselves under municipal Home Rule Powers. 

Section 3. The City Council of the City of Greenacres urges all members of the 
Florida Legislature to oppose legislation that would interfere with or intrude into municipal 
finances.  

Section 4. City administration is directed to transmit a certified copy of this 
Resolution to the Florida League of Cities, the Palm Beach County Legislative Delegation 
and any other interested parties. 

Section 5. All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith, be and 
the same are repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

Section 6. If any section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Resolution is held 
to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding 
shall in no way affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Resolution. 

Section 7. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage 
and adoption. 

  



Resolution No. 2018-02                                                                                                                Page 3 
 

 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED this 22nd day of January, 2018 

Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores       Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    John Tharp 
City Clerk      Council Member, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Council Member, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Council Member, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Anderson Thelusme 
       Council Member, District IV 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 

 
 

 



 

 
Contact: David Cruz, Assistant General Counsel – 850-701-3676 – dcruz@flcities.com 
 

 

Local Self-Government 
 
Priority Statement: 
The Florida League of Cities seeks to strengthen and protect the fundamental concept of local self-
government, and will OPPOSE legislative efforts to impede the constitutional right Floridians have 
enjoyed for nearly 50 years to govern themselves under municipal Home Rule powers. Additionally, 
the Florida League of Cities OPPOSES the Legislature’s persistent intrusion into local finances, which 
are necessary to provide financial stability and essential services uniquely required by municipal 
residents and local businesses. 
 
Background: 
In Florida, local self-government is not a gift of the state Legislature…it is the expressed will of the 
people. It was added to the Florida Constitution nearly 50 years ago by a statewide vote of the 
electorate. Floridians voted to empower themselves with the right of local self-government, or Home 
Rule. As the only form of voluntary government, Florida's municipalities are the embodiment of this 
right.  
 
A city is created by its citizens for a variety of reasons, including increased services, a desirable business 
or residential environment, and more voice in how their government is run. Florida law specifies the 
standards for the formation of a municipality. The multi-step process is not an easy one, and it should 
not be. The process takes commitment, tenacity and hard work of residents who volunteer their time 
for the cause. Local citizens take the first step by having a feasibility study to determine if the 
community should incorporate, and they develop a charter that specifies the form, functions and 
power of their proposed city government. These steps can take a year or more to complete.  
 
Next, the proposal is presented to the Legislature for a review of whether it meets statutory 
requirements for incorporation. Following a successful review, the proposed charter is adopted by a 
special act of the Legislature. The final step must be taken by local citizens: approval of the 
incorporation and charter by voters in a local referendum.  
 
Home Rule authorizes the governmental, corporate and proprietary powers necessary to conduct 
municipal government, perform municipal functions, and render municipal services. At its core, Home 
Rule is demonstrated by the level of services provided within a municipality and, to a much lesser 
extent, by exercises of regulatory power.  
 
Citizens in cities expect various municipal services: water, sewer, garbage collection, storm water 
systems, roads, sidewalks, fire protection, law enforcement, parks and recreation. Citizens also expect 
municipal officials to exercise regulatory powers when necessary to protect public health, safety and 
community standards specific to the municipality in which they choose to live. These expectations 
cannot be met if municipal officials do not have the authority to respond to local needs and 
preferences, or to address them in a timely manner.   



Contact: David Cruz, Deputy General Counsel – 850-701-3676 – dcruz@flcities.com 
 

 
Municipalities are authorized by the Florida Constitution to levy ad valorem taxes, and are further 
authorized by statute to levy other forms of local taxation.  In addition, municipalities are authorized 
under their constitutional Home Rule powers to impose special assessments and fees for municipal 
services.  Municipal citizens pay local taxes, assessments and fees for the specific purpose of obtaining 
and enhancing municipal services and amenities.  Citizens expect their elected city leaders to use these 
local revenue proceeds for local municipal purposes, and not for state purposes (that should be paid 
for with state taxes).   
 
Home Rule is why no two cities are alike.  City residents take pride in this diversity. Strong Home Rule 
powers ensure that government stays close to the people it serves. Intrusion on Home Rule from the 
state or federal government undermines the constitutional right of citizens to govern themselves.  
Intrusion from the state or federal government into local finances prohibits elected city leaders from 
meeting the expectations of their citizens that local revenues will be used as intended by the citizens. 
 
Status:  
CS/HB 17 (Fine) and SB 1158 (Passidomo), introduced in the 2017 legislative session, would have 
effectively preempted to the state the authority of municipal governments to impose local 
requirements on businesses, professions, commerce and trade.  While the bills differed in approach, 
their ultimate effect was the same.  In short, the right of local citizens to govern themselves through 
the exercise of municipal Home Rule powers would have been severely restricted.  The bills 
eviscerated principles of local self-government by transferring local decision-making to the state 
Legislature.  CS/HB 17 passed the House Careers & Competition Subcommittee but ultimately died 
in the House Commerce Committee.  SB 1158 died in the Senate Commerce and Tourism Committee.   
 
In addition to CS/HB 17 and SB 1158, numerous proposals to restrict local self-government were 
introduced in the 2017 legislative session.  Examples of 2017 proposals include, but are not limited 
to, the following issues: Building and Land Use; Small-Cell Wireless; Community Redevelopment 
Agencies; Vacation Rentals; Municipal Elections, Medical Marijuana; Concealed Weapons and 
Firearms; Firefighter Cancer Disability Presumption; Local Business Taxes; Fiscal Transparency; Ad 
Valorem Taxes; Stormwater and Wastewater Management; Traffic Infraction Detectors; and Drones.  
These proposals involved either preemptions of municipal powers or intrusion into municipal 
finances, and sometimes both. 
 
The League anticipates that legislative efforts to divest citizens of their powers of local self-
government and transfer control over local decisions to the state Legislature will continue in the 2018 
legislative session. 
 
 
Revised: 11/27/2017 

 



CITY OF GREENACRES 
Council Agenda Memo 

2018.01NK2.01 
 
 
TO: Mayor and City Council 
 
THROUGH: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM:  James McInnis, Director of Finance 
 
SUBJECT: Resolution 2018-03 Release of Liens for Solid Waste Collection 
 
DATE: January 22, 2018 
 
COPIES: James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
 Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Section 15-30, City of Greenacres Code, provides for the imposition of liens upon 
residential properties for the non-payment of City solid waste bills. Section 15-32, City of 
Greenacres Code, provides for release of the liens when accounts are paid in full. 
 
ANALYSIS: 
 
One Hundred Six (106) liens on 59 solid waste accounts totaling $22,107.78 have been 
paid in full. The attached resolution 2018-03 releases the 106 liens on 59 accounts. 
 
FINANCIAL: 
 
Liens amounting to $22,107.78 have been paid in full and are proposed for release. 
 
LEGAL: 
 
The resolution has been prepared in accordance with applicable City regulations. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approval of Resolution 2018-03. 
 
       __________________________ 
       James McInnis 
       Director of Finance 
Attachments: 
 

1. Resolution 2018-03 
2. Exhibit A 



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-03 

 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, SATISFYING CERTAIN LIENS IMPOSED 
AGAINST RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY, PURSUANT TO SECTION 15-32, 
CITY OF GREENACRES CODE. 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Greenacres, Florida, adopted Resolutions contained 

in the list, attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, imposing liens upon certain residential properties 

for the owners’ failure to pay for the collection and disposal of garbage, recyclable materials 

and vegetative waste as required by Section 15-26, City of Greenacres Code; and 

WHEREAS, the owners of the residential properties contained in Exhibit “A”, have 

brought their accounts current for the payment of the debts and charges for the collection 

and disposal of garbage, recyclable materials and vegetative waste, plus applicable interest 

and administrative fees. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

Section 1.  Under the terms of Section 15-32, City of Greenacres Code, residential 

properties contained in the list supplied by the Finance Department of Greenacres, Florida, 

attached to this Resolution as Exhibit “A”, have satisfied their imposed liens as recorded with 

the Clerk of the Circuit Court in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, in Official Records Book. 

 Section 2. This Resolution shall be recorded in the Public Records of Palm Beach 

County, Florida, and shall have the effect of releasing said liens against those residential 

properties contained in the list attached hereto as Exhibit “A” only. 

 

 



Resolution 2018-03  Page 2 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED this 22nd day of January 2018. 

                   Voted  

 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor    
    
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    John Tharp 
City Clerk      Council Member, District I 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 
      Council Member, District II 

        
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Council Member, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Anderson Thelusme 
       Council Member, District IV 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 

 
 



City of Greenaces Solid Waste Collections RELEASE OF LIENS Through December 2017

Acct # Name Address City St Zip PCN Lien # Amount Release Res #
01410-001 Ncl Financial Services 606 Maplewood Dr  Greenacres FL 33415 18-42-44-10-05-006-0010 2017-40 221.23$          2018-13
01820-001 Bayview Loan Servicing Llc,  5551 S 37th St  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-03-007-0040 2017-40 221.23$          2018-13
01959-001 Perez, Ana 5601 S 35th Ct  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-06-011-0090 2008-29 127.32$            2018-13
01959-001 Perez, Ana 5601 S 35th Ct  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-06-011-0090 2014-05 887.08$            2018-13
01959-001 Perez, Ana 5601 S 35th Ct  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-06-011-0090 2015-04 271.28$            2018-13
01959-001 Perez, Ana 5601 S 35th Ct  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-06-090-0090 2016-11 334.93$            2018-13
01959-001 Perez, Ana 5601 S 35th Ct  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-06-011-0090 2017-14 378.53$            2018-13
02005-001 Bank Of New York Mellon Tr,  5991 S 38th Ct  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-07-000-0160 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13
02386-001 Federal National Mortgage Assn 5812 S 38th St  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-08-004-0122 2017-40 221.74$          2018-13
02409-001 Federal Natl Mrtg Assn 3805 S 57th Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-08-201-0201 2016-39 157.57$            2018-13
02409-001 Federal Natl Mrtg Assn 3805 S 57th Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-08-004-0201 2017-40 182.18$          2018-13
02419-001 Onewest Bank Fsb,  6175 Elsinore Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-22-31-010-0010 2016-39 157.56$            2018-13
02419-001 Onewest Bank Fsb,  6175 Elsinore Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-22-31-000-0010 2017-40 182.18$          2018-13
02495-001 Campo, Jorge 6107 Newstead Ct  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-22-31-770-0770 2016-11 159.37$            2018-13
02495-001 Campo, Jorge 6107 Newstead Ct  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-22-31-770-0770 2017-14 178.47$            2018-13
02579-001 Federal National Mortgage Assn 6169 Olivewood Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-22-12-040-0040 2016-39 157.57$            2018-13
02579-001 Federal National Mortgage Assn 6169 Olivewood Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-22-12-001-0040 2017-40 182.19$          2018-13
02795-001 Greenstein , Peter  R 3496 Chickasaw Cir  Greenacres FL 33467 18-42-44-22-13-010-0010 2017-40 160.57$          2018-13
02842-001 Aguirre, Enrique 4594 Gladiator Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-18-001-0112 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13
02893-001 Marvin, Patricia 4575 Gladiator Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-18-003-0024 2014-05 97.59$              2018-13
02893-001 Marvin, Patricia 4575 Gladiator Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-18-003-0024 2015-46 176.83$            2018-13
02893-001 Marvin, Patricia 4575 Gladiator Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-18-003-0024 2017-14 270.88$            2018-13
03031-001 A Lopez Investments, Inc. 4730 Chariot Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-18-006-0162 2017-40 221.23$          2018-13
03052-001 Ramirez, Ruben 4793 Chariot Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-18-006-0262 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13

03058-001 Gamarra, Miguel & Jackeline 4792 Chariot Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-18-007-0021 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13
03067-001 Poonai, Adesh 4721 Chariot Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-18-007-0081 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13
03089-001 Amsaran Rohine 4178 Caesar Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-19-001-0170 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13
03190-001 Andrade/Zuluaga, Jenny/Hector 4607 Centurian Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-19-003-0072 2013-36 96.54$              2018-13
03190-001 Andrade/Zuluaga, Jenny/Hector 4607 Centurian Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-19-003-0072 2014-29 166.76$            2018-13
03190-001 Zuluaga/Andrade, H 4607 Centurian Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-19-003-0072 2015-46 194.71$            2018-13
03190-001 Zuluaga/Andrade, Hector/Jenny 4607 Centurian Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-19-003-0072 2017-14 306.68$            2018-13
03320-001 Medrano, Jose & Maria 430 Jackson Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-01-004-0090 2010-35 92.02$              2018-13
03320-001 Medrano, Jose & Maria 430 Jackson Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-01-004-0090 2011-39 158.35$            2018-13
03320-001 Medrano, Jose & Maria 430 Jackson Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-01-004-0090 2012-25 181.92$            2018-13
03320-001 Medrano, Jose & Maria 430 Jackson Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-01-004-0090 2013-36 207.19$            2018-13
03320-001 Medrano, Jose & Maria 430 Jackson Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-01-090-0090 2016-11 177.40$            2018-13
03320-001 Medrano, Jose & Maria 430 Jackson Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-01-004-0090 2017-14 268.45$            2018-13
03779-001 Federal National Mortgage Association 529 Jennings Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-01-044-0240 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13

January 2018 Page 1 of 3 Release of Liens

Exhibit A



City of Greenaces Solid Waste Collections RELEASE OF LIENS Through December 2017

Acct # Name Address City St Zip PCN Lien # Amount Release Res #
03822-001 19650 Black Llc 204 Fleming Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-01-047-0020 2017-40 217.05$          2018-13

04106-001 Rodriguez, William 600 F-2 CROSSWINDS DR  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-15-19-002-0062 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13
04289-001 Vann, David & Jan 453 Martin Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-01-033-0210 2017-40 215.46$          2018-13
04444-001 Bisignano, Gary 903 Timberlane Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-27-21-000-0093 2017-40 221.23$          2018-13
04806-001 Harrison, Maureen 103 Woodlake Circle  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-22-49-000-0280 2015-46 282.91$            2018-13
04806-001 Harrison, Maureen & Chester 109 Woodlake Cir  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-22-49-000-0280 2017-14 250.44$            2018-13
04900-001 Federal National Mortgage Assn 227 Maplewood Ln  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-22-49-000-1250 2017-40 221.22$          2018-13
05315-001 Suarez, Giovanni & Giovanna 256 Malibu Circle  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-10-21-000-0090 2008-29 127.32$            2018-13
05315-001 Suarez, Giovanni & Giovanna 256 Malibu Circle  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-10-21-000-0090 2011-07 351.42$            2018-13
05315-001 Suarez, Giovanni & Giovanna 256 Malibu Circle  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-10-21-000-0090 2012-05 207.55$            2018-13
05315-001 Suarez, Giovanni & Giovanna 256 Malibu Circle  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-10-21-000-0090 2014-05 458.77$            2018-13
05315-001 Suarez, Giovanni & 256 Malibu Circle  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-10-21-000-0090 2015-46 226.45$            2018-13
05546-001 Dahl , Alfred 6725 Eagle Ridge Dr  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-43-27-05-021-0141 2017-40 220.49$          2018-13
05578-001 Federal National Mortgage Assn 3614 Harwich Ct  Greenacres FL 33467 18-42-44-22-37-000-0180 2017-40 221.22$          2018-13
05735-001 Federal National Mrtg Assn 2244 Soundings Ct  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-15-42-350-0350 2016-11 156.93$            2018-13
05735-001 Federal National Mrtg Assn 2244 Soundings Ct  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-15-42-000-0350 2017-14 178.10$            2018-13
05940-001 Freedom Mortgage Corp 1458 Fairway Cir  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-10-26-000-0170 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13
06158-001 Rogers, James & Mildred 1780 Sawgrass Cir  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-10-27-000-0100 2017-40 221.22$          2018-13
06181-001 Federal National Mortgage Assn 1743 Sawgrass Cir  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-10-27-000-1080 2017-40 221.23$          2018-13
06306-001 Majestic Usa Investment,  1279 Olympic Cir  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-10-28-000-0250 2017-40 161.48$          2018-13
07016-001 Wiscordia Llc,  6578 Spring Meadow Dr  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-03-08-000-0360 2017-40 221.24$          2018-13
07177-001 Sampalocia, Lourizza 6547 Spring Meadow Dr  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-03-09-000-0620 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13
07236-001 Florida Kalanit 770 Llc 5112 Crescent Moon Dr  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-35-14-000-4630 2017-40 222.51$          2018-13
07372-001 S&S South Florida Properties Llc 5036 Solar Point Dr  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-35-12-000-0730 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13
07391-001 Federal National Mortgage Assn 5008 Northern Lights Dr  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-35-14-000-4610 2017-40 221.23$          2018-13
07408-001 Ihs Property Florida Lp 5501 Wishing Star Ln  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-35-16-000-1450 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13
08065-001 Dussek, Pronel & Anelie 5503 Baja Ter  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-35-19-000-4020 2017-40 222.51$          2018-13
08230-001 Jusma, Josue & Monique 5318 Island Gypsy Dr  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-35-17-040-1040 2016-39 157.57$            2018-13
08230-001 Jusma, Josue & Monique 5318 Island Gypsy Dr  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-35-17-000-1040 2017-40 182.18$          2018-13
08524-001 Esteve, Jesula 901 Seminole Palms Dr  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-27-30-000-1070 2010-35 138.79$            2018-13
08524-001 Esteve, Jesula 901 Seminole Palms Dr  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-27-30-000-1070 2011-39 164.25$            2018-13
08524-001 Esteve, Jesula 901 Seminole Palms Dr  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-27-30-000-1070 2013-36 347.48$            2018-13
08524-001 Esteve, Jesula 901 Seminole Palms Dr  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-27-30-000-1070 2014-29 236.92$            2018-13
08524-001 Esteve, Jesula 901 Seminole Palms Dr  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-27-30-000-1070 2015-46 280.81$            2018-13
08524-001 Esteve, Jesula 901 Seminole Palms Dr  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-27-30-000-1070 2017-14 445.08$            2018-13
08560-001 Paul, Immaculene, Sadirat & 2602 Seminole Palms Dr  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-27-30-000-0660 2017-40 221.23$          2018-13
08615-001 Heraut, Elange 117 Two Pine Dr  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-15-48-000-0270 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13
08630-001 Lherisson, Eben R 134 Two Pine Dr  Greenacres FL 33413 18-42-44-15-48-000-0170 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13

January 2018 Page 2 of 3 Release of Liens



City of Greenaces Solid Waste Collections RELEASE OF LIENS Through December 2017

Acct # Name Address City St Zip PCN Lien # Amount Release Res #
08775-001 Best Landlord LLC,  5848 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-060-0060 2016-11 214.15$            2018-13
08775-001 Best Landlord Llc 5848 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-060-0060 2017-14 185.95$            2018-13
08777-001 Abotbool, David 5844 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-02-0020 2014-29 98.72$              2018-13
08777-001 Abotbool, David 5844 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-02-0020 2015-46 171.99$            2018-13
08777-001 Abotbool, David 5844 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-02-0020 2017-14 270.12$            2018-13
08781-001 Morris, Jeff 5832 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-003-0020 2015-04 98.84$              2018-13
08781-001 Morris, Jeff 5832 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-020-0020 2016-11 171.07$            2018-13
08781-001 Morris, Jeff 5832 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-003-0020 2017-14 193.54$            2018-13
08782-001 Morris, Jeff 5826 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-003-0050 2015-04 98.84$              2018-13
08782-001 Morris, Jeff 5826 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-050-0050 2016-11 171.07$            2018-13
08782-001 Morris, Jeff 5826 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-003-0050 2017-14 193.54$            2018-13
08783-001 Federal National Mrtg Assn 5824 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-003-0060 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13
08786-001 Morris, Jeffrey 5830 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-003-0030 2015-04 98.84$              2018-13
08786-001 Morris, Jeff 5830 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-030-0030 2016-11 171.07$            2018-13
08786-001 Morris, Jeff 5830 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-003-0030 2017-14 193.54$            2018-13
08787-001 Morris, Jeff 5828 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-003-0040 2015-04 98.84$              2018-13
08787-001 Morris, Jeff 5828 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-040-0040 2016-11 171.07$            2018-13
08787-001 Morris, Jeff 5828 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-003-0040 2017-14 193.54$            2018-13
08788-001 Best Landlord LLC,  5822 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-010-0010 2016-11 214.15$            2018-13
08788-001 Best Landlord Llc 5822 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-010-0010 2017-14 185.95$            2018-13
08789-001 Best Landlord LLC,  5820 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-020-0020 2016-11 214.15$            2018-13
08789-001 Best Landlord Llc 5820 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-020-0020 2017-14 185.95$            2018-13
08793-001 Morris, Jeffrey 5818 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-004-0030 2015-04 98.84$              2018-13
08793-001 Morris, Jeffery 5818 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-030-0030 2016-11 171.07$            2018-13
08793-001 Morris, Jeffery 5818 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-004-0030 2017-14 193.54$            2018-13
08961-001 Citimortgage Inc 461 Jennings Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-01-045-0190 2014-29 602.77$            2018-13
08961-001 Citimortgage Inc 461 Jennings Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-01-045-0190 2015-46 241.55$            2018-13
08961-001 Citimortgage Inc,  461 Jennings Ave  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-23-01-045-0190 2017-14 381.93$            2018-13
08963-001 Pine Grove Hoa 5860 Erik Way  Greenacres FL 33463 18-42-44-25-40-006-0000 2017-40 221.23$          2018-13
08996-001 Taber, John 3358 S Jog Rd  Greenacres FL 33467 18-42-44-22-00-000-1100 2017-40 161.38$          2018-13

 106 Liens on 59 accounts Total Amount 22,107.78$       

January 2018 Page 3 of 3 Release of Liens



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-04 

 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AUTHORIZING THE INTERLOCAL 
AGREEMENT (“AGREEMENT”) BETWEEN THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, PALM BEACH COUNTY, A POLITICAL 
SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA (HEREIN REFERRED 
TO AS THE ("COUNTY"), AND THE CITY OF GREENACRES, A 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA 
(HEREIN REFERRED TO AS THE ("CITY"), EACH ONE 
CONSTITUTING A PUBLIC ENTITY AS DEFINED IN PART I OF 
CHAPTER 163, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO PROVIDE THE STAFFING 
OF EMERGENCY SHELTERS BY EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES 
STAFF AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 
WHEREAS, Section 163.01, Florida Statutes, known as the "Florida lnterlocal 

Cooperation Act of 1969" authorizes local governments to make the most efficient use 
of their powers by enabling them to cooperate with other localities on a basis of mutual 
advantage and thereby to provide services and facilities that will harmonize geographic, 
economic, population and other factors influencing the needs and development of local 
communities; and 

 
WHEREAS, Part I of Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, permits public agencies as 

defined therein to enter into Interlocal agreements with each other to jointly exercise any 
power, privilege, or authority which such agencies share in common and which each 
might exercise separately; and 

 
WHEREAS, the State of Florida is vulnerable to a wide range of disasters that are 

likely to cause the disruption of essential services and the destruction of the 
infrastructure needed to deliver those services. Such disasters are likely to exceed the 
quality of any one local government to cope with the disasters with existing resources; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Emergency Management Act, as amended, gives the local 

government of the State the authority to make agreements for mutual assistance in 
emergencies, and through such agreements to ensure the timely reimbursement of 
costs incurred by the local governments which render such assistance. 

 
WHEREAS, the parties desire to plan for and coordinate activities relating to 

emergency preparedness, response, recovery, and mitigation, including planning for the 
medical needs of persons temporarily located at emergency shelters during a declared 
state of emergency; and 

 
WHEREAS, those municipalities with emergency shelters have agreed to staff 

the public shelter(s) with Emergency Medical Services (EMS) staff, and advanced life 



Resolution No. 2018-04                                                                                           Page 2 
 

 

support (ALS) equipment during an emergency in order to provide for medical needs 
during an emergency, if needed. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises 

contained herein, the County and the City agree as follows: 
 

 
ARTICLE 1 – RECITALS 
 
The above recitals are true, correct and incorporated herein. 
 
 
ARTICLE  2 -  REPRESENTATIVE/MONITORING POSITION 
 
The County's representative/Agreement monitor during the term of this Agreement shall 
be Mary Blakeney, whose telephone number is (561) 712-6549. 
 
The City’s representative/contact monitor during the term of the Agreement shall be 
Division Chief Mark Jakubek, whose telephone number is (561) 642-2178. 
 
 
ARTICLE 3 - DECLARATION OF STATE OF EMERGENCY 
 
This Agreement is activated upon both an official declaration of emergency by the State of 
Florida or by Palm Beach County followed by a request of County to City for medical staffing 
of emergency shelters pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
 
ARTICLE 4 - SHELTER STAFF REQUIREMENTS 
 
Following a County issued declaration of local state of emergency and upon request of 
the County, the City shall staff each emergency shelter located within its municipal 
boundaries with at least one emergency medical technician and one paramedic or two 
paramedics (collectively the "Emergency Medical Services Staff'') during the state of 
emergency. In addition, the City's EMS staff shall be solely responsible for providing 
ALS equipment as reasonably required to support the EMS staff function as long as the 
shelter remains open. 
 
The shelter team at each emergency shelter will establish a clearly designated medical 
treatment area. The EMS Staff shall be in the performance of all work at the shelter, 
employees of the City and under the direction and authority of such officials and 
physicians as customary and required in the day-today provision of ALS services within 
the City’s boundaries and subject to the City's management, supervision, control and 
authority. In no event shall the EMS staff employed by or assigned by the City be 
considered employees, agents, servants or contractors of the County. 
 
 



Resolution No. 2018-04                                                                                           Page 3 
 

 

 
ARTICLE 5 - REIMBURSEMENT OF COSTS 
 
The County shall reimburse the City incurred costs of the EMS staff as mutual aid costs 
to the extent such are eligible costs in accordance to FEMA's Recovery Policy RP 
9523.6 and applicable FEMA guidance. Within thirty (30) days of the declaration of a 
local state of emergency for which assistance was requested, the City shall submit to 
the County representative, documentation substantiating the actual costs incurred to the 
satisfaction of the County's Division of Emergency Managements office, the State Office 
of Emergency Management and/or FEMA as required for the County to apply for and 
process the reimbursement request. As applicable, the City may request the County’s 
approval to submit its own claim for reimbursement. 
 
 
ARTICLE 6 - FILING 
 
A copy of this Agreement will be filed with the Clerk of Circuit Court in and for Palm Beach 
County and with the City's Clerk's Office. 
 
 
ARTICLE 7 - REMEDIES 
  
This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida. Any legal action 
necessary to enforce the Agreement will be held in Palm Beach County. No remedy 
herein conferred upon any party is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, and 
each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other 
remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity, by statute or 
otherwise. No single or partial exercise by any party of any right, power, or remedy 
hereunder shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof. 
 
No provision of this Agreement is intended to, or shall be construed to, create any third 
party beneficiary or to provide any rights to any person or entity not a party to this 
Agreement, including but not limited to any citizen or employees of the County and/or the 
City. 
 
 
ARTICLE 8 - LIABILITY/INDEMNIFICATION 
 
Each party to this Agreement shall be liable for its own actions and negligence. In no 
event shall any provision of this Agreement be construed as a waiver of sovereign 
immunity or a consent to be sued by a third person, by either the City or the County. In 
no event shall this be intended as a waiver, limitation, abrogation, repeal, or 
replacement of any common law and/or statutory exemptions, immunities or protections 
from liability, including but not limited to, those established in Chapter 768, Florida 
Statutes. This section shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement. 
 
 
 



Resolution No. 2018-04                                                                                           Page 4 
 

 

 
 
ARTICLE 9 - ARREARS 
 
The City shall not pledge the County's credit or make it a guarantor of payment or surety 
for any Agreement, debt, obligation, judgment, lien, or any form of indebtedness. The 
City further warrants and represents that it has no obligation or indebtedness that would 
impair its ability to fulfill the terms of this Agreement. 
 
 
ARTICLE 10 - ACCESS AND AUDITS 
 
The County shall have access to such books, records, and documents as required in 
this section for the purpose of inspection or audit during normal business hours, at the 
City’s place of business. Palm Beach County has established the Office of the Inspector 
General in Palm Beach County Code, Section 2-421 - 2-440, as may be amended. The 
Inspector General's authority includes, but is not limited to, the power to review past, 
present and proposed County contracts, transactions, accounts and records, to require 
the production of records, and to audit, investigate, monitor, and inspect the activities of 
the City, its officers, agents, employees, and lobbyists in order to ensure compliance 
with contract requirements and detect corruption and fraud. 
 
Failure to cooperate with the Inspector General or interfering with or impeding any 
investigation shall be in violation of Palm Beach County Code, Section 2-421 - 2-440, 
and punished pursuant to Section 125.69, Florida Statutes, in the same manner as a 
second-degree misdemeanor. 
 
 
ARTICLE 11 – NONDISCRIMINATION 
 
The City warrants and represents that all of its employees are treated equally during 
employment without regard to race, color, religion, disability, sex, age, national origin, 
ancestry, marital status, familial status, sexual orientation, gender identity and 
expression or genetic information. City has submitted to County a copy of its non-
discrimination policy which is consistent with the above, as contained in Resolution R-
2014-1421, as amended, or in the alternative, if the City does not have a written non-
discrimination policy, it has acknowledged through a signed statement provided for 
County affirming their non-discrimination policy conforms to R-2014-1421, as amended. 
 
 
ARTICLE 12 - AUTHORITY TO PRACTICE 
 
The City hereby represents and warrants that it has and will continue to maintain all 
licenses and approvals required to conduct pre-hospital emergency medical services 
while staffing the public shelter. Proof of such licenses and approvals shall be submitted to 
the County's representative upon request. 
 
 



Resolution No. 2018-04                                                                                           Page 5 
 

 

 
 
ARTICLE 13 - SEVERABILITY 
 
If any term or provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person or 
circumstances shall, to any extent, be held invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of 
this Agreement, or the application of such terms or provision, to persons or circumstances 
other than those as to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected, and 
every other term and provision of this Agreement shall be deemed valid and enforceable 
to the extent permitted by law. 
 
 
ARTICLE 14 – NOTICE 
 
All notices required in this Agreement shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, hand delivery or other delivery service requiring signed acceptance. 
 
If sent to the County, notices shall be addressed to: 
 

Bill Johnson, Director  
20 South Military Trail 
West Palm Beach, FL 33415 
 
with copy to: 
 
Palm Beach County Attorney's Office 
301 North Olive Ave. - 6th Floor 
West Palm Beach, Florida 33405 
 

If sent to the City, notices shall be addressed to:  
 

Chief Mark Jakubek 
2995 S Jog Road 
Greenacres, FL 33467 
 
with copy to: 
 
City's Attorney's Office  
James Stokes 
5800 Melaleuca Lane 
Greenacres, FL 33463 



Resolution No. 2018-04                                                                                           Page 6 
 

 

ARTICLE 15 - ENTIRETY OF CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENT 
 
The County and the City agree that this Agreement sets forth the entire Agreement 
between the parties, and that there are no promises or understandings other than those 
stated herein. None of the provisions, terms and conditions contained in this Agreement 
may be added to, modified, superseded or otherwise altered, except by written 
instrument executed by the parties hereto. 
 
 
ARTICLE 16 - TERM AND EXPIRATION 
 
This Agreement will commence following the execution of this Agreement on the 
Effective date and shall continue for a term of five (5) years. The parties may mutually 
agree to renew the Agreement for another term of five (5) years, which must be 
documented in a written amendment executed by both parties. 
 
 
ARTICLE 17 – TERMINATION 
 
This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon sixty (60) days prior written 
notice to the other party. 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Palm Beach County, Florida, by and through its Board of 
County Commissioners and the City of Greenacres, Florida, a municipal corporation, 
have made and executed this Agreement on behalf of the County and the City, on the 
date first above written. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Resolution No. 2018-04                                                                                           Page 7 
 

 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED this 22nd day of January, 2018. 

            Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores       Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    John Tharp 
City Clerk      Council Member, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Council Member, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Council Member, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Anderson Thelusme 
       Council Member, District IV 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 

 
 

 



















 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2017-20 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, ANNEXING THREE PARCELS OF LAND 
TOTALING APPROXIMATELY 5.4249 ACRES, LOCATED 
APPROXIMATELY 500 FEET SOUTH OF THE INTERSECTION OF LAKE 
WORTH ROAD AND SOUTH MILITARY TRAIL AT 4215 SOUTH MILITARY 
TRAIL, 4101 SOUTH MILITARY TRAIL, AND THE ADJACENT  LAKE 
WORTH DRAINAGE DISTRICT DRAINAGE RIGHT-OF-WAY, AS 
REQUESTED BY THE PLANNING AND ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER 171.0413 OF THE FLORIDA STATUTES; 
PROVIDING FOR REDEFINING THE BOUNDARY LINES OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES TO INCLUDE THE SUBJECT PROPERTY IN THE CITY’S 
OFFICIAL BOUNDARY MAP; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING 
ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Greenacres Planning and Engineering Department is herein 

known as the “Petitioner” for the herein described properties; and 

WHEREAS, the petitioner has requested by written petition to have the property 

annexed into the municipal limits of the City of Greenacres; and 

WHEREAS, the subject property hereinafter described is reasonably compact and 

contiguous to the corporate limits of the City of Greenacres, thus making said petition for 

annexation appropriate at this time; and 

WHEREAS, written consent has been received from the owners of more than 50 

percent of the land area and more than 50 percent of the parcels in the proposed annexation 

area; and 

WHEREAS, an Urban Services Report has been prepared in accordance with 

Chapter 171.042 detailing the City’s plans to provide urban services to the proposed 

annexation area and certifying that the area meets the requirements of Chapter 171.043; 

and 

WHEREAS, information has been received from the Office of the Palm Beach County 

Supervisor of Elections that there are no registered electors residing within the proposed 



Ordinance 2017-20 
South Military Trail 

Annexation 
Page 2 

 
annexation area; and 

WHEREAS, as provided in Chapter 171.0413(6), the City Council of the City of 

Greenacres does not desire to hold a referendum pursuant to Chapter 171.0413(2); and 

WHEREAS, based on the above the City of Greenacres is authorized to annex the 

subject lands in accordance with Chapter 171.0413(5) and (6) of the Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Greenacres Planning Commission has held a duly advertised 

public hearing on December 6, 2017 and recommended approval of petition ANX-17-01 to 

annex the subject property into the City of Greenacres; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Greenacres City Council has held duly advertised public 

hearings on December 18, 2017 and January 22, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Greenacres further finds that, in 

accordance with the Land Development Staff Report and Recommendation dated 

December 1, 2017, attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and by this reference made a part hereof, 

the proposed annexation of the subject property is in the best interest of the citizens of the 

City of Greenacres, and is in accordance with State and local law. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The City Council finds that consent has been received from the owners 

of the majority of the land area and parcels within the area to be annexed, that all other 

statutory requirements have been met, and that the area is hereby annexed into the City of 

Greenacres, Florida. 

Section 2. The boundary lines of Greenacres, Florida, are hereby redefined to 

include the described real property lying in Palm Beach County into the City’s Boundary 

Map: 



Ordinance 2017-20 
South Military Trail 

Annexation 
Page 3 

 
Legal Description 

PCN: 00-42-44-25-45-001-0000 

 
The West 293.38 feet of the East 333.38 feet of the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the 

Northeast Quarter (NE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼) of Section 25, Township 

44 South, Range 42 East, Palm Beach County, Florida. 

Less: 

The East 27.00 feet thereof for additional right-of-way for Military Trail as dedicated 

by Warranty Deed recorded in Official Record Book 6021, Page 1258, of the Public 

Records of Palm Beach County, Florida. 

Also Less:  

The South 60.00 feet thereof for right-of-way for Landar Drive as shown and 

dedicated to the Public on the Plat of Countryside Townhomes Plat No. 1, according 

to the Plat No. 1, according to the Plat thereof, as Recorded in Plat  Book 36, Pages 

145 and 146, of the Public Records of Palm Beach County, Florida. 

Further Less: 

The North 70.0 feet thereof for right-of-way for Lake Worth Drainage District Lateral 

Canal 12. 

And Further Less: 

Corner Clip “A” and Corner Clip “B” conveyed to Palm Beach County by Warranty 

Deed recorded in Official Record Book 22398, Page 1295, of the Public Records of 

Palm Beach County, Florida. 

PCN: 00-42-44-25-00-000-3040 

The South 180 feet of West 200 feet of the East 240 feet of the Northeast 1/4 



Ordinance 2017-20 
South Military Trail 

Annexation 
Page 4 

 
of the Northeast 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 Section 25, Township 44 South, 

Range 42 East, less the East 27 feet State Road 809 right-of-way. 

 
 PCN: 00-42-44-25-00-000-1970 

A PORTION OF THE NORTH 70 FEET OF THE SOUTH ONE-HALF (S 1/2), OF THE 

NORTHEAST ONE-QUARTER (NE 1/4), OF THE NORTHWEST ONE-QUARTER 

(NW 1/4) OF SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 44 SOUTH, RANGE 42 EAST, PALM BEACH 

COUNTY, FLORIDA, BOUNDED ON THE NORTH BY THE NORTH LINE OF SAID 

SOUTH ONE-HALF (S 1/2); BOUNDED ON THE EAST BY THE WEST RIGHT OF 

WAY LINE OF SOUTH MILITARY TRAIL (STATE ROAD 809) AS RECORDED IN 

ROAD PLAT BOOK 7, PAGE 128, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF PALM BEACH 

COUNTY, FLORIDA; BOUNDED ON THE SOUTH BY A LINE 70 FEET SOUTH OF, 

AS MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES TO AND PARALLEL WITH SAID NORTH LINE 

OF SAID SOUTH ONE-HALF (S 1/2); AND BOUNDED ON THE WEST BY THE 

NORTHERLY EXTENSION OF THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF RAULERSON 

DRIVE AS SHOWN ON THE PLAT OF THE COUNTRYSIDE TOWNHOMES PLAT 

NO. 3, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, 

PAGES 90 AND 91 OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS. 

 

SAID LANDS SITUATE IN PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 

62,640 SQUARE FEET OR 1.438 MORE OR LESS. 

 

AND: 

The right-of-way adjacent thereto. 
 



Ordinance 2017-20 
South Military Trail 

Annexation 
Page 5 

 
CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 5.4249 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

The above described parcels are subject to road right-of-ways, easements 

and reservations of record. 

The above described real property is hereby annexed by and declared to be 

within the corporate limits of the City of Greenacres, Florida. 

Section 3. That the above described real property shall immediately become 

subject to all of the franchises, privileges, immunities, debts, obligations, liabilities, 

ordinances and laws to which lands in the City of Greenacres are now or may be subjected 

to and persons residing thereon shall be deemed citizens of the City of Greenacres. 

Section 4. The annexation of the subject properties, including adjacent roads, 

alleys, or the like, if any, shall not be deemed accepted by the City of any maintenance 

responsibility for such roads, alleys, or the like, unless otherwise specifically initiated by the 

City pursuant to current requirements and conditions. 

Section 5. The City Manager is hereby directed to do all things necessary to 

effectuate this annexation. 

Section 6. The City Clerk is hereby directed to file a copy of this Ordinance with 

the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Palm Beach County and with the Department of State. 

Section 7. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.  

All Ordinances or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent with 

the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Section 8. Severability.  

If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 

Ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or void, such 

holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Ordinance and it shall be 



Ordinance 2017-20 
South Military Trail 

Annexation 
Page 6 

 
construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Ordinance without such 

unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of this Ordinance after 

the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid as if such part or parts 

had not been included therein, or if this Ordinance or any of the provisions thereof shall be 

held inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, kind of property, circumstances, 

or set of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect the applicability thereof to any other 

person, property or circumstances. 

Section 9. Effective Date.  

The provisions of this Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption. 



Ordinance 2017-20 
South Military Trail 

Annexation 
Page 7 

 
Passed on the first reading this 18th day of December, 2017. 

 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on the second reading this 22nd day of January, 2018. 

           Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    John Tharp 
City Clerk      Council Member, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Council Member, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Council Member, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Anderson Thelusme 
       Council Member, District IV 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 
 
 



 

ANX-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-20)                       Page 1 of 6               South Military Trail 

ANX-17-01       Revised: 12/11/17  

Exhibit "A"  12/18/17 

Date: December 1, 2017 

 

 

 

 
 

I.  Project Description: 

 

 Project: South Military Trail  

 

 Petitioner: City of Greenacres 

     Planning & Engineering Dept. 

     5800 Melaleuca Lane 

   Greenacres, FL  33463 

    

Request: City-initiated annexation 

 

Location: Parcels located on the west side of  

   South Military Trail located  

   approximately 500 feet south  

   of the  intersection of Lake Worth  

   Road and South Military Trail at  

   4101, and 4215 South Military Trail 

 

II. Site Data: 

 

 Existing Use: Florida, Power, & Light sub-station & Government 

Services 

 

 Parcel Control Numbers: 00-42-44-25-00-000-3040 

00-42-44-25-45-001-0000 

Portion of 00-42-44-25-00-000-1970 

      

 Parcel Size:   5.42 +/1 acres (236,095 square feet) 

  

 Existing Future Land Use Designation: PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

  

 Proposed Future Land Use Designation: City Commercial (CM) & Public Institutional (PI) 

 

 Existing Zoning District:   PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

 

 Proposed Zoning District: City Commercial Intensive (CI) & Government Use 

(GU) 

 

 

 

 

Lake                Worth 

        LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

 

Sites



 

ANX-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-20)                       Page 2 of 6               South Military Trail 

 

III. Annexation/Zoning History: 

 

The approximately 5.42-acres of land are located in unincorporated Palm Beach County within the 

identified Future Annexation Area of the City.  The area to be annexed contains three (3) individual parcels 

each having a Palm Beach County future land use designation of Urban Infill (PBC UI) and a Palm Beach 

County zoning designation of Urban Infill (PBC UI). 

 

Parcel 1 (4101 S. Military Trail) 

 

According to the Palm Beach County Property Appraiser’s public records, the existing Florida Power and 

Light (FPL) substation was built on this 0.7149-acre site in approximately 1980.  The site has access directly 

onto South Military Trail and has no interconnectivity to the adjacent Aloha Shopping Center.  Concurrent 

petitions for a comprehensive plan amendment (CPA-16-04) and zoning change (ZC-16-02) are being 

processed for this parcel. 

 

Parcel 2 (No address – Lake Worth Drainage Parcel) 

 

The site is part of an interconnected drainage system owned and operated by the Lake Worth Drainage 

District (LWDD).  A portion of the site is currently being developed for a parking area extension to support 

the Tax Collectors Central Palm Beach County Service Center.  The site is a drainage right-of-way that 

provides support services for adjacent sites.  As a drainage right-of-way (ROW) it takes on the zoning of 

the adjacent parcels center line and does not require a specific designation of land use or zoning. 

 

Parcel 3 (4215 S. Military Trail) 

 

The 3.28 acre parcel has a 36,000 square foot 2-story office building constructed earlier this year.  It was 

approved by Palm Beach County on December 9, 2013 as petition No. W2013-02239 through Resolution 

2013-1767 for the Tax Collector’s Central Palm Beach County Service Center.  The site has access to S. 

Military Trail and Landar Drive.  In accord with the City’s past practice, the existing Palm Beach County 

approval will be accepted as a valid City approval and a case number will be assigned for filing purposes.  

Any changes to the use or site plan will be required to meet the City Code.   

 

 

 

Table 1:  Surrounding Existing Land Use, Future Land Use, Zoning District: 

Direction Existing Land Use Future Land Use Zoning District 

North Office Depot Plaza City Commercial (City CM) City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 

South Countryside Townhouses and 
Grower’s Outlet Retail Nursery  

PBC High Residential - 8 (PBC 
HR-8) and PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

PBC Residential Medium (PBC RM) 
and PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

East Jiffy Lube, Auto Glass, Body 
Shop and Salvage Yard, Self-
Storage, and Action Supply 
Company 

Village of Palm Springs 
Commercial (VOPS COM), 
PBC Commercial High/8 (PBC 
CH/8), and PBC Urban Infill 
(PBC UI) 

Village of Palm Springs Commercial 
General (VOPS CG), PBC Commercial 
General (PBC CG), and PBC Urban 
Infill (PBC UI) 

West Office Depot Plaza and 
Countryside Townhouses 

City Commercial (City CM) 
and PBC High Residential – 8 
(PBC HR-8) 

City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 
and PBC Residential Medium (PBC 
RM) 



 

ANX-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-20)                       Page 3 of 6               South Military Trail 

IV. Applicable Comprehensive Plan Provisions: 

 

Annexation Element: 
 

Objective 1, page ANX 19 -   addresses efficiency, concurrency and levels of service (LOS). 

 

Objective 1, Policy c), page ANX 19 -  prohibits creating enclaves, or pocket areas which are not 

reasonably compact. 

 

Objective 2, page ANX 19 -   encourages orderly annexation in the future annexation 

boundaries through coordination with adjacent municipalities 

and Palm Beach County.   

 

Objective 4, page ANX 20 -   supports annexations which are deemed necessary to promote 

the orderly growth of the City and will not adversely impact the 

City's ability to fulfill other plans. 

       

Objective 4, Policy a), page ANX 20- outlines six guidelines for annexations. 

 

V. Applicable City Code and Statutory Provisions:  
 

Article III, Section 10 of the City Charter relating to annexation 

Sec. 16-8 of the City Code relating to future land use and zoning of annexed areas 

Chapter 171, Florida Statutes relating to annexation 
 

VI. Staff Analysis: 
 

Land Development Staff Comments: 

 

On October 19, 2017, the Land Development Staff reviewed this petition and recommended approval 

subject to the conditions contained in this staff report. 

 

Planning and Engineering Dept.: Incorporated into the staff report 

Building Department:   No objections 

Fire Rescue Department:  No objections 

Public Works Department:  No objections 

PBSO District 16:   No objections 

 

Background: 

 

The properties proposed for annexation are contiguous to the City’s boundary on the north side and on a 

portion of the west side as they abut Raulerson Drive.  Florida Statutes Chapter 171.0413(6) provides a 

process for City initiated annexation of property when the annexed area does not have any registered 

electors. The area can be annexed when the owners of more than 50% of the parcels and of more than 50% 

of the land area in the area proposed to be annexed consent to the annexation. 

 

The property data list (Exhibit 1) contains the address, owner name, legal description, existing future land 

use designation, existing zoning designation, proposed future land use designation, proposed zoning 

designation, apparent existing use, and taxable value for each parcel.  The list also contains a calculation of 



 

ANX-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-20)                       Page 4 of 6               South Military Trail 

the property tax increase due to annexation based on deletion of the PBC Fire Rescue FY 2017 MSTU 

millage of 3.2747 and addition of the City’s total FY 2017 millage of 6.0854 (a net increase in millage of 

2.8107).  On a preliminary basis, both PBC and the City are keeping their millage the same for FY 2017.  

In addition, the list indicates whether the owners of each parcel have signed a form consenting to the 

annexation. 

 

Based on the consents to annexation received from property owners (see Exhibit 1), the owners of 86.8% 

of the land area (4.71 acres of 5.4249 acres total) and 67% of the parcels (2 parcels out of 3 parcels total) 

have agreed to annex into the City, thus exceeding the minimum 50% thresholds established by statute.   

 

Annexation Findings of Fact: 
 

The proposed annexation is consistent with the Goals, Objectives and Policies of the City's Comprehensive 

Plan.  The site is contiguous to the City and is within the boundaries of the Future Annexation Area in the 

Annexation Element of the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

In addition, the following six guidelines, as specified in Objective 4(a) on page 20 and 21 of the Annexation 

Element within the Comprehensive Plan, must be addressed.  The guidelines apply to both City-initiated 

and voluntary annexations. 

 

Specific Criteria Findings: 

 

In all future annexation requests, the City shall be guided by the following: 

 

(1) The area in question must meet statutory requirements pertaining to contiguity, compactness 

and irregular shape. 
 

 Findings: The annexation petition is consistent with the provisions in Chapter 171, F.S., 

specifically because the subject property is a regular polygon in shape, reasonably compact, and 

immediately contiguous to the City’s municipal boundary to the north and a small portion to the 

west. 

 

(2) The petitioned area must have "a unity of interests with the City" and be "a logical extension" 

of the City’s boundaries. 
 

 Findings: The subject property has "a unity of interests with the City" and is "a logical extension" 

of the City of Greenacres’ boundaries.  The property is identified as part of the Future Annexation 

Area in the City's Comprehensive Plan. The site is also contiguous to the City’s boundary on the 

north and a portion of the boundary on the west.  Annexation of these parcels will significantly 

clarify jurisdictional boundaries at this major intersection and reduce the size of an existing pocket. 

 

(3) The area shall have a growth potential sufficient to warrant the extension of services. 
 

 Findings: The area has a growth potential sufficient to warrant the extension of services.  

Redevelopment activity is taking place in the immediate vicinity and adjacent properties within the 

City are already receiving City services.  Since the properties proposed for annexation are 

contiguous to the City, there will be minimal effect upon infrastructure and services provided within 

the City. 

 



 

ANX-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-20)                       Page 5 of 6               South Military Trail 

(4) The deficit of income against expense to the City shall not be unreasonable. 
 

 Findings: The annexation of the subject properties will not create an unreasonable expense or 

burden upon the City of Greenacres.  Since the subject sites are contiguous to developed parcels 

already in the City, the annexation will not adversely affect the City’s overall level of service, nor 

will it substantially increase costs to the City to warrant the annexation unreasonable. 

 

(5) The advantages both to the City of Greenacres and to the petitioned area must outweigh the 

disadvantages. 

 

 Findings: The advantages to both the City of Greenacres and the proposed annexation area 

outweigh any potential disadvantages. The annexation of the subject properties will allow the City 

to improve the identity of the area as being part of Greenacres and help reduce service delivery 

inefficiency and confusion.  This intersection has long been identified by the City and Palm Beach 

County agencies (including the Sheriff’s Office and Palm Beach County Fire Rescue) as a source 

of continuing service delivery confusion which this annexation will help resolve.  

 

 (6) The City of Greenacres must be willing and able to provide City services as well as ensure that 

services provided by Palm Beach County are furnished to the newly annexed area within a 

reasonable time. 
 

 Findings: The City of Greenacres will be able to provide City services to the subject properties 

without degrading any established levels of service, since the City is already providing 

governmental services to nearby developments along Lake Worth Road in the immediate area of the 

subject parcels.  In addition, the enclosed Urban Services Report demonstrates that the City will be 

able to provide services to the area at the level they are provided elsewhere in the City. 

 

Summary of Annexation Criteria: 

 

The site meets all of the guidelines specified in the City's Comprehensive Plan and Chapter 171 of the 

Florida Statutes for the annexation of property.  It is a logical extension of the City's boundaries in a location 

identified as part of the City's Future Annexation Area. 

 

VII. Staff Recommendation: 

 

Approval of ANX-17-01 through the adoption of Ordinance 2017-20 with the following condition: 

 

1. The City shall recognize the validity of the building permit issued by Palm Beach County for the 

current construction of the parking area improvements at 4215 S. Military Trail and allow Palm Beach 

County to perform all of the necessary inspections through to completion of the project as currently 

permitted. (Building) 

 

 

 

  



 

ANX-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-20)                       Page 6 of 6               South Military Trail 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION – December 6, 2017  

 

 

The Planning Commission on a motion made by Commissioner Buzek and seconded by 

Commissioner Fitzgerald, by a vote of seven (7) to zero (0), recommended approval of 

Annexation ANX-17-01 (South Military Trail), as presented by staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION First Reading – December 18, 2017 

 

 

The City Council on a motion made by Councilwoman Dugo and seconded by Councilman 

Thelusme, voting five (5) to zero (0), approved Annexation ANX-17-01 (South Military Trail), 

on first reading, through Ordinance 2017-20, as presented by staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION Adoption Hearing – January 22,2018 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

   Joel Flores, Mayor 

 

 

       Attest: 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 

 

 

Attachments:    

 

1. Aerial Map 

2. Ordinance 2017-20 

3. Urban Services Report with Property Data List (Exhibit 1) 

 

 































 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2017-27 
 
AN ORDINANCE ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP OF 
THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE CITY’S COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN, TO CHANGE THE FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION OF TWO 
PARCELS OF LAND TOTALING APPROXIMATELY 3.9949 ACRES, 
LOCATED APPROXIMATELY 500 FEET SOUTH OF THE INTERSECTION 
OF LAKE WORTH ROAD AND SOUTH MILITARY TRAIL AT 4215 SOUTH 
MILITARY TRAIL AND 4101 SOUTH MILITARY TRAIL, FROM A PALM 
BEACH COUNTY DESIGNATION OF URBAN INFILL (PBC UI) TO A CITY 
OF GREENACRES DESIGNATION OF COMMERCIAL (CM) AND PUBLIC 
INSTITUTIONAL (PI), AS REQUESTED BY THE PLANNING AND 
ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE DIVISION OF COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Greenacres, pursuant to the Local 

Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, and in 

accordance with all of its terms and provisions, has prepared and adopted a Comprehensive 

Plan which has been certified by the State of Florida Division of Community Development; 

and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 163.3187 provides for small-scale future land use amendments 

for properties ten (10) acres or less; and 

WHEREAS, the subject properties meet the requirements of 163.3187; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Greenacres Planning and Engineering Department is herein 

known as the “Petitioner” for the herein described properties; and 

WHEREAS, the petitioner is requesting to change the City of Greenacres Future 

Land Use Map from a Palm Beach County future land use designation of Urban Infill (UI) to 

a City of Greenacres future land use designation of Commercial (CM) and Public Institutional 

(PI) for the subject property; and 



Ordinance 2017-27 
South Military Trail 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 2 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Local Planning Agency for the City of Greenacres has held a duly 

advertised public hearing on December 6, 2017, and has recommended approval of petition 

CPA-17-02 to amend the Comprehensive Plan; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Greenacres has conducted a duly 

advertised public hearing to receive comments on CPA-17-02 concerning the proposed 

amendment to the Comprehensive Plan and has considered all comments received as 

required by state law and local ordinance; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the proposed amendment ordinance is 

consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and is in the best interest of the citizens of 

the City of Greenacres. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Future Land Use Map Designation.  

 That the Future Land Use Map designation is hereby amended from a Palm Beach 

County future land use designation of Urban Infill (UI) to a City of Greenacres future land 

use designation of Public Institutional (PI) for the property legally described as follows:  

Legal Description  

PCN: 00-42-44-25-45-001-0000 

 
The West 293.38 feet of the East 333.38 feet of the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the 

Northeast Quarter (NE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼) of Section 25, Township 

44 South, Range 42 East, Palm Beach County, Florida. 

Less: 



Ordinance 2017-27 
South Military Trail 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 3 

 
 

The East 27.00 feet thereof for additional right-of-way for Military Trail as dedicated 

by Warranty Deed recorded in Official Record Book 6021, Page 1258, of the Public 

Records of Palm Beach County, Florida. 

Also Less:  

The South 60.00 feet thereof for right-of-way for Landar Drive as shown and 

dedicated to the Public on the Plat of Countryside Townhomes Plat No. 1, according 

to the Plat No. 1, according to the Plat thereof, as Recorded in Plat  Book 36, Pages 

145 and 146, of the Public Records of Palm Beach County, Florida. 

Further Less: 

The North 70.0 feet thereof for right-of-way for Lake Worth Drainage District Lateral 

Canal 12. 

And Further Less: 

Corner Clip “A” and Corner Clip “B” conveyed to Palm Beach County by Warranty 

Deed recorded in Official Record Book 22398, Page 1295, of the Public Records of 

Palm Beach County, Florida. 

AND: 

The right-of-way adjacent thereto. 
 
CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 3.28 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

 AND: 

 That the Future Land Use Map designation is hereby amended from a Palm Beach 

County future land use designation of Urban Infill (UI) to a City of Greenacres future land 

use designation of Commercial (CM) for the property legally described as follows:  

 



Ordinance 2017-27 
South Military Trail 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 4 

 
 

Legal Description  

PCN: 00-42-44-25-00-000-3040 

The South 180 feet of West 200 feet of the East 240 feet of the Northeast 1/4 of the 

Northeast 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 Section 25, Township 44 South, Range 42 East, 

less the East 27 feet State Road 809 right-of-way. 

CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 0.7149 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

Section 2.  Authorization to Make Changes. 

That the Planning and Engineering Department is further authorized to make the 

necessary map change to the Comprehensive Plan to reflect the change authorized by this 

Ordinance. 

Section  3. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.   

All Ordinances or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent with 

the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Section  4. Severability. 

 If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 

Ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or void, such 

holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Ordinance and it shall be 

construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Ordinance without such 

unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of this Ordinance after 

the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid as if such part or parts 

had not been included therein, or if this Ordinance or any of the provisions thereof shall be 

held inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, kind of property, circumstances, 



Ordinance 2017-27 
South Military Trail 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 5 

 
 

or set of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect the applicability thereof to any other 

person, property or circumstances.  

Section  5.    Transmittal to the DCD. 

The Planning and Engineering Department shall send copies of the future land use 

amendment and Ordinance to the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council (TCRPC) and 

the State Division of Community Development (DCD). 

Section  6.   Inclusion in the Comprehensive Plan. 

It is the intention of the City Council, entered as hereby ordained, that the provisions 

of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Comprehensive Plan of the City 

of Greenacres, Florida; that the section(s) of this Ordinance may be renumbered or re-

lettered to accomplish such intention, and that the word “Ordinance” may be changed to 

“Section”, “Article” or another word. 

Section  7.  Effective Date. 

 The effective date of this plan amendment shall be thirty-one (31) days following the 

adoption of this Ordinance in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 163.3187, F.S. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank.] 
  



Ordinance 2017-27 
South Military Trail 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 6 

 
 

Passed on the first reading this 18th day of December, 2017. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on the second reading this 22nd day of January, 2018. 

           Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    John Tharp 
City Clerk      Council Member, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Council Member, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Council Member, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Anderson Thelusme 
       Council Member, District IV 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 
 

 



Nicia Way

Ap
pia

n W
ay

Centurian Cir

Rome Ct

RS-HD  

RS-MD

RS-LD

Lake Worth Rd

S M
ilita

ry 
Tra

il

CM

CM

PI

¯

Legend
CITY BOUNDARY

FUTURE LAND USE CATEGORIES
RIGHT OF WAY
RESIDENTIAL LOW DENSITY (RS-LD)
RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM DENSITY (RS-MD)
RESIDENTIAL HIGH DENSITY(RS-HD)
MIXED USE (MU)
COMMERCIAL (CM)
RECREATION OPEN SPACE (RO)
PUBLIC INSTITUTIONAL (PI)
STUDY AREA ZONE (SAZ)

PREPARED BY THE PLANNING AND ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT

500
FeetDate: 12/8/2017

FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT (CPA-17-02)
SOUTH MILITARY TRAIL

 CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA

SITE



 

CPA-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-27)                      Page 1 of 7 South Military Trail 

CPA-17-02       Revised: 12/11/17 

Exhibit "A"         12/18/17 

Date: December 1, 2017 

 

 

 

 
 

I.  Project Description: 

 

 Project: South Military Trail  

 

 Petitioner: City of Greenacres 

     Planning & Engineering Dept. 

     5800 Melaleuca Lane 

   Greenacres, FL  33463 

    

Request: Small-scale Future Land Use  

 Amendment from Palm Beach 

 County Urban Infill (UI) to City  

 Commercial (CM) & Public  

 Institutional (PI) 

 

Location: Parcels located on the west side of  

   South Military Trail located  

   approximately 500 feet south  

   of the  intersection of Lake Worth  

   Road and South Military Trail at  

   4101, and 4215 South Military Trail 

 

II. Site Data: 

 

 Existing Use: Florida, Power, & Light sub-station & Government 

Services 

 

 Parcel Control Numbers: 00-42-44-25-00-000-3040 

00-42-44-25-45-001-0000 

Portion of 00-42-44-25-00-000-1970 

      

 Parcel Size:   5.42 +/1 acres (236,095 square feet) 

  

 Existing Future Land Use Designation: PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

  

 Proposed Future Land Use Designation: City Commercial (CM) & Public Institutional (PI) 

 

 Existing Zoning District:   PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

 

 Proposed Zoning District: City Commercial Intensive (CI) & Government Use 

(GU) 

        LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

Lake                Worth 

 

Sites



 

CPA-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-27)                      Page 2 of 7 South Military Trail 

 

 

 

III. Annexation/Zoning History: 

 

The approximately 5.42-acres of land are located in unincorporated Palm Beach County within the 

identified Future Annexation Area of the City.  The area to be annexed contains three (3) individual parcels 

each having a Palm Beach County future land use designation of Urban Infill (PBC UI) and a Palm Beach 

County zoning designation of Urban Infill (PBC UI). 

 

Parcel 1 (4101 S. Military Trail) 

 

According to the Palm Beach County Property Appraiser’s public records, the existing Florida Power and 

Light (FPL) substation was built on this 0.7149-acre site in approximately 1980.  The site has access directly 

onto South Military Trail and has no interconnectivity to the adjacent Aloha Shopping Center.  Concurrent 

petitions for a comprehensive plan amendment (CPA-16-04) and zoning change (ZC-16-02) are being 

processed for this parcel. 

 

Parcel 2 (No address – Lake Worth Drainage Parcel) 

 

The site is part of an interconnected drainage system owned and operated by the Lake Worth Drainage 

District (LWDD).  A portion of the site is currently being developed for a parking area extension to support 

the Tax Collectors Central Palm Beach County Service Center.  The site is a drainage right-of-way that 

provides support services for adjacent sites.  As a drainage right-of-way (ROW) it takes on the zoning of 

the adjacent parcels center line and does not require a specific designation of land use or zoning. 

 

Parcel 3 (4215 S. Military Trail) 

 

The 3.28 acre parcel has a 36,000 square foot 2-story office building constructed earlier this year.  It was 

approved by Palm Beach County on December 9, 2013 as petition No. W2013-02239 through Resolution 

2013-1767 for the Tax Collector’s Central Palm Beach County Service Center.  The site has access to S. 

Military Trail and Landar Drive.  In accord with the City’s past practice, the existing Palm Beach County 

approval will be accepted as a valid City approval and a case number will be assigned for filing purposes.  

Any changes to the use or site plan will be required to meet the City Code.   

 

Table 1:  Surrounding Existing Land Use, Future Land Use, Zoning District: 

Direction Existing Land Use Future Land Use Zoning District 

North Office Depot Plaza City Commercial (City CM) City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 

South Countryside Townhouses and 
Grower’s Outlet Retail Nursery  

PBC High Residential - 8 (PBC 
HR-8) and PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

PBC Residential Medium (PBC RM) 
and PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

East Jiffy Lube, Auto Glass, Body 
Shop and Salvage Yard, Self-
Storage, and Action Supply 
Company 

Village of Palm Springs 
Commercial (VOPS COM), 
PBC Commercial High/8 (PBC 
CH/8), and PBC Urban Infill 
(PBC UI) 

Village of Palm Springs Commercial 
General (VOPS CG), PBC Commercial 
General (PBC CG), and PBC Urban 
Infill (PBC UI) 

West Office Depot Plaza and 
Countryside Townhouses 

City Commercial (City CM) 
and PBC High Residential – 8 
(PBC HR-8) 

City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 
and PBC Residential Medium (PBC 
RM) 



 

CPA-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-27)                      Page 3 of 7 South Military Trail 

IV. Data and Analysis: 
 

This small-scale future land use amendment is needed in order to replace the existing Palm Beach County 

Urban Infill (PBC UI) future land use designation with an appropriate City designation as a result of 

annexation.  The Advisory Future Land Use Map (Map FLU 9) recommends Commercial (CM) for the 

subject parcels, which is the same as the proposed land use designation for the FPL sub-station, but the 

designation Public Institutional (PI) for the government service center would be more appropriate. 

 

Land Use Analysis: 

 

After a review of the proposed land use amendment, staff has determined that the application is consistent 

with the provisions of Chapter 163, FS, because it is compatible with adjacent properties, meets concurrency 

requirements, and is consistent with the provisions of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  Specifically, these 

are as follows: 

 

A. Compatibility: 

 

A review of the adjacent existing and anticipated land uses (see attached Aerial Photo) shows that 

the proposed land use is compatible with the adjacent properties. 

 

North:  To the north of the subject parcels is a property containing the retail center known as Office 

Depot Plaza, which was annexed into the City on September 8, 2018 via Ordinance 2016-22.  Office 

Depot Plaza has a future land use designation of Commercial (CM) and a zoning designation of 

Commercial Intensive (CI).  The proposed designation for the FPL sub-station is identical to the 

adjacent land use and the Public Institutional land use designation is appropriate for the Tax 

Collector government services building; therefore, there will be no adverse impacts from the 

proposed future land use amendment. 

 

South and West:  The subject area is abutted by the Countryside townhouses residential development 

and the Grower’s Outlet Retail Nursery on its south side, both of which are located within 

unincorporated Palm Beach County.  The properties have Palm Beach County future land use 

designations of High Residential-8 (PBC HR-8) and Urban Infill (UI) and zoning designations of 

Palm Beach County Residential Medium (RM) and Urban Infill (UI) respectively.  There will be no 

adverse impacts resulting from the proposed change since the existing development will remain as-

is, any proposed changes will need to meet Code requirements for buffering, and the proposed City 

designation allows less intensity then the existing County designation.   

 

East: To the east of the subject parcels is commercial property within the Village of Palm Springs 

and unincorporated Palm Beach County.  The proposed designation is approximately equivalent to 

the designation of these adjacent properties and is compatible with the existing commercial 

development at the south east corner of the Lake Worth Road / South Military Trail major 

commercial intersection.  Therefore, there will be no adverse impacts from the proposed future land 

use amendments. 

 

Conclusions:  Reviewing the adjacent existing commercial and multi-family residential 

development shows that the proposed City Commercial future land use designation is compatible 

with the surrounding properties and the intense commercial activity at this intersection of two Urban 

Principal Arterial roadways.  In addition, the Public Institutional land use designation is compatible 

with the adjacent uses and appropriate for the Tax Collector site. 



 

CPA-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-27)                      Page 4 of 7 South Military Trail 

 

B. Concurrency: 
 

As previously stated, this future land use amendment will provide these sites with a City future land 

use designation based on their annexation. Additional impacts on services are expected to be 

insignificant since the proposed City future land use designation allows less intensity (at up to 0.35 

FAR) than the existing County future land use designation (at up to 1.0 FAR).  Furthermore, an 

applicant will be required to meet the level of service (LOS) standards for this site through the site 

and development approval process for any future redevelopment. 

 

C. Consistency with City’s Comprehensive Plan: 
 

The proposed amendment is consistent with the Goals, Objectives and Policies of the 

Comprehensive Plan, specifically: 

 

 1. Future Land Use Element 

 

  Objective 8, Policy c) 

 

 Land development regulations adopted to implement this Comprehensive Plan shall be 

based on and be consistent with the following standards for residential densities and 

commercial intensities as indicated below: 

 

  * * * (1 through 10 omitted for brevity) * * *  

 

  (11) Commercial Intensive – 30% lot coverage, 0.35 FAR 

 

  * * * (12 through 14 omitted for brevity) * * * 

 

  (15)      Public/Institutional Land Use – 0.10-0.35 FAR 

 

Land uses owned, leased or operated by government agencies, such as civic and 

community centers, libraries, police/fire stations and public schools.  Each property 

so designated shall be evaluated during the site plan approval process for 

compatibility with adjacent land uses, service capacity availability, current and future 

traffic capacity, and safety, and the maximum intensity (FAR) established within the 

given range based on that site analysis and in accord with Zoning District 

Regulations.   

   

  * * * (16 omitted for brevity) * * * 

   

  Objective 10, Policy e) 

 

The City of Greenacres shall regulate and control all future land use activities which affect 

the topography, materials beneath the land’s surface and availability of services by 

implementing the following policies: 

 

Policy e) 



 

CPA-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-27)                      Page 5 of 7 South Military Trail 

 In reviewing future land use amendments in the City’s Future Annexation Area, the City 

will utilize the Advisory Future Land Use Map (Map 9) as the basis for the assignment of 

future land use designations as well as consideration of the goals, objectives and policies 

contained in this Element and an analysis of the proposal’s compatibility with adjacent 

uses in order to determine the appropriate designation. 

Objective 11, Policies a, b, c & d) 

 

The City shall discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl by following established land use 

patterns, promoting appropriate infill and designating future land use densities based upon 

levels of services and the availability of services and facilities.  

 

Policy a) 

 Urban Sprawl will be discouraged by permitting only development that is consistent and 

compatible with the established land use pattern.  “Consistent and compatible with the 

established land use pattern” shall mean:  

(1) Only uses permitted within the Plan's land use designation and the implementing 

zoning district shall be approved.  

(2) Only development within the designated density range and intensity regulations of 

the implementing zoning district will be approved.  

(3) Adequate facilities and services shall be available and concurrent to accommodate 

the proposed development.  

 

Policy b) 

Infill development shall be promoted within existing areas to discourage the harmful effects 

of leapfrog development. 

 

Policy c) 

Future timing of appropriate land use densities and intensities will be determined by the 

established levels of services and the availability of services and facilities to meet the 

established levels. 

 

  Policy d) 

 The City will continue to utilize the nodal system (Section VI A.1 and A.2 of the Future 

Land Use Element) in conjunction with Map 5 to designate Future Land Uses in activity 

spheres and infill corridors. 

 

V. Consistency with the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council SRPP: 
 

The proposed future land use amendment represents a means of increasing commercial opportunities in the 

City through the process of infill development, rather than approving land uses which will encourage urban 

sprawl.  This is consistent with the intent of Regional Goal 2.1, which discourages urban sprawl 

development patterns and Regional Goal 5.1, which states that redevelopment, revitalization and infill of 

existing neighborhoods and districts should be encouraged.  The proposed Commercial (CM) future land 

use designation is consistent with the intent of Regional Goal 8.1 which states that development should take 

place concurrent with or after the provision of necessary infrastructure and services.  As a result, the 

proposed future land use amendment is consistent with the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council’s 

Strategic Regional Policy Plan (SRPP) concerning appropriate development patterns. 

 



 

CPA-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-27)                      Page 6 of 7 South Military Trail 

VI. Consistency with Chapter 163, Florida Statutes: 
 

The amendment is consistent with the provisions of Chapter 163.3184 and 163.3187 F.S. concerning the 

processing of a small-scale future land use amendment to the Comprehensive Plan, as well as providing all 

applicable data and analysis to support the amendment. 

 

In summary, this small-scale future land use amendment to the City’s Comprehensive Plan is compatible 

with adjacent land uses, adequately addresses concurrency issues, and is consistent with the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan, the Regional Planning Council’s SRPP and Chapter 163, F.S. 

 

VII. Staff Recommendation: 
 

Approval of CPA-17-02 through the adoption of Ordinance 2017-27. 

 

 

 

 

  



 

CPA-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-27)                      Page 7 of 7 South Military Trail 

 

 

LOCAL PLANNING AGENCY ACTION – December 6, 2017  

 

 

The Planning Commission on a motion made by Commissioner Robards and seconded by 

Commissioner Bennis, by a vote of seven (7) to zero (0), recommended approval of 

Comprehensive Plan Amendment CPA-17-02 (South Military Trail), as presented by staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION First Reading – December 18, 2017 

 

 

The City Council on a motion made by Councilman Noble and seconded by Councilman Tharp, 

voting five (5) to zero (0), approved Comprehensive Plan Amendment CPA-17-02 (South Military 

Trail), on first reading, through Ordinance 2017-27, as presented by staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION Adoption Hearing – January 22, 2018 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 Joel Flores, Mayor 

 

 

         Attest: 

 

 

 

 Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 

 

 

 

Attachments: 

 1. Aerial Photograph 

 2. Future Land Use Map 

 3. Ordinance 2017-27 

 







 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2017-28 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, APPROVING THE APPLICATION FOR A 
ZONING CHANGE FOR TWO PARCELS OF LAND TOTALING 
APPROXIMATELY 3.9949 ACRES, LOCATED APPROXIMATELY 500 
FEET SOUTH OF THE INTERSECTION OF LAKE WORTH ROAD AND 
SOUTH MILITARY TRAIL AT 4215 SOUTH MILITARY TRAIL, 4101 
SOUTH MILITARY TRAIL, FROM A PALM BEACH COUNTY ZONING 
DESIGNATION OF URBAN INFILL (PBC UI) TO A CITY OF 
GREENACRES ZONING DESIGNATION OF COMMERCIAL INTENSIVE 
(CI) AND GOVERNMENT USE (GU), AS REQUESTED BY THE PLANNING 
AND ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT; PROVIDING FOR CHANGES TO 
THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Greenacres Planning and Engineering Department is herein 

known as the "Petitioner" for the herein described property; and  

WHEREAS, the Petitioner is requesting a rezoning of two (2) parcels of land totaling 

approximately 3.9949 acres more or less, from a Palm Beach County zoning designation 

of Urban Infill (UI) to a City of Greenacres zoning designation of Commercial Intensive (CI) 

and Government Use (GU); and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has held a duly advertised public hearing on 

December 6, 2017 and reviewed the application for compliance with the staff findings 

relevant to the criteria for a Zoning Change as detailed in the Land Development Staff 

Report and Recommendation, Exhibit “A”, dated December 1, 2017, as revised; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Greenacres has conducted a duly 

advertised public hearing on December 18, 2017 and has considered all comments 

received concerning the proposed amendment to the Official Zoning Map as required by 

state law and local ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the proposed zoning change ordinance is 

consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan, said Plan being adopted pursuant to the 



Ordinance 2017-28 
South Military Trail 

Zoning Change 
Page 2 

 
 

Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act and 

certified by the State of Florida Division of Community Development; and 

WHEREAS,  the City Council of the City of Greenacres further finds that, in 

accordance with Exhibit “A”, “Land Development Staff Report and Recommendation”, 

dated December 1, 2017, as revised (attached), the proposed amendment changing the 

zoning district of one (1) parcel of land totaling approximately 3.28 acres more or less, from 

a Palm Beach County zoning designation of Urban Infill (UI) to a City of Greenacres zoning 

designation of Government Use (GU) and changing the zoning district of one (1) parcel of 

land totaling approximately 0.7149 acres more or less, from a Palm Beach County zoning 

designation of Urban Infill (UI) to a City of Greenacres zoning designation of Commercial 

Intensive (CI), is in the best interest of the citizens of the City of Greenacres. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Zoning District Amendment. 

The request by the petitioner to change the Official Zoning Map to include a zoning 

change of one (1) parcel of land totaling approximately 3.28 acres more or less, from a 

Palm Beach County zoning designation of Urban Infill (UI) to a City of Greenacres zoning 

designation of Government Use (GU) and a zoning change of one (1) parcel of land totaling 

approximately 0.7149 acres more or less, from a Palm Beach County zoning designation 

of Urban Infill (UI) to a City of Greenacres zoning designation of Commercial Intensive (CI), 

is hereby granted for the properties located approximately 500 feet south of the intersection 

of Lake Worth Road and South Military Trail at 4215 and 4101 South Military Trail, legally 

described as follows:  



Ordinance 2017-28 
South Military Trail 

Zoning Change 
Page 3 

 
 

Legal Description  

Legal Description 

PCN: 00-42-44-25-45-001-0000 

 
The West 293.38 feet of the East 333.38 feet of the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the 

Northeast Quarter (NE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼) of Section 25, Township 

44 South, Range 42 East, Palm Beach County, Florida. 

Less: 

The East 27.00 feet thereof for additional right-of-way for Military Trail as dedicated 

by Warranty Deed recorded in Official Record Book 6021, Page 1258, of the Public 

Records of Palm Beach County, Florida. 

Also Less:  

The South 60.00 feet thereof for right-of-way for Landar Drive as shown and 

dedicated to the Public on the Plat of Countryside Townhomes Plat No. 1, according 

to the Plat No. 1, according to the Plat thereof, as Recorded in Plat  Book 36, Pages 

145 and 146, of the Public Records of Palm Beach County, Florida. 

Further Less: 

The North 70.0 feet thereof for right-of-way for Lake Worth Drainage District Lateral 

Canal 12. 

And Further Less: 

Corner Clip “A” and Corner Clip “B” conveyed to Palm Beach County by Warranty 

Deed recorded in Official Record Book 22398, Page 1295, of the Public Records of 

Palm Beach County, Florida. 

PCN: 00-42-44-25-00-000-3040 



Ordinance 2017-28 
South Military Trail 

Zoning Change 
Page 4 

 
 

The South 180 feet of West 200 feet of the East 240 feet of the Northeast 1/4 of the 

Northeast 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 Section 25, Township 44 South, Range 42 East, 

less the East 27 feet State Road 809 right-of-way. 

 AND: 

The right-of-way adjacent thereto. 
 
CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 3.9949 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

Section 2. Authorization to Make Changes. 

That the Planning and Engineering Department is further directed to make the 

necessary changes to the City of Greenacres Official Zoning Map to reflect the changes 

authorized by this Ordinance. 

Section 3. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.   

All Ordinances or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent with 

the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Section 4. Severability. 

 If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 

Ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or void, 

such holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Ordinance and it 

shall be construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Ordinance without such 

unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of this Ordinance 

after the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid as if such part or 

parts had not been included therein, or if this Ordinance or any of the provisions thereof 

shall be held inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, kind of property, 



Ordinance 2017-28 
South Military Trail 

Zoning Change 
Page 5 

 
 

circumstances, or set of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect the applicability 

thereof to any other person, property or circumstances. 

Section 5. Effective Date. 

The provisions of this Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 



Ordinance 2017-28 
South Military Trail 

Zoning Change 
Page 6 

 
 

Passed on the first reading this 18th day of December, 2017. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on the second reading this 22nd day of January, 2018. 

           Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    John Tharp 
City Clerk      Council Member, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Council Member, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Council Member, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Anderson Thelusme 
       Council Member, District IV 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 

 
 



¯

Legend
CITY BOUNDARY
RIGHT OF WAY
LAKE WORTH ROAD URBAN CORRIDOR OVERLAY DISTRICT
AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL (.4 UNITS/ACRE) (AR)
RESIDENTIAL LOW - 3 (RL-3)
RESIDENTIAL ESTATE (1UNIT/ACRE) (RE)
RESIDENTIAL LOW DENSITY (3 UNITS/ACRE) (RL-1)
RESIDENTIAL LOW DENSITY (4 UNITS/ACRE) (RL-2)
RESIDENTIAL LOW DENSITY (5 UNITS/ACRE) (RL-3)
RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM DENSITY 1 (6 UNITS/ACRE) (RM-1)
RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM DENSITY 2 (7 UNITS/ACRE) (RM-2)
RESIDENTIAL HIGH DENSITY (10 UNITS/ACRE) (RH)
RESIDENTIAL MOBILE HOME (RMH)
MIXED DEVELOPMENT RESIDENTIAL (MXD-R)
MIXED DEVELOPMENT COMMERCIAL  (MXD-C)
MIXED DEVELOPMENT OFFICE (MXD-O)
MIXED DEVELOPMENT - ORIGINAL SECTION (MXD-OS)
OFFICE PROFESSIONAL AND INSTITUTIONAL (OPI)
COMMERCIAL NEIGHBORHOOD (CN)
COMMERCIAL GENERAL (CG)
COMMERCIAL INTENSIVE (CI)
GOVERNMENT USE (GU)
STUDY AREA ZONE (SAZ)

PREPARED BY THE PLANNING AND ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT

500
FeetDate: 12/8/2017

ZONING CHANGE (ZC-17-02) 
SOUTH MILITARY TRAIL 

CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA

Nicia Way

Ap
pia

n W
ay

Centurian Cir

Rome Ct

Lake Worth Rd

S M
ilita

ry 
Tra

il

PALM 
BEACH 
VILLAS

IIRL-3

CIRH

RM-2
CIPALM 

BEACH 
VILLAS

II GU

SITE



 

ZC-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-28)                      Page 1 of 7 South Military Trail  

ZC-17-02         Revised: 12/11/17  

Exhibit "A"           12/18/17 

Date: December 1, 2017 

 

 

 

 
 

I.  Project Description: 

 

 Project: South Military Trail  

 

 Petitioner: City of Greenacres 

     Planning & Engineering Dept. 

     5800 Melaleuca Lane 

   Greenacres, FL  33463 

    

Request:  Zoning Change from Palm Beach 

   County Urban Infill (UI) to City 

   Commercial Intensive (CI) & City  

   Government Use (GU) 

 

Location: Parcels located on the west side of  

   South Military Trail located  

   approximately 500 feet south  

   of the  intersection of Lake Worth  

   Road and South Military Trail at  

   4101, and 4215 South Military Trail 

 

II. Site Data: 

 

 Existing Use: Florida, Power, & Light sub-station & Government 

Services 

 

 Parcel Control Numbers: 00-42-44-25-00-000-3040 

00-42-44-25-45-001-0000 

Portion of 00-42-44-25-00-000-1970 

      

 Parcel Size:   5.42 +/1 acres (236,095 square feet) 

  

 Existing Future Land Use Designation: PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

  

 Proposed Future Land Use Designation: City Commercial (CM) & Public Institutional (PI) 

 

 Existing Zoning District:   PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

 

 Proposed Zoning District: City Commercial Intensive (CI) & Government Use 

(GU) 

 

        LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

Lake                Worth 

 

Sites



 

ZC-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-28)                      Page 2 of 7 South Military Trail  

 

 

 

 

III. Annexation/Zoning History: 

 

The approximately 5.42-acres of land are located in unincorporated Palm Beach County within the 

identified Future Annexation Area of the City.  The area to be annexed contains three (3) individual parcels 

each having a Palm Beach County future land use designation of Urban Infill (PBC UI) and a Palm Beach 

County zoning designation of Urban Infill (PBC UI). 

 

Parcel 1 (4101 S. Military Trail) 

 

According to the Palm Beach County Property Appraiser’s public records, the existing Florida Power and 

Light (FPL) substation was built on this 0.7149-acre site in approximately 1980.  The site has access directly 

onto South Military Trail and has no interconnectivity to the adjacent Aloha Shopping Center.  Concurrent 

petitions for a comprehensive plan amendment (CPA-16-04) and zoning change (ZC-16-02) are being 

processed for this parcel. 

 

Parcel 2 (No address – Lake Worth Drainage Parcel) 

 

The site is part of an interconnected drainage system owned and operated by the Lake Worth Drainage 

District (LWDD).  A portion of the site is currently being developed for a parking area extension to support 

the Tax Collectors Central Palm Beach County Service Center.  The site is a drainage right-of-way that 

provides support services for adjacent sites.  As a drainage right-of-way (ROW) it takes on the zoning of 

the adjacent parcels center line and does not require a specific designation of land use or zoning. 

 

Parcel 3 (4215 S. Military Trail) 

 

The 3.28 acre parcel has a 36,000 square foot 2-story office building constructed earlier this year.  It was 

approved by Palm Beach County on December 9, 2013 as petition No. W2013-02239 through Resolution 

2013-1767 for the Tax Collector’s Central Palm Beach County Service Center.  The site has access to S. 

Military Trail and Landar Drive.  In accord with the City’s past practice, the existing Palm Beach County 

approval will be accepted as a valid City approval and a case number will be assigned for filing purposes.  

Any changes to the use or site plan will be required to meet the City Code.   

Table 1:  Surrounding Existing Land Use, Future Land Use, Zoning District: 

Direction Existing Land Use Future Land Use Zoning District 

North Office Depot Plaza City Commercial (City CM) City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 

South Countryside Townhouses and 
Grower’s Outlet Retail Nursery  

PBC High Residential - 8 (PBC 
HR-8) and PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

PBC Residential Medium (PBC RM) 
and PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

East Jiffy Lube, Auto Glass, Body 
Shop and Salvage Yard, Self-
Storage, and Action Supply 
Company 

Village of Palm Springs 
Commercial (VOPS COM), 
PBC Commercial High/8 (PBC 
CH/8), and PBC Urban Infill 
(PBC UI) 

Village of Palm Springs Commercial 
General (VOPS CG), PBC Commercial 
General (PBC CG), and PBC Urban 
Infill (PBC UI) 

West Office Depot Plaza and 
Countryside Townhouses 

City Commercial (City CM) 
and PBC High Residential – 8 
(PBC HR-8) 

City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 
and PBC Residential Medium (PBC 
RM) 



 

ZC-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-28)                      Page 3 of 7 South Military Trail  

 

 

 

IV. Applicable Comprehensive Plan Provisions: 

 

The Comprehensive Plan includes the following planning objectives and policies related to this proposed 

zoning change request: 

 

 1. Future Land Use Element  

 

  Objective 8, Policy c) 

 

Land development regulations adopted to implement this Comprehensive Plan shall be based 

on and be consistent with the following standards for residential densities and commercial 

intensities as indicated below: 

 

  * * * (1 through 10 omitted for brevity) * * *  

 

  (11) Commercial Intensive – 30% lot coverage, 0.35 FAR 

 

  * * * (12 through 14 omitted for brevity) * * * 

 

  (15)      Public/Institutional Land Use – 0.10-0.35 FAR 

 

Land uses owned, leased or operated by government agencies, such as civic and 

community centers, libraries, police/fire stations and public schools.  Each property 

so designated shall be evaluated during the site plan approval process for 

compatibility with adjacent land uses, service capacity availability, current and future 

traffic capacity, and safety, and the maximum intensity (FAR) established within the 

given range based on that site analysis and in accord with Zoning District 

Regulations.   

   

  * * * (16 omitted for brevity) * * * 

   

Objective 11, Policies a, b, & c) 

 

The City shall discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl by following established land use 

patterns, promoting appropriate infill and designating future land use densities based upon 

levels of services and the availability of services and facilities.  

 

Policy a) 

 Urban Sprawl will be discouraged by permitting only development that is consistent and 

compatible with the established land use pattern.  “Consistent and compatible with the 

established land use pattern” shall mean:  

(1) Only uses permitted within the Plan's land use designation and the implementing 

zoning district shall be approved.  

(2) Only development within the designated density range and intensity regulations of 

the implementing zoning district will be approved.  



 

ZC-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-28)                      Page 4 of 7 South Military Trail  

(3) Adequate facilities and services shall be available and concurrent to accommodate 

the proposed development.  

 

Policy b) 

Infill development shall be promoted within existing areas to discourage the harmful effects 

of leapfrog development. 

 

Policy c) 

Future timing of appropriate land use densities and intensities will be determined by the 

established levels of services and the availability of services and facilities to meet the 

established levels. 

   

V. Applicable City Code Provisions: 
 

Section 16-153(a)(1) of the Code relating to rezoning of property states that the proposed zoning change 

should not be contrary to the future land use map, and it should not have an adverse effect on the 

Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Division 11. Commercial Intensive (Section 16-496 through 16-506) 

 

The commercial intensive (CI) district is intended for intensive, highly automotive oriented uses 

that require a conspicuous and accessible location along thoroughfares designated as major arterials 

in the comprehensive plan.  Permitted uses and special exceptions within this designation require 

larger land areas with ample off-street parking and off-street loading space.  This district provides 

the greatest variety of uses among commercial districts and serves a geographical area that extends 

beyond the city limits.  This district may accommodate certain light manufacturing, processing, 

wholesaling and storage and warehousing uses when it is clearly demonstrated that such uses are 

compatible with other uses in the district.  It is not the intent of this district that it shall be used to 

encourage the extension of strip commercial areas. 

 

 Division 12.  Government Use (Section 16-525 through 16-536) 

 

 The government use (GU) district is intended to provide a district essentially for mapping purposes 

which will identify real property presently owned and used by any governmental entity, including 

local, state or federal government units. This district is not intended to be applied to land that is used 

by governmental entities on an easement or leased basis if title to the land is in private ownership. 

It is not the intent to classify all lands owned by government into this district but only those lands 

particularly and peculiarly related to the public welfare. 

 

VI. Staff Analysis: 
 

Land Development Staff Comments: 

 

The petition was reviewed by the Land Development Staff on October 19, 2017, and recommended for 

approval. 

 

Planning and Engineering Dept.: Incorporated into the staff report 

Building Department:   No objections 



 

ZC-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-28)                      Page 5 of 7 South Military Trail  

Fire Rescue Department:  No objections 

Public Works Department:  No objections 

PBSO District 16:   No objections 

 

Change Criteria and Findings of Fact: 

 

Section 16-153. Planning Commission Report: The Planning Commission shall submit a report to the City 

Council which shows that the Commission has studied and considered the proposed amendment for 

rezoning of property and change to the official zoning map in relation to the following, where applicable: 

 

Specific Criteria Findings: 

 

(1) Whether the proposed change would be contrary to the land use plan and would have an 

adverse effect on the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Finding: The proposed Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning will be consistent with the property’s 

proposed Commercial future land use designation.  The CI district is intended for intensive, highly 

automotive oriented uses and allows the provision of a large range of commercial uses in support 

of the Goals, Objectives, and Policies of the Comprehensive Plan directing commercial activity to 

major intersections. 

 

The proposed Government Use (GU) zoning will be consistent with the property’s proposed Public 

Institutional future land use designation.  The GU district is intended for real property presently 

owned and used by any governmental entity, including local, state or federal government units.   

 

 

(2) The existing land use pattern. 

  

Finding: The proposed Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning district and the proposed Government 

Use (GU) zoning district are compatible with the existing mix of commercial uses in the area, both 

in the City and in the County.  These designations are consistent with the predominant City 

Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning district along Lake Worth Road and South Military Trail and 

compatible with the County Urban Infill and Palm Springs Commercial General zoning districts 

nearby. 

 

(3) The possible creation of an isolated district unrelated to adjacent and nearby districts. 

 

Finding: This proposed zoning change will not create an isolated zoning district.  The parcels are 

located approximately 500 feet from the intersection of Lake Worth Road and South Military Trail 

along a commercial corridor with existing commercial uses. 

 

(4) The population density pattern and possible increase or overtaxing of the land on public 

facilities such as schools, utilities, etc. 

 

Finding: The developed sites are surrounded by developed commercial land uses on 3 sides.  Any 

future expansion or redevelopment of the site will be required to show that concurrency for all 

applicable agencies will be satisfied. 

 

(5) Whether existing district boundaries are illogically drawn in relation to existing conditions 



 

ZC-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-28)                      Page 6 of 7 South Military Trail  

on the property proposed for change. 

 

Finding: The properties are being annexed into the City and therefore require an appropriate City 

zoning designation. 

 

(6) Whether changed or changing conditions make the passage of the proposed amendment 

necessary. 

 

Finding: The properties are being annexed into the City and therefore require an appropriate City 

zoning designation. 

 

(7) Whether the proposed change will create or excessively increase traffic congestion or 

otherwise affect public safety. 

 

Finding: The proposed change will replace the existing County commercial-type zoning 

designation with a City commercial zoning designation which allows similar uses and less intensity 

of development and with the City Government Use (GU) zoning, which also provides for a 

reduction in the intensity.  Thus traffic and public safety will not be negatively impacted by either 

designation.  Furthermore, any redevelopment must satisfy Traffic Performance Standards as part 

of the site plan approval process. 

 

(8) Whether the proposed change will adversely influence living conditions in the neighborhood. 

 

Finding: The proposed zoning change will not adversely affect living conditions in the area.  The 

parcels are currently developed and are expected to continue in their current use; any future projects 

will be required to include adequate landscaping, setbacks, and buffering in accordance with the 

City Zoning Code. 

 

(9) Whether there are substantial reasons why the property cannot be used in accord with 

existing zoning. 

 

Finding: The properties are being annexed into the City and therefore requires an appropriate City 

zoning designation. 

 

(10) Whether the proposed change will constitute a grant of special privilege to an individual 

owner as contrasted with the public welfare. 

   

Finding: As evidenced by the findings above, the proposed zoning change does not constitute a 

special privilege for the property owners because the change is consistent with existing land use 

patterns, the property’s proposed future land use, the surrounding zoning designations, and the 

existing County zoning designation.  

 

VII. Staff Recommendation: 

 

Approval of ZC-17-02 through the adoption of Ordinance 2017-28. 

 

 

 

 



 

ZC-17-02 (Ord. No. 2017-28)                      Page 7 of 7 South Military Trail  

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION  - December 6, 2017  

 

 

The Planning Commission on a motion made by Commissioner Bennis and seconded by 

Commissioner Robards, by a vote of seven (7) to zero (0), recommended approval of Zoning 

change ZC-17-02 (South Military Trail), as presented by staff. 
 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION First Reading – December 18, 2017 
 

 

The City Council on a motion made by Councilwoman Dugo and seconded by Councilman 

Thelusme, voting five (5) to zero (0), approved Zoning Change ZC-17-02 (South Military Trail), 

on first reading, through Ordinance 2017-28, as presented by staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION Adoption Hearing – January 22, 2018 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 Joel Flores, Mayor 

 

 

         Attest: 

 

 

 

 Joanna Cunnigham, City Clerk 

 

 

 

Attachments:    

1. Aerial Location Map 

2. Ordinance 2017-28 

3. Zoning Map 

 







 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2017-29 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP OF 
THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE CITY’S COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN, TO CHANGE THE FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION OF ONE 
PARCEL OF LAND TOTALING APPROXIMATELY 0.16 ACRES, LOCATED 
ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF LAKE WORTH ROAD APPROXIMATELY 515 
FEET WEST OF SOUTH MILITARY TRAIL AT 4644 LAKE WORTH ROAD, 
FROM A PALM BEACH COUNTY DESIGNATION OF URBAN INFILL (PBC 
UI) TO A CITY OF GREENACRES DESIGNATION OF COMMERCIAL (CM), 
AS REQUESTED BY THE PLANNING AND ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT; 
PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING 
FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE DIVISION 
OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Greenacres, pursuant to the Local 

Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, and in 

accordance with all of its terms and provisions, has prepared and adopted a Comprehensive 

Plan which has been certified by the State of Florida Division of Community Development; 

and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 163.3187 provides for small-scale future land use amendments 

for properties ten (10) acres or less; and 

WHEREAS, the subject property meets the requirements of 163.3187; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Greenacres Planning and Engineering Department is herein 

known as the “Petitioner” for the herein described properties; and 

WHEREAS, the petitioner is requesting to change the City of Greenacres Future 

Land Use Map from a Palm Beach County future land use designation of Urban Infill (UI) to 

a City of Greenacres future land use designation of Commercial (CM) for the subject 

property; and 



Ordinance 2017-29 
4644 Lake Worth Road 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 2 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Local Planning Agency for the City of Greenacres has held a duly 

advertised public hearing on December 6, 2017, and has recommended approval of petition 

CPA-17-01 to amend the Comprehensive Plan; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Greenacres has conducted a duly 

advertised public hearing to receive comments on CPA-17-01 concerning the proposed 

amendment to the Comprehensive Plan and has considered all comments received as 

required by state law and local ordinance; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the proposed amendment ordinance is 

consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and is in the best interest of the citizens of 

the City of Greenacres. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Future Land Use Map Designation.  

 That the Future Land Use Map designation is hereby amended from a Palm Beach 

County future land use designation of Urban Infill (UI) to a City of Greenacres future land 

use designation of Commercial (CM) for the property legally described as follows:  

Legal Description  

PCN#: 00-42-44-25-00-000-3610 

All that part of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 25, Township 44 South, Range 

42 East, Palm Beach County, Florida, described as follows: 

Commence at the Northwest corner of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4 of the Northeast 

quarter (NE 1/4) of the quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, thence Southerly along  the 

West line of said Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the 



Ordinance 2017-29 
4644 Lake Worth Road 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 3 

 
 

Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) Section 25, 63.01 feet, thence Easterly parallel with the North 

line of said Section 25, 21.00 feet to the Point of Beginning thence continue Easterly, 

parallel with the said North line of Section 25, 4.0 feet, thence Southerly, parallel with the 

said West line of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the 

Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 25, 101.03 feet, thence Westerly, at right angles, 

4.0 feet, thence Northerly, parallel with the Said West line of the Northwest quarter (NE 1/4) 

of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 25. 101.10 

feet to the said Point of Beginning. 

Also that parcel of landing the Winn-Dixie Center known as Lake Worth Road in the 

Northwest quarter (NW  1/4) of Section 25, Township 44 South, Range 42 East, Palm Beach 

County, Florida, more particulary described as follows: 

Commence at the Northwest corner of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast 

quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, thence running 

South, along the West line of said Northeast quarter  (NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 

1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25 a distance of 63.01 feet, thence 

running East, parallel to the North line of said Section 25, a distance of 25.00 feet to the 

Point of Beginning, thence continuing East, along the extension of the previous course, a 

distance of 60.01 feet, thence running  South, parallel to the West of the Northeast quarter 

(NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 

25, a distance of 100.00 feet, thence running West, perpendicular to the previous course, a 

distance of 60.00 feet, thence running North perpendicular to the previous course, a 

distance of 101.05 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

 



Ordinance 2017-29 
4644 Lake Worth Road 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 4 

 
 

AND 

All that part of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 25, Township 44 South, Range 

42 East, Palm Beach County, Florida, described as follows: 

Commence at the Northwest corner of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast 

quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest  quarter  (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, thence Southerly, 

along the West line of said Northeast  quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of 

the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, 63.01  feet, thence Easterly, parallel 

with the North line of said Section 25, 85.01 feet to the Point of Beginning, thence continue 

Easterly, parallel with the said North line of Section 25, 4.0 feet, thence Southerly, parallel 

with the said West line of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) 

of the Northwest quarter  (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, 99.93 feet, thence Westerly, at right 

angles, 4.00 feet, thence Northerly, parallel with the said West line of the Northeast quarter 

(NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 

25, 100.00 feet to the said Point of Beginning. 

TOGETHER WITH EASEMENT RIGHTS TO THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED 

PARCELS: 

(INGRESS EGRESS & PARKING EASEMENT) 

All that part of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 25, Township 44 South, Range 

42 East, Palm Beach County, Florida, described as follows: 

Commence at the Northwest corner of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast 

quarter (NE 1/4) the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, thence Southerly, along 

the West line of said Northeast  quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the 

Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section  25, 63.01 feet, thence Easterly, parallel with 



Ordinance 2017-29 
4644 Lake Worth Road 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 5 

 
 

the North line of said Section 25, 89.01 feet to the Point of Beginning, thence continue 

Easterly, parallel with the said North line of Section 25, 59.01 feet, thence Southerly, parallel 

with the said West line of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast  quarter ((NE 1/4) 

of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, 59.00 feet, thence Northerly, parallel 

with the said West line of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the 

Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, 99.93 feet to the said Point of Beginning. 

(DRIVE AND SIGN EASEMENT) 

All that part of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 25, Township 44 South, Range 

42 East, Palm Beach County, Florida, described as follows: 

Commence at the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the 

Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, thence 

Southerly, along the West line of said Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast  quarter 

(NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, 63.01 feet to the Point of 

Beginning, thence Easterly, parallel  with the North line of said Section 25, 21.00 feet, 

thence Southerly, parallel with the said West line of the Northeast  quarter (NE 1/4) of the 

Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, 30.00 

feet, thence Westerly, parallel with the said North line of Section  25, 21.00 feet to the 

West line of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast  quarter (NE 1/4) of the 

Northwest  quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, thence Northerly, along said West line, 

30.00 feet to the said Point of Beginning. 

CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 0.16 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

 

 



Ordinance 2017-29 
4644 Lake Worth Road 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 6 

 
 

Section 2.  Authorization to Make Changes. 

That the Planning and Engineering Department is further authorized to make the 

necessary map change to the Comprehensive Plan to reflect the change authorized by this 

Ordinance. 

Section  3. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.   

All Ordinances or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent with 

the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Section  4. Severability. 

 If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 

Ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or void, such 

holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Ordinance and it shall be 

construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Ordinance without such 

unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of this Ordinance after 

the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid as if such part or parts 

had not been included therein, or if this Ordinance or any of the provisions thereof shall be 

held inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, kind of property, circumstances, 

or set of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect the applicability thereof to any other 

person, property or circumstances.  

Section  5.    Transmittal to the DCD. 

The Planning and Engineering Department shall send copies of the future land use 

amendment and Ordinance to the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council (TCRPC) and 

the State Division of Community Development (DCD). 

 



Ordinance 2017-29 
4644 Lake Worth Road 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 7 

 
 

Section  6.   Inclusion in the Comprehensive Plan. 

It is the intention of the City Council, entered as hereby ordained, that the provisions 

of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Comprehensive Plan of the City 

of Greenacres, Florida; that the section(s) of this Ordinance may be renumbered or re-

lettered to accomplish such intention, and that the word “Ordinance” may be changed to 

“Section”, “Article” or another word. 

Section  7.  Effective Date. 

 The effective date of this plan amendment shall be thirty-one (31) days following the 

adoption of this Ordinance in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 163.3187, F.S. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank.] 
 

 

  



Ordinance 2017-29 
4644 Lake Worth Road 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 8 

 
 

Passed on the first reading this 18th day of December, 2017. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on the second reading this 22nd day of January, 2018. 

           Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    John Tharp 
City Clerk      Council Member, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Council Member, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Council Member, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Anderson Thelusme 
       Council Member, District IV 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 
 
 

 



 

CPA-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-29)                      Page 1 of 6 Lake Worth Road Dunkin Donuts 

CPA-17-01       Revised: 12/11/17 

Exhibit "A"         12/18/17 

Date: December 1, 2017 

 

 

 

 
 

I.       Project Description: 

 

 Project: Dunkin Donuts  

 

 Petitioner: The City of Greenacres 

   Planning and Engineering Dept. 

   5800 Melaleuca Lane 

   Greenacres, FL 33463 

 

Request: Small-scale Future Land Use  

 Amendment from Palm Beach 

 County Urban Infill (UI) to City  

 Commercial (CM) 

 

   

 Locations: On the south side of Lake Worth Road 

  approximately 515 feet west of South  

  Military Trail at 4644 Lake Worth Road 

 

 

II. Site Data: 

 

 Existing Use:     Retail, Commercial, and Restaurant 

 

 Parcel Control Numbers: 00-42-44-25-00-000-3610 

 

 Parcel Size:    0.16 acres (6969.6 square feet) 

  

 Existing Future Land Use Designation: PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

  

 Proposed Future Land Use Designation: City Commercial (CM) 

 

 Existing Zoning District:   PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

 

 Proposed Zoning District:   City Commercial Intensive (CI) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

 

SITE



 

CPA-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-29)                      Page 2 of 6 Lake Worth Road Dunkin Donuts 

 

III. Annexation/Zoning History: 

 

The subject property was annexed with an Interlocal Agreement between the City of Greenacres and the 

Palm Beach County Board of County Commissioners (BCC).  The City approved the Interlocal via 

Resolution 2016-31on September 8, 2016 and Palm Beach County BCC approved the Interlocal on 

September 27, 2016.    

 

The City annexed the site but did not amend the land use or zoning of the site concurrently.  The City has 

a specific time period to apply a City land use and zoning and has determined that moving forward with a 

Commercial (CM) land use designation and Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning would be appropriate at this 

time. 

 

IV. Data and Analysis: 
 

This small-scale future land use amendment is needed in order to replace the existing Palm Beach County 

Urban Infill (PBC UI) future land use designation with an appropriate City designation as a result of 

annexation.  The Advisory Future Land Use Map (Map FLU 9) recommends Commercial (CM) for the 

subject parcels. This is the same as the proposed designation. 

 

Land Use Analysis: 

 

After a review of the proposed land use amendment, staff has determined that the application is consistent 

with the provisions of Chapter 163, FS, because it is compatible with adjacent properties, meets concurrency 

requirements, and is consistent with the provisions of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  Specifically, these 

are as follows: 

 

A. Compatibility: 

 

A review of the adjacent existing and anticipated land uses (see attached Aerial Photo) shows that 

the proposed land use is compatible with the adjacent properties. 

 

North:  To the north of the subject parcels (located north of Lake Worth Road) is a property 

containing the retail center known as Mil-Lake Plaza.  Mil-Lake Plaza has a future land use 

designation of Commercial (CM) and a zoning designation of Commercial Intensive (CI).  The 

proposed designation is identical to the adjacent land use; therefore, there will be no adverse impacts 

from the proposed future land use amendment. 

 

South, East, & West:  To the south, east, and west of the subject parcel is a property containing the 

retail center known as Office Depot Plaza.  Office Depot Plaza has a future land use designation of 

Table 1:  Surrounding Existing Land Use, Future Land Use, Zoning District: 

Direction Existing Land Use Future Land Use Zoning District 

North Mil-Lake Plaza City Commercial (City CM) City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 

South Office Depot Plaza City Commercial (City CM) City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 

East Office Depot Plaza City Commercial (City CM) City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 

West Office Depot Plaza City Commercial (City CM) City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 



 

CPA-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-29)                      Page 3 of 6 Lake Worth Road Dunkin Donuts 

Commercial (CM) and a zoning designation of Commercial Intensive (CI).  The proposed 

designation is identical to the adjacent land use; therefore, there will be no adverse impacts from the 

proposed future land use amendment. 

 

Conclusions:  Reviewing the adjacent existing commercial development shows that the proposed 

City Commercial future land use designation is compatible with the surrounding properties and the 

intense commercial activity at this intersection of two Urban Principal Arterial roadways. 

 

B. Concurrency: 
 

As previously stated, this future land use amendment will provide these sites with a City future land 

use designation based on their annexation. Additional impacts on services are expected to be 

insignificant since the proposed City future land use designation allows less intensity (at up to 0.35 

FAR) than the existing County future land use designation (at up to 1.0 FAR).  Furthermore, an 

applicant will be required to meet the level of service (LOS) standards for this site through the site 

and development approval process for any future redevelopment. 

 

C. Consistency with City’s Comprehensive Plan: 
 

The proposed amendment is consistent with the Goals, Objectives and Policies of the 

Comprehensive Plan, specifically: 

 

 1. Future Land Use Element 

 

  Objective 8, Policy c) 

 

 Land development regulations adopted to implement this Comprehensive Plan shall be 

based on and be consistent with the following standards for residential densities and 

commercial intensities as indicated below: 

 

  * * * (1 through 10 and 12 through 16 omitted for brevity) * * *  

 

  (11) Commercial Intensive – 30% lot coverage, 0.35 FAR 

 

  Objective 10, Policy e) 

 

The City of Greenacres shall regulate and control all future land use activities which affect 

the topography, materials beneath the land’s surface and availability of services by 

implementing the following policies: 

 

Policy e) 

 In reviewing future land use amendments in the City’s Future Annexation Area, the City 

will utilize the Advisory Future Land Use Map (Map 9) as the basis for the assignment of 

future land use designations as well as consideration of the goals, objectives and policies 

contained in this Element and an analysis of the proposal’s compatibility with adjacent 

uses in order to determine the appropriate designation. 

Objective 11, Policies a, b, c & d) 

 



 

CPA-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-29)                      Page 4 of 6 Lake Worth Road Dunkin Donuts 

The City shall discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl by following established land use 

patterns, promoting appropriate infill and designating future land use densities based upon 

levels of services and the availability of services and facilities.  

 

Policy a) 

 Urban Sprawl will be discouraged by permitting only development that is consistent and 

compatible with the established land use pattern.  “Consistent and compatible with the 

established land use pattern” shall mean:  

(1) Only uses permitted within the Plan's land use designation and the implementing 

zoning district shall be approved.  

(2) Only development within the designated density range and intensity regulations of 

the implementing zoning district will be approved.  

(3) Adequate facilities and services shall be available and concurrent to accommodate 

the proposed development.  

 

Policy b) 

Infill development shall be promoted within existing areas to discourage the harmful effects 

of leapfrog development. 

 

Policy c) 

Future timing of appropriate land use densities and intensities will be determined by the 

established levels of services and the availability of services and facilities to meet the 

established levels. 

 

  Policy d) 

 The City will continue to utilize the nodal system (Section VI A.1 and A.2 of the Future 

Land Use Element) in conjunction with Map 5 to designate Future Land Uses in activity 

spheres and infill corridors. 

 

V. Consistency with the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council SRPP: 
 

The proposed future land use amendment represents a means of increasing commercial opportunities in the 

City through the process of infill development, rather than approving land uses which will encourage urban 

sprawl.  This is consistent with the intent of Regional Goal 2.1, which discourages urban sprawl 

development patterns and Regional Goal 5.1, which states that redevelopment, revitalization and infill of 

existing neighborhoods and districts should be encouraged.  The proposed Commercial (CM) future land 

use designation is consistent with the intent of Regional Goal 8.1 which states that development should take 

place concurrent with or after the provision of necessary infrastructure and services.  As a result, the 

proposed future land use amendment is consistent with the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council’s 

Strategic Regional Policy Plan (SRPP) concerning appropriate development patterns. 

 

VI. Consistency with Chapter 163, Florida Statutes: 
 

The amendment is consistent with the provisions of Chapter 163.3184 and 163.3187 F.S. concerning the 

processing of a small-scale future land use amendment to the Comprehensive Plan, as well as providing all 

applicable data and analysis to support the amendment. 

 



 

CPA-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-29)                      Page 5 of 6 Lake Worth Road Dunkin Donuts 

In summary, this small-scale future land use amendment to the City’s Comprehensive Plan is compatible 

with adjacent land uses, adequately addresses concurrency issues, and is consistent with the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan, the Regional Planning Council’s SRPP and Chapter 163, F.S. 

 

VII. Staff Recommendation: 
 

Approval of CPA-17-01 through the adoption of Ordinance 2017-29. 

 

 

  



 

CPA-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-29)                      Page 6 of 6 Lake Worth Road Dunkin Donuts 

 

 

LOCAL PLANNING AGENCY ACTION – December 6, 2017 
 

 

The Planning Commission on a motion made by Commissioner Bennis and seconded by 

Commissioner Fitzgerald, by a vote of seven (7) to zero (0), recommended approval of 

Comprehensive Plan Amendment CPA-17-01 (Dunkin Donuts at 4644 Lake Worth Road), as 

presented by staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION First Reading – December 18, 2017 
 

 

The City Council on a motion made by Councilman Noble and seconded by Deputy Mayor 

Bousquet, voting five (5) to zero (0), approved Comprehensive Plan Amendment CPA-17-01 

(Dunkin Donuts at 4644 Lake Worth Road), on first reading, through Ordinance 2017-29, as 

presented by staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION Adoption Hearing – January 22, 2018 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Joel Flores, Mayor 

 

 

         Attest: 

 

 

 

 Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 

 

 

 

Attachments: 

 1. Aerial Photograph 

 2. Future Land Use Map 

 3. Ordinance 2017-29 

 



Mi
l L

ak
e C

t

Rome Ct

Mi
l P

on
d C

t

Mi
l S

tre
am

 C
t

Caesar
Cir

Walla
ce

St
RS-HD  

RS-MD

RS-LD

Lake Worth Rd

S M
ilita

ry 
Tra

il

CM

CM

PI

¯

Legend
CITY BOUNDARY

FUTURE LAND USE CATEGORIES
RIGHT OF WAY
RESIDENTIAL LOW DENSITY (RS-LD)
RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM DENSITY (RS-MD)
RESIDENTIAL HIGH DENSITY(RS-HD)
MIXED USE (MU)
COMMERCIAL (CM)
RECREATION OPEN SPACE (RO)
PUBLIC INSTITUTIONAL (PI)
STUDY AREA ZONE (SAZ)

PREPARED BY THE PLANNING AND ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT

500
FeetDate: 12/8/2017

FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT (CPA-17-01)
DUNKIN DONUTS (4644 LAKE WORTH ROAD)

CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA

CM

SITE







 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2017-30 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, APPROVING THE APPLICATION FOR A 
ZONING CHANGE FOR ONE PARCEL OF LAND TOTALING 
APPROXIMATELY 0.16 ACRES, LOCATED ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF 
LAKE WORTH ROAD APPROXIMATELY 515 FEET WEST OF SOUTH 
MILITARY TRAIL AT 4644 LAKE WORTH ROAD, FROM A PALM BEACH 
COUNTY ZONING DESIGNATION OF URBAN INFILL (PBC UI) TO A CITY 
OF GREENACRES ZONING DESIGNATION OF COMMERCIAL 
INTENSIVE (CI), AS REQUESTED BY THE PLANNING AND 
ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT; PROVIDING FOR CHANGES TO THE 
OFFICIAL ZONING MAP; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING 
ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Greenacres Planning and Engineering Department is herein 

known as the "Petitioner" for the herein described property; and  

WHEREAS, the Petitioner is requesting a rezoning of one (1) parcel of land totaling 

approximately 0.16 acres more or less, from a Palm Beach County zoning designation of 

Urban Infill (UI) to a City of Greenacres zoning designation of Commercial Intensive (CI); 

and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has held a duly advertised public hearing on 

December 6, 2017 and reviewed the application for compliance with the staff findings 

relevant to the criteria for a Zoning Change as detailed in the Land Development Staff 

Report and Recommendation, Exhibit “A”, dated December 1, 2017, as revised; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Greenacres has conducted a duly 

advertised public hearing on December 18, 2017 and has considered all comments 

received concerning the proposed amendment to the Official Zoning Map as required by 

state law and local ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the proposed zoning change ordinance is 

consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan, said Plan being adopted pursuant to the 



Ordinance 2017-30 
4644 Lake Worth Road 

ZC-17-01 
Page 2 

 
 

Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act and 

certified by the State of Florida Division of Community Development; and 

WHEREAS,  the City Council of the City of Greenacres further finds that, in 

accordance with Exhibit “A”, “Land Development Staff Report and Recommendation”, 

dated December 1, 2017, as revised (attached), the proposed amendment changing the 

zoning district of one (1) parcel of land totaling approximately 0.16 acres more or less, from 

a Palm Beach County zoning designation of Urban Infill (UI) to a City of Greenacres zoning 

designation of Commercial Intensive (CI), is in the best interest of the citizens of the City of 

Greenacres. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Zoning District Amendment. 

The request by the petitioner to change the Official Zoning Map to include a zoning 

change of one (1) parcel of land totaling approximately 0.16 acres more or less, from a 

Palm Beach County zoning designation of Urban Infill (UI) to a City of Greenacres zoning 

designation of Commercial Intensive (CI), is hereby granted for the property located on the 

south side of Lake Worth Road approximately 515 feet west of South Military Trail at 4644 

Lake Worth Road, legally described as follows:  

Legal Description  

PCN#: 00-42-44-25-00-000-3610 

All that part of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 25, Township 44 South, Range 

42 East, Palm Beach County, Florida, described as follows: 



Ordinance 2017-30 
4644 Lake Worth Road 

ZC-17-01 
Page 3 

 
 

Commence at the Northwest corner of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4 of the Northeast 

quarter (NE 1/4) of the quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, thence Southerly along  the 

West line of said Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the 

Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) Section 25, 63.01 feet, thence Easterly parallel with the North 

line of said Section 25, 21.00 feet to the Point of Beginning thence continue Easterly, 

parallel with the said North line of Section 25, 4.0 feet, thence Southerly, parallel with the 

said West line of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the 

Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 25, 101.03 feet, thence Westerly, at right angles, 

4.0 feet, thence Northerly, parallel with the Said West line of the Northwest quarter (NE 

1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 25. 

101.10 feet to the said Point of Beginning. 

Also that parcel of landing the Winn-Dixie Center known as Lake Worth Road in the 

Northwest quarter (NW  1/4) of Section 25, Township 44 South, Range 42 East, Palm 

Beach County, Florida, more particulary described as follows: 

Commence at the Northwest corner of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast 

quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, thence running 

South, along the West line of said Northeast quarter  (NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 

1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25 a distance of 63.01 feet, thence 

running East, parallel to the North line of said Section 25, a distance of 25.00 feet to the 

Point of Beginning, thence continuing East, along the extension of the previous course, a 

distance of 60.01 feet, thence running  South, parallel to the West of the Northeast quarter 

(NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said 

Section 25, a distance of 100.00 feet, thence running West, perpendicular to the previous 



Ordinance 2017-30 
4644 Lake Worth Road 

ZC-17-01 
Page 4 

 
 

course, a distance of 60.00 feet, thence running North perpendicular to the previous 

course, a distance of 101.05 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

AND 

All that part of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 25, Township 44 South, Range 

42 East, Palm Beach County, Florida, described as follows: 

Commence at the Northwest corner of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast 

quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest  quarter  (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, thence Southerly, 

along the West line of said Northeast  quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) 

of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, 63.01  feet, thence Easterly, parallel 

with the North line of said Section 25, 85.01 feet to the Point of Beginning, thence continue 

Easterly, parallel with the said North line of Section 25, 4.0 feet, thence Southerly, parallel 

with the said West line of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) 

of the Northwest quarter  (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, 99.93 feet, thence Westerly, at right 

angles, 4.00 feet, thence Northerly, parallel with the said West line of the Northeast quarter 

(NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said 

Section 25, 100.00 feet to the said Point of Beginning. 

TOGETHER WITH EASEMENT RIGHTS TO THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED 

PARCELS: 

(INGRESS EGRESS & PARKING EASEMENT) 

All that part of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 25, Township 44 South, Range 

42 East, Palm Beach County, Florida, described as follows: 

Commence at the Northwest corner of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast 

quarter (NE 1/4) the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, thence Southerly, 



Ordinance 2017-30 
4644 Lake Worth Road 

ZC-17-01 
Page 5 

 
 

along the West line of said Northeast  quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) 

of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section  25, 63.01 feet, thence Easterly, parallel 

with the North line of said Section 25, 89.01 feet to the Point of Beginning, thence continue 

Easterly, parallel with the said North line of Section 25, 59.01 feet, thence Southerly, 

parallel with the said West line of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast  quarter 

((NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, 59.00 feet, thence 

Northerly, parallel with the said West line of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) Northeast 

quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, 99.93 feet to the 

said Point of Beginning. 

(DRIVE AND SIGN EASEMENT) 

All that part of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 25, Township 44 South, Range 

42 East, Palm Beach County, Florida, described as follows: 

Commence at the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the 

Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, thence 

Southerly, along the West line of said Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast  quarter 

(NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, 63.01 feet to the Point of 

Beginning, thence Easterly, parallel  with the North line of said Section 25, 21.00 feet, 

thence Southerly, parallel with the said West line of the Northeast  quarter (NE 1/4) of 

the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northwest quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, 

30.00 feet, thence Westerly, parallel with the said North line of Section  25, 21.00 feet to 

the West line of the Northeast quarter (NE 1/4) of the Northeast  quarter (NE 1/4) of the 

Northwest  quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 25, thence Northerly, along said West line, 

30.00 feet to the said Point of Beginning. 



Ordinance 2017-30 
4644 Lake Worth Road 

ZC-17-01 
Page 6 

 
 

CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 0.16 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 
 
Section 2. Authorization to Make Changes. 

That the Planning and Engineering Department is further directed to make the 

necessary changes to the City of Greenacres Official Zoning Map to reflect the changes 

authorized by this Ordinance. 

Section 3. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.   

All Ordinances or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent with 

the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Section 4. Severability. 

 If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 

Ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or void, 

such holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Ordinance and it 

shall be construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Ordinance without such 

unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of this Ordinance 

after the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid as if such part or 

parts had not been included therein, or if this Ordinance or any of the provisions thereof 

shall be held inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, kind of property, 

circumstances, or set of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect the applicability 

thereof to any other person, property or circumstances. 

Section 5. Effective Date. 

The provisions of this Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 



Ordinance 2017-30 
4644 Lake Worth Road 

ZC-17-01 
Page 7 

 
 

Passed on the first reading this 18th day of December, 2017. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on the second reading this 22nd day of January, 2018. 

           Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    John Tharp 
City Clerk      Council Member, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Council Member, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Council Member, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Anderson Thelusme 
       Council Member, District IV 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 
 
 

 
 



 

ZC-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-30)                      Page 1 of 6 Lake Worth Road Dunkin Donuts  

ZC-17-01         Revised: 12/11/17 

Exhibit "A"           12/18/17 

Date: December 1, 2017 

 

 

 

 
 

I.       Project Description: 

 

 Project: Dunkin Donuts  

 

 Petitioner: The City of Greenacres 

   Planning and Engineering Dept. 

   5800 Melaleuca Lane 

   Greenacres, FL 33463 

 

Request:  Zoning Change from Palm Beach 

   County Urban Infill (UI) to City 

   Commercial Intensive (CI)  

   

 Locations: On the south side of Lake Worth Road 

  approximately 515 feet west of South  

  Military Trail at 4644 Lake Worth Road 

 

 

II. Site Data: 

 

 Existing Use:     Retail, Commercial, and Restaurant 

 

 Parcel Control Numbers: 00-42-44-25-00-000-3610 

 

 Parcel Size:    0.16 acres (6969.6 square feet) 

  

 Existing Future Land Use Designation: PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

  

 Proposed Future Land Use Designation: City Commercial (CM) 

 

 Existing Zoning District:   PBC Urban Infill (UI) 

 

 Proposed Zoning District:   City Commercial Intensive (CI) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

 

SITE



 

ZC-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-30)                      Page 2 of 6 Lake Worth Road Dunkin Donuts  

 

III. Annexation/Zoning History: 

 

The subject property was annexed with an Interlocal Agreement between the City of Greenacres and the 

Palm Beach County Board of County Commissioners (BCC).  The City approved the Interlocal via 

Resolution 2016-31on September 8, 2016 and Palm Beach County BCC approved the Interlocal on 

September 27, 2016.    

 

The City annexed the site but did not amend the land use or zoning of the site concurrently.  The City has 

a specific time period to apply a City land use and zoning and has determined that moving forward with a 

Commercial (CM) land use designation and Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning would be appropriate at this 

time. 

 

IV. Applicable Comprehensive Plan Provisions: 

 

The Comprehensive Plan includes the following planning objectives and policies related to this proposed 

zoning change request: 

 

 1. Future Land Use Element  

 

  Objective 8, Policy c) 

 

Land development regulations adopted to implement this Comprehensive Plan shall be based 

on and be consistent with the following standards for residential densities and commercial 

intensities as indicated below: 

 

* * * (1 through 10 and 12 through 16 omitted for brevity) * * *  

 

(11) Commercial Intensive – 30% lot coverage, 0.35 FAR 

 

Objective 11, Policies a, b, & c) 

 

The City shall discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl by following established land use 

patterns, promoting appropriate infill and designating future land use densities based upon 

levels of services and the availability of services and facilities.  

 

Policy a) 

 Urban Sprawl will be discouraged by permitting only development that is consistent and 

compatible with the established land use pattern.  “Consistent and compatible with the 

established land use pattern” shall mean:  

Table 1:  Surrounding Existing Land Use, Future Land Use, Zoning District: 

Direction Existing Land Use Future Land Use Zoning District 

North Mil-Lake Plaza City Commercial (City CM) City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 

South Office Depot Plaza City Commercial (City CM) City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 

East Office Depot Plaza City Commercial (City CM) City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 

West Office Depot Plaza City Commercial (City CM) City Commercial Intensive (City CI) 



 

ZC-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-30)                      Page 3 of 6 Lake Worth Road Dunkin Donuts  

(1) Only uses permitted within the Plan's land use designation and the implementing 

zoning district shall be approved.  

(2) Only development within the designated density range and intensity regulations of 

the implementing zoning district will be approved.  

(3) Adequate facilities and services shall be available and concurrent to accommodate 

the proposed development.  

 

Policy b) 

Infill development shall be promoted within existing areas to discourage the harmful effects 

of leapfrog development. 

 

Policy c) 

Future timing of appropriate land use densities and intensities will be determined by the 

established levels of services and the availability of services and facilities to meet the 

established levels. 

   

V. Applicable City Code Provisions: 
 

Section 16-153(a)(1) of the Code relating to rezoning of property states that the proposed zoning change 

should not be contrary to the future land use map, and it should not have an adverse effect on the 

Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Division 11. Commercial Intensive (Section 16-496 through 16-506) 

 

The commercial intensive (CI) district is intended for intensive, highly automotive oriented uses 

that require a conspicuous and accessible location along thoroughfares designated as major arterials 

in the comprehensive plan.  Permitted uses and special exceptions within this designation require 

larger land areas with ample off-street parking and off-street loading space.  This district provides 

the greatest variety of uses among commercial districts and serves a geographical area that extends 

beyond the city limits.  This district may accommodate certain light manufacturing, processing, 

wholesaling and storage and warehousing uses when it is clearly demonstrated that such uses are 

compatible with other uses in the district.  It is not the intent of this district that it shall be used to 

encourage the extension of strip commercial areas. 

 

VI. Staff Analysis: 
 

Land Development Staff Comments: 

 

The petition was reviewed by the Land Development Staff on June 16, 2016, and recommended for 

approval. 

 

Planning and Engineering Dept.: Incorporated into the staff report 

Building Department:   No objections 

Fire Rescue Department:  No objections 

Public Works Department:  No objections 

PBSO District 16:   No objections 

 

Change Criteria and Findings of Fact: 



 

ZC-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-30)                      Page 4 of 6 Lake Worth Road Dunkin Donuts  

 

Section 16-153. Planning Commission Report: The Planning Commission shall submit a report to the City 

Council which shows that the Commission has studied and considered the proposed amendment for 

rezoning of property and change to the official zoning map in relation to the following, where applicable: 

 

Specific Criteria Findings: 

 

(1) Whether the proposed change would be contrary to the land use plan and would have an 

adverse effect on the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Finding: The proposed Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning will be consistent with the property’s 

proposed Commercial future land use designation.  The CI district is intended for intensive, highly 

automotive oriented uses and allows the provision of a large range of commercial uses in support 

of the Goals, Objectives, and Policies of the Comprehensive Plan directing commercial activity to 

major intersections. 

 

(2) The existing land use pattern. 

  

Finding: The proposed Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning district is compatible with the existing 

mix of commercial uses in the area, both in the City and in the County.  This designation is 

consistent with the predominant City Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning district along Lake Worth 

Road and South Military Trail and compatible with the County Urban Infill and Palm Springs 

Commercial General zoning districts nearby. 

 

(3) The possible creation of an isolated district unrelated to adjacent and nearby districts. 

 

Finding: This proposed zoning change will not create an isolated zoning district.  The parcels are 

located in close proximity to the intersection of Lake Worth Road and South Military Trail at a 

commercialized intersection with existing commercial uses and designations on all four sides 

including an identical designations surrounding the parcel. 

 

(4) The population density pattern and possible increase or overtaxing of the land on public 

facilities such as schools, utilities, etc. 

 

Finding: This developed site is surrounded by developed commercial land uses on 4 sides.  Any 

future expansion or redevelopment of the site will be required to show that concurrency for all 

applicable agencies will be satisfied. 

 

(5) Whether existing district boundaries are illogically drawn in relation to existing conditions 

on the property proposed for change. 

 

Finding: The property was previously annexed into the City and therefore requires an appropriate 

City zoning designation. 

 

(6) Whether changed or changing conditions make the passage of the proposed amendment 

necessary. 

 

Finding: The property was previously annexed into the City and therefore requires an appropriate 

City zoning designation. 



 

ZC-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-30)                      Page 5 of 6 Lake Worth Road Dunkin Donuts  

 

(7) Whether the proposed change will create or excessively increase traffic congestion or 

otherwise affect public safety. 

 

Finding: The proposed change will replace the existing County commercial-type zoning 

designation with a City commercial zoning designation which allows similar uses and less intensity 

of development.  Thus traffic and public safety will not be negatively impacted.  Furthermore, any 

redevelopment must satisfy Traffic Performance Standards as part of the site plan approval process. 

 

(8) Whether the proposed change will adversely influence living conditions in the neighborhood. 

 

Finding: The proposed zoning change will not adversely affect living conditions in the area.  The 

parcels are currently developed and are expected to continue in their current use; any future projects 

will be required to include adequate landscaping, setbacks, and buffering in accordance with the 

City Zoning Code. 

 

(9) Whether there are substantial reasons why the property cannot be used in accord with 

existing zoning. 

 

Finding: The property was previously annexed into the City and therefore requires an appropriate 

City zoning designation. 

 

(10) Whether the proposed change will constitute a grant of special privilege to an individual 

owner as contrasted with the public welfare. 

   

Finding: As evidenced by the findings above, the proposed zoning change does not constitute a 

special privilege for the property owners because the change is consistent with existing land use 

patterns, the property’s proposed future land use, the surrounding zoning designations, and the 

existing County zoning designation.  

 

VII. Staff Recommendation: 

 

Approval of ZC-17-01 through the adoption of Ordinance 2017-30. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

ZC-17-01 (Ord. No. 2017-30)                      Page 6 of 6 Lake Worth Road Dunkin Donuts  

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION – December 6, 2017  
 

 

The Planning Commission on a motion made by Commissioner Clements and seconded by 

Commissioner Buzek, by a vote of seven (7) to zero (0), recommended approval of Zoning 

change ZC-17-01 (Dunkin Donuts at 4644 Lake Worth Road), as presented by staff. 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION First Reading – December18, 2017 
 

 

The City Council on a motion made by Deputy Mayor Bousquet and seconded by Councilman 

Tharp, voting five (5) to zero (0), approved Zoning Change ZC-17-01 (Dunkin Donuts at 4644 

Lake Worth Road), on first reading, through Ordinance 2017-30, as presented by staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION Adoption Hearing – January 22, 2018 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 Joel Flores, Mayor 

 

 

         Attest: 

 

 

 

 Joanna Cunnigham, City Clerk 

 

 

 

Attachments:    

1. Aerial Location Map 

2. Zoning Map 

3. Ordinance 2017-30 

 

 



¯

Legend
CITY BOUNDARY
RIGHT OF WAY
LAKE WORTH ROAD URBAN CORRIDOR OVERLAY DISTRICT
AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL (.4 UNITS/ACRE) (AR)
RESIDENTIAL LOW - 3 (RL-3)
RESIDENTIAL ESTATE (1UNIT/ACRE) (RE)
RESIDENTIAL LOW DENSITY (3 UNITS/ACRE) (RL-1)
RESIDENTIAL LOW DENSITY (4 UNITS/ACRE) (RL-2)
RESIDENTIAL LOW DENSITY (5 UNITS/ACRE) (RL-3)
RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM DENSITY 1 (6 UNITS/ACRE) (RM-1)
RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM DENSITY 2 (7 UNITS/ACRE) (RM-2)
RESIDENTIAL HIGH DENSITY (10 UNITS/ACRE) (RH)
RESIDENTIAL MOBILE HOME (RMH)
MIXED DEVELOPMENT RESIDENTIAL (MXD-R)
MIXED DEVELOPMENT COMMERCIAL  (MXD-C)
MIXED DEVELOPMENT OFFICE (MXD-O)
MIXED DEVELOPMENT - ORIGINAL SECTION (MXD-OS)
OFFICE PROFESSIONAL AND INSTITUTIONAL (OPI)
COMMERCIAL NEIGHBORHOOD (CN)
COMMERCIAL GENERAL (CG)
COMMERCIAL INTENSIVE (CI)
GOVERNMENT USE (GU)
STUDY AREA ZONE (SAZ)

PREPARED BY THE PLANNING AND ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT

500
FeetDate: 12/8/2017

ZONING CHANGE (ZC-17-01) 
DUNKIN DONUTS (4644 LAKE WORTH ROAD)

CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA
Mi

l L
ak

e C
t

Rome Ct

Mi
l P

on
d C

t

Mi
l S

tre
am

 C
t

Caesar
Cir

Mi
l R

ac
e C

t

Walla
ce

St

Lake Worth Rd

S M
ilita

ry 
Tra

il

PALM 
BEACH 
VILLAS

II

CIRH

RM-2
CI

CG

PALM 
BEACH 
VILLAS

II GU

SITE

CI







ORDINANCE NO. 2017-32 
 
AN ORDINANCE ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, ANNEXING THREE (3) PARCELS OF LAND 
TOTALING APPROXIMATELY 2.14 ACRES, LOCATED AT THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF CHICKASAW ROAD AND SOUTH JOG 
ROAD, AS REQUESTED BY THE PETITIONER, DUNAY, MISKEL AND 
BACKMAN, LLP, AGENT FOR THE OWNERS, MORRIS W. SPERBER 
TRUST, ROSLYN L. EMERSON AND CRAIG B. MORRIS; PROVIDING 
FOR REDEFINING THE BOUNDARY LINES OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES TO INCLUDE THE SUBJECT PROPERTY IN THE CITY’S 
OFFICIAL BOUNDARY MAP; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 
WHEREAS, Dunay, Miskel and Backman, LLP, agent for the owners, Morris W. 

Sperber Trust, Roslyn L. Emerson and Craig B. Morris is herein known as the 

“Petitioner” for the herein described property; and 

WHEREAS, the petitioner has requested by written petition to have the property 

voluntarily annexed into the municipal limits of the City of Greenacres; and 

WHEREAS, the subject property hereinafter described is reasonably compact 

and contiguous to the corporate limits of the City of Greenacres, thus making said 

petition for annexation appropriate at this time; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Greenacres has heretofore been authorized to annex 

lands in accordance with Section 171.044 of the Florida Statutes; and 

 WHEREAS, the City of Greenacres Planning Commission has held a duly 

advertised public hearing on December 6, 2017 and recommended approval of petition  

ANX-13-03 to annex the subject property into the City of Greenacres; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Greenacres further finds that, in 

accordance with the Land Development Staff Report and Recommendation dated 

November 15, 2017, attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and by this reference made a part 



Ordinance 2017-32 
NW Corner of Chickasaw and S. Jog Road 

Annexation 
Page 2 

 
hereof, the proposed annexation of the subject property is in the best interest of the 

citizens of the City of Greenacres, and is in accordance with State and local law. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 Section 1. The City Council finds that the written petition for voluntary 

annexation filed with the City bears the signature of the owners of the real property and 

is hereby annexed into the City of Greenacres, Florida. 

 Section 2. The boundary lines of Greenacres, Florida, are hereby redefined to 

include the described real property lying in Palm Beach County into the City’s Boundary 

Map: 

Legal Description   

PCNs: 00-42-43-27-05-022-0406  

The North 205 feet of the South 305 feet of Tract 40, Block 22, The Palm 

Beach Farms Company, Plat No. 3, according to the map or plat thereof 

as recorded in Plat Book 2, Page 45, Public Records of Palm Beach 

County, Florida. 

PCNs: 00-42-43-27-05-022-0402 and 00-42-43-27-05-022-0405  

The East 145 feet of the South 100 feet of Tract 40, Block 22, and the 

West 58.77 feet of the East 203.77 feet of the South 100 feet of Tract 40, 

Block 22, Palm Beach Farms Company Plat No. 3, according to the Plat 

thereof recorded in Plat Book 2, pages 45-54, inclusive, of the Public 

Records of Palm Beach County, Florida,   



Ordinance 2017-32 
NW Corner of Chickasaw and S. Jog Road 

Annexation 
Page 3 

 
 AND: 

The right-of-way adjacent thereto. 

CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 2.14 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

The above described parcel is subject to road right-of-ways, easements 

and reservations of record. 

The above described real property is hereby annexed by and declared 

to be within the corporate limits of the City of Greenacres, Florida. 

Section 3. That the above described real property shall immediately become 

subject to all of the franchises, privileges, immunities, debts, obligations, liabilities, 

ordinances and laws to which lands in the City of Greenacres are now or may be 

subjected to and persons residing thereon shall be deemed citizens of the City of 

Greenacres. 

Section 4. The annexation of the subject property, including adjacent roads, 

alleys, or the like, if any, shall not be deemed accepted by the City of any maintenance 

responsibility for such roads, alleys, or the like, unless otherwise specifically initiated by 

the City pursuant to current requirements and conditions. 

Section 5. The City Manager is hereby directed to do all things necessary to 

effectuate this annexation. 

Section 6. The City Clerk is hereby directed to file a copy of this Ordinance 

with the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Palm Beach County and with the Department of 

State. 

Section 7. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.   



Ordinance 2017-32 
NW Corner of Chickasaw and S. Jog Road 

Annexation 
Page 4 

 
All Ordinances or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent 

with the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Section 8. Severability. 

If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of 

this Ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or 

void, such holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Ordinance 

and it shall be construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Ordinance 

without such unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of 

this Ordinance after the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid 

as if such part or parts had not been included therein, or if this Ordinance or any of the 

provisions thereof shall be held inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, 

kind of property, circumstances, or set of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect 

the applicability thereof to any other person, property or circumstances.  

Section 9. Effective Date. 

 The provisions of this Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption. 



Ordinance 2017-32 
NW Corner of Chickasaw and S. Jog Road 

Annexation 
Page 5 

 
Passed on the first reading this 18th day of December, 2017. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED on the second reading this 22nd day of January, 

2018. 

            Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    John Tharp 
City Clerk      Council Member, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Council Member, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Council Member, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Anderson Thelusme 
       Council Member, District IV 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 



 

ANX-13-03 (Ord. No. 2017-32)                       Page 1 of 6                    NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road 

                                                                                                               (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

ANX-13-03       Revised: 12/06/17 

Exhibit "A"  12/18/17 

Date: November 15, 2017 

 

 

 

 
 

I.  Project Description: 

 

 Project: NW Corner of Chickasaw & Jog Road 

                                    (Aldi) 

                                    

 Petitioner: Dwayne L. Dickerson, Esq., Dunay 

                                    Miskel & Backman, LLP 

                                    14 SE 4th Street, Suite 36 

                                    Boca Raton, FL 33432 

                                    Agent for the owners: 

                                    Morris W. Sperber Trust, Rosyln L. 

                                    Emerson, Craig B. Morris            

    

Request: Voluntary Annexation 

 

Location: The northwest corner of S. Jog Road 

   and Chickasaw Road. 

    

 

II. Site Data: 

 

 Existing Use:     Undeveloped / Vacant Single-Family Residence 

 

 Proposed Use: Grocery Store   

 

 Parcel Control Numbers:  00-42-43-27-05-022-0405 

     00-42-43-27-05-022-0402 

     00-42-43-27-05-022-0406 

      

 Parcel Size:   2.11 acres (91,911.6 square feet) 

  

 Existing Future Land Use Designation: PBC Low Residential 3-units per acre (LR-3) 

  

 Proposed Future Land Use Designation: City Commercial (CM) 

 

 Existing Zoning District:   PBC Agriculture Residential (AR) 

 

 Proposed Zoning District:   City Commercial Neighborhood (CN) 

 

Lake                Worth 

        LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

 



 

ANX-13-03 (Ord. No. 2017-32)                       Page 2 of 6                    NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road 

                                                                                                               (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

 

 

 

 

III. Annexation/Zoning History: 

 

Unincorporated Parcels 

 

The approximately 2.11-acres of land are located in unincorporated Palm Beach County within the 

identified Future Annexation Area of the City.  The area to be annexed contains three (3) individual 

parcels each having a Palm Beach County future land use designation of Low Residential 3-units per acre 

(LR-3). Concurrent petitions for comprehensive plan amendment (CPA-13-04), zoning change (ZC-13-

04), and site plan approval (SP-17-02) are being processed for the properties. These parcels are all 

undeveloped with no prior approvals.   

 

A site plan approval request (SP-17-02) by the property owners is proposing to develop the site under the 

authority of the City of Greenacres and in conformity with the City’s zoning code.  The site and 

development plan is being processed concurrently. 

 

North Parcel- City of Greenacres 

 

The proposed overall development also includes the approximately 1.09-acre site adjacent to the north. 

The site was annexed into the City on August 2, 2010 (ANX-10-01) and was given the MXD-O zoning 

designation and is part of the rezoning application (ZC-13-04) being processed concurrent with this 

request.  

     

IV. Applicable Comprehensive Plan Provisions: 

 

Annexation Element: 
 

Objective 1, page ANX 19 -   addresses efficiency, concurrency and levels of service (LOS). 

 

Objective 1, Policy c), page ANX 19 -  prohibits creating enclaves, or pocket areas which are not 

reasonably compact. 

 

Objective 2, page ANX 19 -   encourages orderly annexation in the future annexation 

Table 1:  Surrounding Existing Land Use, Future Land Use, Zoning District: 

Direction Existing Land Use Future Land Use Zoning District 

North Vacant Single-Family 
Residence 

City Mixed Use (MU) City Mixed Development-Office  
(MXD-O) 

South Undeveloped land  City Mixed Use (MU) City Mixed Development-Office  
(MXD-O) 

East Villages of Woodlake City Residential Medium Density 
(RS-MD)  

City Residential Medium (RM-2) 

West Single-Family Residence Low Residential 3 units per acre  
(LR-3) 

PBC Agricultural Residential (AR) 



 

ANX-13-03 (Ord. No. 2017-32)                       Page 3 of 6                    NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road 

                                                                                                               (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

boundaries through coordination with adjacent municipalities 

and Palm Beach County.   

 

Objective 4, page ANX 20 -   supports annexations which are deemed necessary to promote 

the orderly growth of the City and will not adversely impact 

the City's ability to fulfill other plans. 

       

Objective 4, Policy a), page ANX 20- outlines six guidelines for annexations. 

 

V. Applicable City Code and Statutory Provisions:  
 

Article III, Section 10 of the City Charter relating to annexation 

Sec. 16-8 of the City Code relating to future land use and zoning of annexed areas 

Chapter 171, Florida Statutes relating to annexation 
 

VI. Staff Analysis: 
 

Land Development Staff Comments: 

 

On July 13, 2017 and August 10, 2017, the Land Development Staff reviewed this petition and 

recommended approval subject to the conditions contained in this staff report. 

 

Planning and Engineering Dept.: Incorporated into the staff report 

Building Department:   No objections 

Fire Rescue Department:  No objections 

Public Works Department:  No objections 

PBSO District 16:   No objections 

 

Background: 

 

The properties proposed for annexation are contiguous to the City’s boundary on the north, south as well 

as across South Jog Road to the east. The proposed development site is within an existing enclave. The 

subject properties being annexed are currently undeveloped. Prior to developing the site, the property 

owners have requested voluntary annexation into the City of Greenacres. The subject parcels are within 

the City’s Future Annexation Area, and its annexation will reduce the size of an existing unincorporated 

pocket. 

 

Annexation Findings of Fact: 
 

The proposed annexation is consistent with the Goals, Objectives and Policies of the City's 

Comprehensive Plan.  The site is contiguous to the City and is within the boundaries of the Future 

Annexation Area in the Annexation Element of the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

In addition, the following six guidelines, as specified in Objective 4(a) on page 20 and 21 of the 

Annexation Element within the Comprehensive Plan, must be addressed.  The guidelines apply to both 

City-initiated and voluntary annexations. 

 



 

ANX-13-03 (Ord. No. 2017-32)                       Page 4 of 6                    NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road 

                                                                                                               (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

Specific Criteria Findings: 

 

In all future annexation requests, the City shall be guided by the following: 

 

(1) The area in question must meet statutory requirements pertaining to contiguity, 

compactness and irregular shape. 
 

 Findings: The annexation petition is consistent with the provisions in Chapter 171, F.S., 

specifically because the subject property is a regular polygon in shape, reasonably compact, and 

immediately contiguous to the City’s municipal boundary to the north and south. 

 

(2) The petitioned area must have "a unity of interests with the City" and be "a logical 

extension" of the City’s boundaries. 
 

 Findings: The subject property has "a unity of interests with the City" and is "a logical 

extension" of the City of Greenacres boundaries.  The property is identified as part of the Future 

Annexation Area in the City's Comprehensive Plan. The site is also contiguous to the City’s 

boundary on the north and south.  Annexation of these parcels will significantly clarify 

jurisdictional boundaries along this portion of South Jog Road and reduce the size of an existing 

enclave. 

 

(3) The area shall have a growth potential sufficient to warrant the extension of services. 
 

 Findings: The area has a growth potential sufficient to warrant the extension of services.  

Redevelopment activity is taking place in the immediate vicinity and adjacent properties within 

the City are already receiving City services.  Since the properties proposed for annexation are 

contiguous to the City, there will be minimal effect upon infrastructure and services provided 

within the City. 

 

(4) The deficit of income against expense to the City shall not be unreasonable. 
 

 Findings: The annexation of the subject properties will not create an unreasonable expense or 

burden upon the City of Greenacres.  Since the subject sites are contiguous to developed parcels 

already in the City, the annexation will not adversely affect the City’s overall level of service, nor 

will it substantially increase costs to the City to warrant the annexation unreasonable. 

 

(5) The advantages both to the City of Greenacres and to the petitioned area must outweigh the 

disadvantages. 

 

 Findings: The advantages to both the City of Greenacres and the proposed annexation area 

outweigh any potential disadvantages. The annexation of the subject properties will allow the City 

and the petitioner to improve the identity of the area as being part of Greenacres and help reduce 

service delivery inefficiency and confusion.  Since these properties are located in a pocket of land 

within Palm Beach County, the annexation of the subject property will benefit both Palm Beach 

County and the City of Greenacres by increasing service delivery efficiency. 

 

(6) The City of Greenacres must be willing and able to provide City services as well as ensure 



 

ANX-13-03 (Ord. No. 2017-32)                       Page 5 of 6                    NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road 

                                                                                                               (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

that services provided by Palm Beach County are furnished to the newly annexed area 

within a reasonable time. 
 

 Findings: The City of Greenacres will be able to provide City services to the subject properties 

without degrading any established levels of service, since the City is already providing 

governmental services to nearby developments along South Jog Road in the immediate area of the 

subject parcels. 

 

 

Summary of Annexation Criteria: 

 

The site meets all of the guidelines specified in the City's Comprehensive Plan and Chapter 171 of the 

Florida Statutes for the annexation of property.  It is a logical extension of the City's boundaries in a 

location identified as part of the City's Future Annexation Area. 

 

VII. Staff Recommendation: 

 

Approval of ANX-13-03 through the adoption of Ordinance 2017-32. 

  



 

ANX-13-03 (Ord. No. 2017-32)                       Page 6 of 6                    NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road 

                                                                                                               (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION – December 6, 2017 

 

 

The Planning Commission on a motion made by Commissioner Robarts and seconded by 

Commissioner Bennis, by a vote of five (5) to two (2), recommended approval of Annexation 

ANX-13-03 (NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road), as presented by staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION First Reading – December 18, 2017 

 

 

The City Council on a motion made by Councilwoman Dugo and seconded by Councilman 

Tharp, voting five (5) to zero (0), approved Annexation ANX-13-03 (NW Corner Chickasaw / 

S. Jog Road), on first reading, through Ordinance 2017-32, as presented by staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION Adoption Hearing – January 22, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

   Joel Flores, Mayor 

 

 

       Attest: 

 

__________________________________ 

Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 

 

 

 

Attachments:    

 

1. Aerial Map 

2. Ordinance 2017-32 

 

 































S J
og

 R
d

Dodd Rd

Perimeter Dr

Sil
ve

r B
utto

nwood
Dr

Jog Park Dr

Woodlake C irRo
se

wo
od

Ln
Ta

ll C
yp

res
s C

ir
He

ath
er 

Dr
 E

He
ath

er 
Dr

 W

Newstead Ct

Luc

erne Park Dr

33rd Ct S

Wedgewood Cir

Ch
ick

as
aw

 C
ir

Ramblewood C ir

We
dg

ew
oo

d L
ak

es
S

Harw
ich

Ct

Silk Dogwood Ln

White Sabal Palm Ln

Jog Park Dr

MU

PI

MU

MU
MU

RS-MD

MU

RS-MD
RS-LD

RS-MD

¯

Legend
CITY BOUNDARY

FUTURE LAND USE CATEGORIES
RIGHT OF WAY
RESIDENTIAL LOW DENSITY (RS-LD)
RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM DENSITY (RS-MD)
RESIDENTIAL HIGH DENSITY(RS-HD)
MIXED USE (MU)
COMMERCIAL (CM)
RECREATION OPEN SPACE (RO)
PUBLIC INSTITUTIONAL (PI)
STUDY AREA ZONE (SAZ)

PREPARED BY THE PLANNING AND ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT

500
FeetDate: 12/8/2017

FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT (CPA-13-04)
NW CORNER OF CHICKASAW & JOG RD (ALDI) 

CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA

CM

SITE



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2017-33 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP OF 
THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE CITY’S COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN, TO CHANGE THE FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION OF FOUR 
PARCELS OF LAND TOTALING APPROXIMATELY 3.201 ACRES, 
LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF CHICKASAW ROAD AND 
SOUTH JOG ROAD, FROM A PALM BEACH COUNTY DESIGNATION OF 
LOW RESIDENTIAL 3 UNITS PER ACRE (RL-3) IN PART AND FROM CITY 
MIXED USE (MU) TO A CITY OF GREENACRES DESIGNATION OF 
COMMERCIAL (CM) LOCATED ON THE WEST SIDE OF SOUTH JOG 
ROAD AND NORTH OF CHICKASAW ROAD AS REQUESTED BY THE 
PETITIONER, DUNAY, MISKEL AND BACKMAN, LLP, AGENT FOR THE 
OWNERS, MORRIS W. SPERBER TRUST, ROSLYN L. EMERSON, CRAIG 
B. MORRIS AND SHAHVEER DHATIGARA; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE DIVISION OF COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Greenacres, pursuant to the Local 

Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, and in 

accordance with all of its terms and provisions, has prepared and adopted a Comprehensive 

Plan which has been certified by the State of Florida Division of Community Development; 

and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 163.3187 provides for small-scale future land use amendments 

for properties ten (10) acres or less; and 

WHEREAS, the subject property meets the requirements of 163.3187; and 

WHEREAS, the petitioner is requesting to change the City of Greenacres Future 

Land Use Map from a Palm Beach County future land use designation of Low Residential 3 

units per acre (LR-3) and City Mixed Use (MU) to a City of Greenacres future land use 

designation of Commercial (CM) for the subject property; and 



Ordinance 2017-33 
NW Corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 2 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Local Planning Agency for the City of Greenacres has held a duly 

advertised public hearing on December 6, 2017, and has recommended approval of petition 

CPA-13-04 to amend the Comprehensive Plan; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Greenacres has conducted a duly 

advertised public hearing to receive comments on CPA-13-04 concerning the proposed 

amendment to the Comprehensive Plan and has considered all comments received as 

required by state law and local ordinance; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the proposed amendment ordinance is 

consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and is in the best interest of the citizens of 

the City of Greenacres. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Future Land Use Map Designation.  

 That the Future Land Use Map designation is hereby amended from a Palm Beach 

County future land use designation of Low Residential 3 units per acre (LR-3) and City Mixed 

Use (MU) to a City of Greenacres future land use designation of Commercial (CM) for the 

property legally described as follows:  

Legal Descriptions 

PCNs: 00-42-43-27-05-022-0406  

The North 205 feet of the South 305 feet of Tract 40, Block 22, The Palm 

Beach Farms Company, Plat No. 3, according to the map or plat thereof as 

recorded in Plat Book 2, Page 45, Public Records of Palm Beach County, 

Florida. 



Ordinance 2017-33 
NW Corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 3 

 
 

PCNs: 00-42-43-27-05-022-0402 and 00-42-43-27-05-022-0405  

The East 145 feet of the South 100 feet of Tract 40, Block 22, and the West 

58.77 feet of the East 203.77 feet of the South 100 feet of Tract 40, Block 22, 

Palm Beach Farms Company Plat No. 3, according to the Plat thereof 

recorded in Plat Book 2, pages 45-54, inclusive, of the Public Records of Palm 

Beach County, Florida.   

PCN: 18-42-43-27-05-022-0403  
 
The North 134 feet of the South 439 feet of Tract 40, Block 22, The Palm Beach 

Farms Co. Plat No. 3, according to the Plat thereof on file in the office of the Clerk of 

the Circuit Court in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, in Plat Book 2, Pages 45 to 

54 inclusive, of the Public Records of Palm Beach County, Florida. 

CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 3.201 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

The above described parcels are subject to road right-of-ways, easements 

and reservations of record. 

Section  2. Authorization to Make Changes. 

That the Planning and Engineering Department is further authorized to make the 

necessary map change to the Comprehensive Plan to reflect the change authorized by this 

Ordinance. 

Section  3. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.   

All Ordinances or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent with 

the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Section  4. Severability. 



Ordinance 2017-33 
NW Corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 4 

 
 

 If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 

Ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or void, such 

holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Ordinance and it shall be 

construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Ordinance without such 

unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of this Ordinance after 

the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid as if such part or parts 

had not been included therein, or if this Ordinance or any of the provisions thereof shall be 

held inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, kind of property, circumstances, 

or set of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect the applicability thereof to any other 

person, property or circumstances.  

Section  5.    Transmittal to the DCD. 
 
The Planning and Engineering Department shall send copies of the future land use 

amendment and Ordinance to the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council (TCRPC) and 

the State Division of Community Development (DCD). 

Section  6.   Inclusion in the Comprehensive Plan. 

It is the intention of the City Council, entered as hereby ordained, that the provisions 

of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Comprehensive Plan of the City 

of Greenacres, Florida; that the section(s) of this Ordinance may be renumbered or re-

lettered to accomplish such intention, and that the word “Ordinance” may be changed to 

“Section”, “Article” or another word. 

Section  7.  Effective Date. 

 The effective date of this plan amendment shall be thirty-one (31) days following the 

adoption of this Ordinance in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 163.3187, F.S. 



Ordinance 2017-33 
NW Corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road 

Future Land Use Amendment 
Page 5 

 
 

Passed on the first reading this 18th day of December, 2017. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED on the second reading this 22nd day of January, 2018. 

           Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    John Tharp 
City Clerk      Council Member, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Council Member, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Council Member, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Anderson Thelusme 
       Council Member, District IV 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 
 

 



 

CPA-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-33)                      Page 1 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road  

                                                                                                    (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

CPA-13-04       Revised: 12/06/17 

Exhibit "A"        12/18/17 

Date: November 15, 2017 

 

 

 

 
 

I.  Project Description: 

 

 Project: NW Corner of Chickasaw & Jog Rd 

                                    (Aldi)  

 

 Petitioner: Dwayne L. Dickerson, Esq., Dunay 

                                    Miskel & Backman, LLP 

                                    14 SE 4th Street, Suite 36 

                                    Boca Raton, FL 33432 

                                    Agent for the owners: 

                                    Morris W. Sperber Trust, Rosyln L. 

                                    Emerson, Craig B. Morris and 

                                    Shahveer Dhatigara      

    

Request: Small-scale Future Land Use  

 Amendment from Palm Beach 

 County Low Residential 3-units 

                           per acre (LR-3) and City Mixed Use 

                           (MU) to City Commercial (CM) 

                             

Location: The northwest corner of South Jog Road 

   and Chickasaw Road. 

 

II. Site Data: 

 

 Existing Use:     Undeveloped / Vacant  

 

 Proposed Use: Grocery Store    

 

 Parcel Control Numbers:  18-42-43-27-05-022-0403 

     00-42-43-27-05-022-0402; -405; and -0406; 

      

 Parcel Size:   3.201 acres (139,435.56 square feet) 

  

 Existing Future Land Use Designation: PBC Low Residential 3 units per acre (LR/3) and 

                                                                                    City Mixed Use (MU) 

  

 Proposed Future Land Use Designation: City Commercial (CM) 

 

Lake                Worth 

        LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

 

  

 



 

CPA-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-33)                      Page 2 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road  

                                                                                                    (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

 Existing Zoning District:   PBC Agricultural Residential (AR) and 

                                                                                    City Mixed Use Development Office (MXD-O) 

 

 Proposed Zoning District:   City Commercial Neighborhood (CN) 

 

 

III. Annexation/Zoning History: 

 

Unincorporated Parcels 

 

The approximately 2.11-acres of land are located in unincorporated Palm Beach County within the 

identified Future Annexation Area of the City.  The area to be annexed contains three (3) individual 

parcels each having a Palm Beach County future land use designation of Low Residential 3-units per 

acres (LR-3). Concurrent petitions for an annexation (ANX-16-01), zoning change (ZC-13-04), and site 

plan approval (SP-17-02) are being processed for the site..  These parcels are all undeveloped with no 

prior approvals.   

 

A site plan approval request (SP-17-02) by the property owners is proposing to develop the site as a 

Grocery Store under the authority of the City of Greenacres and in conformity with the City’s zoning 

code.  The project is anticipated to follow the same hearing schedule. 

 

North Parcel – City of Greenacres 

 

The proposed overall development also includes the approximately 1.09-acre site adjacent to the north, 

which is developed as a single-family home that is currently vacant. The site was annexed into the City on 

August 2, 2010 (ANX-10-01) and was given the MXD-O zoning designation and is part of the rezoning 

application (ZC-13-04) being processed concurrent with this request.  

 

IV. Data and Analysis: 
 

This small-scale future land use amendment is needed in order to replace the existing Palm Beach County 

Low Residential 3-units per acre (LR-3) future land use designation and City Mixed Use (MU) with an 

appropriate City designation as a result of the annexation and proposed development.  The Advisory 

Future Land Use Map (Map FLU 9) recommends Mixed Use (MU) for the subject parcels; however, staff 

recommends the Commercial (CM) land use due to the location of the site along a major thoroughfare 

(South Jog Road) and at a minor intersection with Chickasaw Road / Woodlake Blvd, as well as the 

Table 1:  Surrounding Existing Land Use, Future Land Use, Zoning District: 

Direction Existing Land Use Future Land Use Zoning District 

North Vacant Single-Family 
Residence 

City Mixed Use (MU) City Mixed Development-Office  
(MXD-O) 

South Undeveloped land  City Mixed Use (MU) City Mixed Development-Office  
(MXD-O) 

East Villages of Woodlakes City Residential Medium Density 
(RS-MD)  

City Residential Medium (RM-2) 

West Single-Family Residence Low Residential 3 units per acre  
(LR-3) 

PBC Agricultural Residential (AR) 



 

CPA-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-33)                      Page 3 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road  

                                                                                                    (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

potential for a future mid-block signalization at the intersection due to location in the middle of two major 

intersections to the north and south. 

 

The proposed City of Greenacres Commercial (CM) future land use designation allows a wide range of 

uses intended to serve community commercial demand. The proposed Commercial Neighborhood zoning 

district has a maximum Floor Area Ration of 0.30 and 20% lot coverage. In addition, the Comprehensive 

Plan recognizes South Jog Road as a small to mid-sized in scale commercial area and calls for 

commercial land uses within the corridor. 

 

Project Description: 

 

As stated above, a concurrent petition for site and development plan approval is under review and the site 

is anticipated to be developed with a one-story 22,978 sq. ft. grocery store building in the future. Site 

configuration, setbacks, and landscape buffers will be required to meet City Code requirements.   

 

Land Use Analysis: 

 

After a review of the proposed land use amendment, staff has determined that the application is consistent 

with the provisions of Chapter 163, FS, because it is compatible with adjacent properties, meets 

concurrency requirements, and is consistent with the provisions of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  

Specifically, these are as follows: 

 

A. Compatibility: 

 

A review of the adjacent existing and anticipated land uses (see attached Aerial Photo) shows that 

the proposed land use is compatible with the adjacent properties. 

 

North:  To the north of the subject parcels (located north of S. Jog Rd) is a property containing the 

medical office building (under construction) known as Jog Professional.  Jog Professional has a 

future land use designation of Mixed Use (MU) and a zoning designation of Mixed Use 

Development-Office (MXD-O).  The site consists of a 17,300 square foot medical office building.  

The proposed designation is compatible to the adjacent land use; therefore, there will be no 

adverse impacts from the proposed future land use amendment. 

 

South:  To the south of the subject area across Chickasaw Road, is a property containing a place of 

worship (Church of God Seventh Day).  The property has a City Mixed Use (MU) and a zoning 

designation of Mixed Use Development-Office (MXD-O). The proposed amendment will 

maintain consistency through the use of adequate buffering, landscaping and setbacks required on 

commercial parcels.  

 

East: To the east of the subject parcels across South Jog Road is a residential planned unit 

development known as (Villages of Woodlake).  Villages of Woodlake has a City Residential-

Medium (RS-MD) future land use designation and a Residential Medium-2 (RM-2) zoning district 

with a Special Exception for a Planned Unit Development Master Plan (PUD). The proposed 

designation will have no negative impacts to the residential development as these two sites are 

separated by a major thoroughfare (S. Jog Rd) as well as required Right-Of-Way (ROW) 

landscape buffers. 



 

CPA-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-33)                      Page 4 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road  

                                                                                                    (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

 

West:  The subject parcels abuts three (3) residential properties to the west not being annexed into 

the City’s limits.  The properties have a PBC Low Residential 3 units per acre (LR-3) with a PBC 

Agricultural Residential zoning district (AR). The proposed designation is required to provide 

landscape buffers as well as a 6-foot high concrete wall to buffer between residential and 

commercial uses. Therefore, there will be no adverse impacts from the proposed future land use 

amendment.  

 

Conclusions:  Reviewing the adjacent existing commercial and residential development shows that 

the proposed City Commercial future land use designation is compatible with the surrounding 

properties and the commercial activity along this major thoroughfare and supports the City’s goal 

of attracting small to mid-size commercial activity along South Jog Road.  In regards to the 

compatibility of the proposed land use designation, the densities and intensities of the proposed 

land use are not in conflict with those of surrounding properties along South Jog Road, as defined 

in the Comprehensive Plan.  The density and intensity, are similar and compatible.  

 

B. Concurrency: 
 

The site is currently undeveloped/vacant and any future changes to the property will be evaluated 

for compliance with level of service standards by all relevant agencies as part of site and 

development plan approval. The applicant meets the level of service (LOS) standards through 

commitment for service from Palm Beach County Traffic Engineering, the Lake Worth Drainage 

District, and the Palm Beach County Water Utilities Department for the anticipated intensity 

permitted by the proposed land use. 

 

C. Consistency with City’s Comprehensive Plan: 
 

The proposed amendment is consistent with the Goals, Objectives and Policies of the 

Comprehensive Plan, specifically: 

 

 1. Future Land Use Element 

 

  Objective 8, Policy c) 

 

 Land development regulations adopted to implement this Comprehensive Plan shall be 

based on and be consistent with the following standards for residential densities and 

commercial intensities as indicated below: 

 

  * * * (1 through 10 and 12 through 16 omitted for brevity) * * *  

 

  (11) Commercial Neighborhood – 20% lot coverage, 0.30 FAR 

 

  Objective 10, Policy e) 

 

The City of Greenacres shall regulate and control all future land use activities which affect 

the topography, materials beneath the land’s surface and availability of services by 

implementing the following policies: 



 

CPA-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-33)                      Page 5 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road  

                                                                                                    (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

 

Policy e) 

 In reviewing future land use amendments in the City’s Future Annexation Area, the City 

will utilize the Advisory Future Land Use Map (Map 9) as the basis for the assignment of 

future land use designations as well as consideration of the goals, objectives and policies 

contained in this Element and an analysis of the proposal’s compatibility with adjacent 

uses in order to determine the appropriate designation. 

Objective 11, Policies a, b, c & d) 

 

The City shall discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl by following established land 

use patterns, promoting appropriate infill and designating future land use densities based 

upon levels of services and the availability of services and facilities.  

 

Policy a) 

 Urban Sprawl will be discouraged by permitting only development that is consistent and 

compatible with the established land use pattern.  “Consistent and compatible with the 

established land use pattern” shall mean:  

(1) Only uses permitted within the Plan's land use designation and the implementing 

zoning district shall be approved.  

(2) Only development within the designated density range and intensity regulations of 

the implementing zoning district will be approved.  

(3) Adequate facilities and services shall be available and concurrent to accommodate 

the proposed development.  

 

Policy b) 

Infill development shall be promoted within existing areas to discourage the harmful 

effects of leapfrog development. 

 

Policy c) 

Future timing of appropriate land use densities and intensities will be determined by the 

established levels of services and the availability of services and facilities to meet the 

established levels. 

 

  Policy d) 

 The City will continue to utilize the nodal system (Section VI A.1 and A.2 of the Future 

Land Use Element) in conjunction with Map 5 to designate Future Land Uses in activity 

spheres and infill corridors. 

                

“Establishment of Activity Centers; Map No. 5 FLU” identifies primary and secondary spheres for 

commercial activity. The City’s planning approach calls for the containment of future commercial use 

within the spheres of activity. However, existing land use patterns along portions of Jog Road may 

necessitate the commercial or mixed-use infill of certain parcels along this roadway.  In any event, strip 

commercial development will be discouraged in these areas by proper site planning and enhanced design. 

 

While the proposed intersection is not designated on the current land element “Establishment of Activity 

Centers; Map No. 5 FLU,” as a secondary activity center, the Comprehensive Plan allows for the land use 



 

CPA-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-33)                      Page 6 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road  

                                                                                                    (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

designation provided it is an in-fill parcel along the roadway, which is also a consideration in determining 

the land use of a parcel.   

  

In further consideration of the proposed land use, the Biscayne Boulevard / Woodlake Boulevard right-of-

way is designated as a city collector, and it feeds into the intersection being considered in this request, it 

meets the initial requirement for an official designation as a secondary sphere as defined in the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan.  Development potential in the area and roadway or intersection improvements will 

provide further support to re-evaluate the intersection in the future. 

 

Therefore; staff recommends the Commercial (CM) land use designation with the Commercial 

Neighborhood zoning district (CN) which will be able to provide less intensive commercial services to the 

surrounding neighborhoods and discourage strip commercial development. 

 

V. Consistency with the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council SRPP: 
 

The proposed future land use amendment represents a means of increasing commercial opportunities in 

the City through the process of infill development, rather than approving land uses which will encourage 

urban sprawl.  This is consistent with the intent of Regional Goal 2.1, which discourages urban sprawl 

development patterns and Regional Goal 5.1, which states that redevelopment, revitalization and infill of 

existing neighborhoods and districts should be encouraged.  The proposed Commercial (CM) future land 

use designation is consistent with the intent of Regional Goal 8.1 which states that development should 

take place concurrent with or after the provision of necessary infrastructure and services.  As a result, the 

proposed future land use amendment is consistent with the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council’s 

Strategic Regional Policy Plan (SRPP) concerning appropriate development patterns. 

 

VI. Consistency with Chapter 163, Florida Statutes: 
 

The amendment is consistent with the provisions of Chapter 163.3184 and 163.3187 F.S. concerning the 

processing of a small-scale future land use amendment to the Comprehensive Plan, as well as providing 

all applicable data and analysis to support the amendment. 

 

In summary, this small-scale future land use amendment to the City’s Comprehensive Plan is compatible 

with adjacent land uses, adequately addresses concurrency issues, and is consistent with the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan, the Regional Planning Council’s SRPP and Chapter 163, F.S. 

 

 

VII. Staff Recommendation: 
 

Approval of CPA-13-04 through the adoption of Ordinance 2017-33.  



 

CPA-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-33)                      Page 7 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road  

                                                                                                    (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

 

LOCAL PLANNING AGENCY ACTION – December 6, 2017 
 

 

The Local Planning Agency on a motion made by Commissioner Bennis and seconded by 

Commissioner Robarts, by a vote of seven (7) to zero (0), recommended approval of 

Comprehensive Plan Amendment CPA-13-04 (NW Corner of Chickasaw / S. Jog Road), as 

presented by staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION First Reading – December 18, 2017 
 

 

The City Council on a motion made by Councilwoman Dugo and seconded by Councilman 

Noble, voting four (4) to zero (1) with Councilman Tharp dissenting, approved Comprehensive 

Plan Amendment CPA-13-04 (NW Corner of Chickasaw / S. Jog Road), on first reading, through 

Ordinance 2017-33, as presented by staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION Adoption Hearing – January 22, 2018 
 

 

 

 

 

 Joel Flores, Mayor 

 

 

         Attest: 

 

  

 Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 

 

 

 

Attachments: 

 1. Aerial Photograph 

 2. Future Land Use Map 

 3. Ordinance 2017-33 

 



CITY OF GREENACRES 

Council Agenda Memo 
2018.01 KF3.008 

TO: Mayor and City Council 

THROUGH: Andrea McCue, City Manager 

FROM: Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, AICP, Planning and Engineering Director 

SUBJECT: Ordinance 2017-34, ZC-13-04 
Zoning Change for NW Corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road 
City Council Agenda Item for 01-22-18 

DATE: January 8, 2018 

COPIES: James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
File: ZC-13-04 

Background: 

Dunay, Miskel and Backman, LLP, agent for the owners, Morris W. Sperber Trust, Rosyln 
L. Emerson, Craig B. Morris and Shahveer Dhatigara for four parcels of land totaling
approximately 3.201 acres, is requesting a zoning change. Three (3) parcels are located
in unincorporated Palm Beach County and one (1) parcel is within City limits on the
northwest corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road. Currently, three (3) of the
parcels have a Palm Beach County zoning designation of Agricultural Residential (AR)
and one ( 1) parcel has a City zoning designation of Mixed Use Development Office (MXD-
0 ). Requests for a voluntary annexation (ANX-13-03), comprehensive plan amendment
(CPA-13-04) and a site and development plan (SP-17-02) are being processed
concurrently with this application.

The Land Development Staff has reviewed this proposal and recommended approval, 
followed by the Planning Commission recommending approval by a vote of 7-0 at their 
meeting on December 6, 2017. The City Council approved this petition on first reading 
December 18, 2017 by a unanimous vote of 4-1. 

Analysis: 

The proposed rezoning from Palm Beach County Agricultural Residential (AR) and City 
Mixed Use Development Office (MXD-0) to City Commercial Neighborhood (CN) is 
consistent with the site's proposed Commercial (CM) future land use designation. In 





¯

Legend
CITY BOUNDARY
RIGHT OF WAY
LAKE WORTH ROAD URBAN CORRIDOR OVERLAY DISTRICT
AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL (.4 UNITS/ACRE) (AR)
RESIDENTIAL LOW - 3 (RL-3)
RESIDENTIAL ESTATE (1UNIT/ACRE) (RE)
RESIDENTIAL LOW DENSITY (3 UNITS/ACRE) (RL-1)
RESIDENTIAL LOW DENSITY (4 UNITS/ACRE) (RL-2)
RESIDENTIAL LOW DENSITY (5 UNITS/ACRE) (RL-3)
RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM DENSITY 1 (6 UNITS/ACRE) (RM-1)
RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM DENSITY 2 (7 UNITS/ACRE) (RM-2)
RESIDENTIAL HIGH DENSITY (10 UNITS/ACRE) (RH)
RESIDENTIAL MOBILE HOME (RMH)
MIXED DEVELOPMENT RESIDENTIAL (MXD-R)
MIXED DEVELOPMENT COMMERCIAL  (MXD-C)
MIXED DEVELOPMENT OFFICE (MXD-O)
MIXED DEVELOPMENT - ORIGINAL SECTION (MXD-OS)
OFFICE PROFESSIONAL AND INSTITUTIONAL (OPI)
COMMERCIAL NEIGHBORHOOD (CN)
COMMERCIAL GENERAL (CG)
COMMERCIAL INTENSIVE (CI)
GOVERNMENT USE (GU)
STUDY AREA ZONE (SAZ)

PREPARED BY THE PLANNING AND ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT

500
FeetDate: 12/8/2017

ZONING CHANGE (ZC-13-04) 
NW CORNER OF CHICKASAW & JOG RD (ALDI) 

CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA

S J
og

 R
d

Dodd Rd

Perimeter Dr
Sil

ve
r B

utto
nwood

Dr

Jog Park Dr

Woodlake C irRo
se

wo
od

Ln
Ta

ll C
yp

res
s C

ir
He

ath
er 

Dr
 E

He
ath

er 
Dr

 W

Newstead Ct

Luc

erne Park Dr

33rd Ct S

Wedgewood Cir

Ch
ick

as
aw

 C
ir

Ramblewood C ir

We
dg

ew
oo

d L
ak

es
S

Harw
ich

Ct

Silk Dogwood Ln

Blue Baneberry Ln

White Sabal Palm Ln

Jog Park Dr

BUTTONWOOD
WEST

RAMBLEWOOD

PARK 
POINTE

HEATHER 
ESTATES

VILLAGES OF 
WOODLAKERM-2

RM-1

RL-3

RL-3

RM-2

GU

MXD-O

MXD-O

MXD-O

MXD-O

MXD-O

BUTTONWOOD
WEST

RAMBLEWOOD

PARK 
POINTE

HEATHER 
ESTATES

VILLAGES OF 
WOODLAKE

SITE

MXD-OMXD-O
CN



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2017-34 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, APPROVING THE APPLICATION FOR A 
ZONING CHANGE FOR FOUR (4) PARCELS OF LAND TOTALING 
APPROXIMATELY 3.201 ACRES, LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST 
CORNER OF CHICKASAW ROAD AND SOUTH JOG ROAD, FROM A 
PALM BEACH COUNTY ZONING DESIGNATION OF AGRICULTURAL 
(AR) IN PART AND CITY MIXED USE DEVELOPMENT OFFICE ZONING 
(MXD-O) TO A CITY OF GREENACRES ZONING DESIGNATION OF 
COMMERCIAL NEIGHBORHOOD (CN), AS REQUESTED BY THE 
PETITIONER, DUNAY, MISKEL AND BACKMAN, LLP, AGENT FOR THE 
OWNERS, MORRIS W. SPERBER TRUST, ROSLYN L. EMERSON, CRAIG 
B. MORRIS AND SHAHVEER DHATIGARA; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

WHEREAS, Dunay, Miskel and Backman, LLP, agent for the owners, Morris W. 

Sperber Trust, Roslyn L. Emerson, Craig B. Morris and Shahveer Dhatigara, is herein known 

as the “Petitioner” for the herein described property; and 

WHEREAS, the Petitioner is requesting a rezoning of four (4) parcels of land totaling 

approximately 3.201 acres more or less, from a Palm beach County zoning designation of 

Agricultural (AR) in part and City Mixed Use Development Office (MXD-O) in part to a City 

of Greenacres zoning designation of Commercial Neighborhood (CN); and 

WHEREAS,  the Planning Commission has held a duly advertised public hearing on 

December 6, 2017 and reviewed the application for compliance with the staff findings 

relevant to the criteria for a Zoning Change as detailed in the Land Development Staff Report 

and Recommendation, Exhibit “A”, dated November 15, 2017, as revised; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Greenacres has conducted a duly 

advertised public hearing on January 22, 2018 and has considered all comments received 

concerning the proposed amendment to the Official Zoning Map as required by state law 

and local ordinances; and  



Ordinance 2017-34 
NW Corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road 

Zoning Change 
Page 2 

 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the proposed zoning change ordinance is 

consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan, said Plan being adopted pursuant to the 

Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act and 

certified by the State of Florida Division of Community Development; and  

WHEREAS,  the City Council of the City of Greenacres further finds that, in 

accordance with Exhibit “A”, “Land Development Staff Report and Recommendation”, dated 

November 15, 2017, as revised (attached), the proposed amendment changing the zoning 

district of four (4) parcels of land totaling approximately 3.201 acres more or less, from a 

Palm Beach County zoning designation of Agricultural (AR) in part and City Mixed Use 

Development Office (MXD-O) to a City of Greenacres zoning designation of Commercial 

Neighborhood (CN), is in the best interest of the citizens of the City of Greenacres. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Zoning District Amendment. 

The request by the petitioner to change the Official Zoning Map to include a zoning 

change of four (4) parcels of land totaling approximately 3.201 acres more or less, from a 

Palm Beach County zoning designation of Agricultural (AR) in part and City Mixed Use  

Development Office (MXD-O) to a City of Greenacres zoning designation of Commercial 

Neighborhood (CN), is hereby granted for the properties located at the northwest corner of 

Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road, legally described as follows: 

Legal Descriptions 

PCNs: 00-42-43-27-05-022-0406  



Ordinance 2017-34 
NW Corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road 

Zoning Change 
Page 3 

 
 

The North 205 feet of the South 305 feet of Tract 40, Block 22, The Palm 

Beach Farms Company, Plat No. 3, according to the map or plat thereof as 

recorded in Plat Book 2, Page 45, Public Records of Palm Beach County, 

Florida. 

PCNs: 00-42-43-27-05-022-0402 and 00-42-43-27-05-022-0405  

The East 145 feet of the South 100 feet of Tract 40, Block 22, and the West 

58.77 feet of the East 203.77 feet of the South 100 feet of Tract 40, Block 22, 

Palm Beach Farms Company Plat No. 3, according to the Plat thereof 

recorded in Plat Book 2, pages 45-54, inclusive, of the Public Records of Palm 

Beach County, Florida.   

PCN: 18-42-43-27-05-022-0403  
 
The North 134 feet of the South 439 feet of Tract 40, Block 22, The Palm Beach 

Farms Co. Plat No. 3, according to the Plat thereof on file in the office of the Clerk of 

the Circuit Court in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, in Plat Book 2, Pages 45 to 

54 inclusive, of the Public Records of Palm Beach County, Florida. 

CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 3.201 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

The above described parcels are subject to road right-of-ways, easements 

and reservations of record. 

Section 2. Authorization to Make Changes. 

That the Planning and Engineering Department is further directed to make the 

necessary changes to the City of Greenacres Official Zoning Map to reflect the changes 

authorized by this Ordinance. 

Section 3. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.   



Ordinance 2017-34 
NW Corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road 

Zoning Change 
Page 4 

 
 

All Ordinances or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent with 

the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Section 4. Severability. 

 If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 

Ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or void, such 

holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Ordinance and it shall be 

construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Ordinance without such 

unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of this Ordinance after 

the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid as if such part or parts 

had not been included therein, or if this Ordinance or any of the provisions thereof shall be 

held inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, kind of property, circumstances, 

or set of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect the applicability thereof to any other 

person, property or circumstances. 

Section 5. Effective Date. 

The provisions of this Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 

  



Ordinance 2017-34 
NW Corner of Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road 

Zoning Change 
Page 5 

 
 

Passed on the first reading this 18th day of December, 2017. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED on the second reading this 22nd day of January, 2018. 

           Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    John Tharp 
City Clerk      Council Member, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Council Member, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Council Member, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Anderson Thelusme 
       Council Member, District IV 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 
 

 



 

ZC-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-34) Page 1 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road 

                                                                                              (Aldi Grocery Store) 

ZC-13-04  Revised: 12/06/17 

Exhibit “A”  12/18/17 

Date: November 15, 2017    
   

 

 

 

 

I. Project Description: 

 

 Project: NW Corner of Chickasaw & Jog Rd 

                             (Aldi) 
 

 Petitioner: Dwayne L. Dickerson, Esq., Dunay 

                             Miskel & Backman, LLP 

                             14 SE 4th Street, Suite 36 

                             Boca Raton, FL 33432 

                             Agent for the owners: 

                             Morris W. Sperber Trust, Rosyln L. 

                             Emerson, Craig B. Morris and 

                             Shahveer Dhatigara 

             

Request:    Zoning Change from Palm Beach 

                   County Agricultural Residential (AR)  

                   and City Mixed Use Development  

                   Office (MXD-O) to City Commercial  

                   Neighborhood (CN) 

 

 Location: The northwest corner of South Jog Road 

                             and Chickasaw Road. 

 

II. Site Data: 

 

 Existing Use:     Undeveloped / Vacant  

 

 Proposed Use:   Grocery Store   

 

 Parcel Control Number:             18-42-43-27-05-022-0403 

     00-42-43-27-05-022-0402; -405; and -0406; 

 

 Parcel Size:     3.201 acres (139,435.56 square feet) 

 

 Existing Future Land Use Designation: PBC Low Residential 3 units per acre (LR/3) 

and City Mixed Use (MU) 

 

 Proposed Future Land Use Designation: City Commercial (CM) 

 

 Existing Zoning District: PBC Agricultural Residential (AR) 

             LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

 

 



 

ZC-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-34) Page 2 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road 

                                                                                              (Aldi Grocery Store) 

                                                                                     and City Mixed Use Development Office  

                                                                                     (MXD-O) 

 

 Proposed Zoning District:   City Commercial Neighborhood (CN) 
 

 

Table 1:  Surrounding Existing Land Use, Future Land Use, Zoning District: 

Direction Existing Land Use Future Land Use Zoning District 

North Vacant Single-Family 
Residence 

City Mixed Use (MU) City Mixed Development-Office  
(MXD-O) 

South Undeveloped land  City Mixed Use (MU) City Mixed Development-Office  
(MXD-O) 

East Villages of Woodlakes City Residential Medium Density (RS-
MD)  

City Residential Medium (RM-2) 

West Single-Family Residence Low Residential 3 units per acre  
(LR-3) 

PBC Agricultural Residential (AR) 

 

III. Annexation/Zoning History: 

 

Unincorporated Parcels 

 

The approximately 2.11-acres of land are located in unincorporated Palm Beach County within the 

identified Future Annexation Area of the City.  The area to be annexed contains three (3) individual 

parcels each having a Palm Beach County future land use designation of Low Residential 3-units 

per acres (LR-3). Concurrent petitions for an annexation (ANX-16-01), comprehensive plan 

amendment (CPA-13-04), and site plan approval (SP-17-02) are being processed for the site..  

These parcels are all undeveloped with no prior approvals.   

 

A site plan approval request (SP-17-02) by the property owners is proposing to develop the site as 

a Grocery Store under the authority of the City of Greenacres and in conformity with the City’s 

zoning code.  The project is anticipated to follow the same hearing schedule. 

 

North Parcel – City of Greenacres 

 

The proposed overall development also includes the approximately 1.09-acre site adjacent to the 

north, which is developed as a single-family home that is currently vacant. The site was annexed 

into the City on August 2, 2010 (ANX-10-01) and was given the MXD-O zoning designation and 

is part of the comprehensive plan amendment (CPA-13-04) being processed concurrent with this 

request.  

 

IV. Applicable Comprehensive Plan Provisions: 

 

The Comprehensive Plan includes the following planning objectives and policies related to this 

proposed zoning change request: 

 

 1.   Future Land Use Element 

 

   Objective 8, Policy c) 



 

ZC-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-34) Page 3 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road 

                                                                                              (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

   Land development regulations adopted to implement this Comprehensive Plan 

   shall be based on and be consistent with the following standards for residential 

   densities and commercial intensities as indicated below: 

    

   * * * (1 through 9 and 11 through 16 omitted for brevity) * * * 

 

   10) Commercial Neighborhood - 20% lot coverage, 0.30 FAR 

    

   Objective 11, Policies a, b, & c) 

 

   The City shall discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl by following 

   established land use patterns, promoting appropriate infill and designating future 

   land use densities based upon levels of services and the availability of services 

   and facilities. 

 

   Policy a) 

   Urban Sprawl will be discouraged by permitting only development that is 

   consistent and compatible with the established land use pattern. "Consistent and 

   compatible with the established land use pattern" shall mean: 

   (1)       Only uses permitted within the Plan's land use designation and the 

    implementing zoning district shall be approved. 

   (2)       Only development within the designated density range and intensity 

                                      regulations of the implementing zoning district will be approved. 

   (3)        Adequate facilities and services shall be available and concurrent to 

                accommodate the proposed development. 

 

   Policy b) 

   Infill development shall be promoted within existing areas to discourage the 

   harmful effects of leapfrog development. 

 

   Policy c) 

   Future timing of appropriate land use densities and intensities will be determined 

   by the established levels of services and the availability of services and facilities 

   to meet the established levels 

 

V. Applicable City Code Provisions: 
 

Section 16-153(a)(1) of the Code relating to rezoning of property states that the proposed zoning 

change should not be contrary to the future land use map, and it should not have an adverse effect 

on the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

 Division 9. Commercial Neighborhood (Section 16-446 through 16-458) 

 

The commercial neighborhood (CN) district is intended to provide a number of selected 

establishments that will serve one or several neighborhoods within one-half to one and one-

half (1½) mile radius. The district is not intended for use by major or large scale 



 

ZC-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-34) Page 4 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road 

                                                                                              (Aldi Grocery Store) 

commercial or service concerns. Professional and business offices and service 

establishments and uses that specifically address the needs of surrounding residents are 

encouraged. Orientation to and compatibility with the neighborhoods to be served are 

critical. The district shall be designed and regulated to eliminate potential land use conflicts 

that may impact surrounding residential areas. 

 

VI. Staff Analysis: 
 

Land Development Staff Comments: 

 

The petition was reviewed by the Land Development Staff on August 10 and August 17, 2017, 

and recommended for approval. 

 

Planning and Engineering Dept.: Incorporated into the staff report 

Building Department:   No objections 

Fire Rescue Department:  No objections 

Public Works Department:  No objections 

PBSO District 16:   No objections 

 

Zoning Change Criteria and Findings of Fact: 

 

Section 16-153. Planning Commission Report: The Planning Commission shall submit a report to 

the City Council which shows that the Commission has studied and considered the proposed 

amendment for rezoning of property and change to the official zoning map in relation to the 

following, where applicable: 

 

Specific Criteria Findings: 

 

(1) Whether the proposed change would be contrary to the land use plan and would have 

an adverse effect on the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

 Finding: The proposed Commercial Neighborhood (CN) zoning will be consistent with 

the property's proposed Commercial future land use designation. The CN district is 

intended to provide a number of selected establishments that will serve one or several 

neighborhoods within one-half to one and one-half (1½) mile radius.  The proposed zoning 

designation is in support of the Goals, Objectives, and Policies of the Comprehensive Plan 

directing small to mid-sized commercial activity to areas that are oriented to major 

thoroughfares such as South Jog Road. 

 

(2) The existing land use pattern. 

  

Finding:  The proposed Commercial Neighborhood (CN) zoning designation is consistent 

with the existing land use pattern in the area.  The Mixed Use designations and commercial 

uses, which surround the site to the north and south, are within a commercial service 

corridor that functions on both a local and a regional level.  The proposed zoning 

designation is compatible with the commercial character of the adjacent properties to the 

north and south located within the City of Greenacres.  

  



 

ZC-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-34) Page 5 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road 

                                                                                              (Aldi Grocery Store) 

(3) The possible creation of an isolated district unrelated to adjacent and nearby 

districts. 

 

Finding:  This proposed zoning change will not create an isolated zoning district. The 

site is located along the Jog Road commercialized corridor with existing commercial uses 

and designations on both sides, including identical designation along this corridor. 

 

(4) The population density pattern and possible increase or overtaxing of the land on 

public facilities such as schools, utilities, etc. 

 

Finding: The site is surrounded to the north and south by developed commercial land 

uses.  Concurrency has been satisfied for all applicable agencies for the 22, 978 square 

foot building proposed for the site based on the concurrent petition for site and 

development plan approval. 

 

(5) Whether existing district boundaries are illogically drawn in relation to existing 

conditions on the property proposed for change. 

 

Finding: The property is being annexed into the City and therefore requires an 

appropriate City zoning designation. 

 

(6) Whether changed or changing conditions make the passage of the proposed 

amendment necessary. 

 

Finding: The property is being annexed into the City and therefore requires an 

appropriate City zoning designation. This rezoning is needed in order to have a consistent 

zoning designation for the overall development. 

 

(7) Whether the proposed change will create or excessively increase traffic congestion 

or otherwise affect public safety. 

 

       Finding: The proposed change will not create an excessively increase traffic congestion 

or affect public safety. Any redevelopment must satisfy Traffic Performance Standards 

as part of the site plan approval process. Thus, traffic and public safety will not be 

negatively impacted.  

 

(8) Whether the proposed change will adversely influence living conditions in the 

neighborhood. 

 

Finding: The proposed zoning change will not adversely affect living conditions in the 

area.  The site is mostly undeveloped in part and a vacant single-family structure; any 

future redevelopment (such as the concurrent petition for a site and development plan 

approval) will be required to include adequate landscaping, setbacks, and buffering in 

accordance with the City Zoning Code.  The area is also an established commercial 

corridor. 

 

  



 

ZC-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-34) Page 6 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road 

                                                                                              (Aldi Grocery Store) 

(9) Whether there are substantial reasons why the property cannot be used in accord 

with existing zoning. 

 

Finding: The property is being annexed into the City and therefore requires an 

appropriate City zoning designation. The rezoning for the parcel already within City 

limits zoned (MXD-O) is needed in order to have a consistent zoning designation for all 

the parcels that will make up the overall development of a grocery store.   

 

(10) Whether the proposed change will constitute a grant of special privilege to an 

individual owner as contrasted with the public welfare. 

   

Finding: As evidenced by the findings above, the proposed zoning change does not 

constitute a special privilege for the property owner because the change is consistent with 

existing land use patterns, the property’s proposed future land use, the surrounding future 

land use and zoning designations, and the existing County zoning designation. 

 

VII. Staff Recommendation: 

 

Approval of ZC-13-04 through the adoption of Ordinance 2017-34. 

 

  



 

ZC-13-04 (Ord. No. 2017-34) Page 7 of 7 NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road 

                                                                                              (Aldi Grocery Store) 

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION – December 6, 2017 
 

 

The Planning Commission on a motion made by Commissioner Bennis and seconded by 

Commissioner Garcia, by a vote of seven (7) to zero (0), recommended approval of Zoning 

Change ZC-13-04 (NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road (Aldi Grocery Store)), as presented by 

staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION First Reading – December 18, 2017 
 

 

The City Council on a motion made by Councilwoman Dugo and seconded by Councilman 

Thelusme, voting four (4) to zero (1) with Councilman Tharp dissenting, approved Zoning 

Change ZC-13-04 (NW Corner Chickasaw / S. Jog Road (Aldi Grocery Store)), on first reading, 

through Ordinance 2017-34, as presented by staff. 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION Adoption Hearing – January 22, 2018 
 

 

 

 

 

 Joel Flores, Mayor 

 

 

         Attest: 

 

 

 Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
 

Attachments: 

1. Aerial Photograph 

2. Zoning Map 

3. Ordinance 2017-34 







































































 

SP-17-02 Page 1 of 8 Aldi Grocery Store 

SP-17-02  Revised: 12/06/17 

Exhibit "A” 01/03/17 

Date:  November 15, 2017  

  

 

 

 
 

I.      Project Description: 
 

 Project: Aldi Grocery Store 
 

 Petitioner: Dwayne L. Dickerson, Esq., Dunay 

  Miskel & Backman, LLP 

  14 SE 4th Street, Suite 36 

  Boca Raton, FL 33432 

  Agent for the owners: 

  Morris W. Sperber Trust, Rosylin L. 

                             Emerson, Craig B. Morris and 

                             Shahveer Dhatigara 

      

 Request: Site and Development Plan approval 

                     to construct a Grocery Store building 
 

 Location: The northwest corner of South Jog  

                             Road and Chickasaw Road. 

                              

 
II. Site Data: 
 
 Existing Use:     Undeveloped / Vacant 

 

 Proposed Use:   Grocery Store 

 

 Parcel Control Number:             00-42-43-27-05-022-0402; -0405; -0406;  

                                                                                    -0403      

 

 Parcel Size:     3.20 acres (139,434 square feet) 

 

 Existing Future Land Use Designation: PBC Low Residential 3 units per acre (LR/3) 

and City Mixed Use (MU) 

 

 Proposed Future Land Use Designation: City Commercial (CM) 

 

 Existing Zoning District: PBC Agricultural Residential (AR) and 

                                                                                    City Mixed Use Development Office  

                                                                                    (MXD-O) 

 

 Proposed Zoning District:   City Commercial Neighborhood (CN) 

             LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

 



 

SP-17-02 Page 2 of 8 Aldi Grocery Store 

 

 

Table 1:  Surrounding Existing Land Use, Future Land Use, Zoning District: 

Direction Existing Land Use Future Land Use Zoning District 

North Vacant Single-Family 
Residence 

City Mixed Use (MU) City Mixed Development-Office  
(MXD-O) 

South Undeveloped land  City Mixed Use (MU) City Mixed Development-Office  
(MXD-O) 

East Villages of Woodlakes City Residential Medium Density (RS-
MD)  

City Residential Medium (RM-2) 

West Single-Family Residence Low Residential 3 units per acre  
(LR-3) 

PBC Agricultural Residential (AR) 

 

III. Annexation/Zoning History: 

 

Unincorporated Parcels 

 

The approximately 2.11-acres of land are located in unincorporated Palm Beach County within the 

identified Future Annexation Area of the City.  The area to be annexed contains three (3) individual 

parcels each having a Palm Beach County future land use designation of Low Residential 3-units 

per acres (LR-3). Concurrent petitions for an annexation (ANX-16-01), comprehensive plan 

amendment (CPA-13-04) and zoning change (ZC-13-04) are being processed for the site. These 

parcels are all undeveloped with no prior approvals.   

 

Parcel Located to the North 

 

The proposed overall development also includes the approximately 1.09-acre site adjacent to the 

north, which is developed as a single-family home that is currently vacant. The site was annexed 

into the City on August 2, 2010 (ANX-10-01) and was given the MXD-O zoning designation and 

is part of the rezoning application (ZC-13-04) and comprehensive plan amendment (CPA-13-04)   

being processed concurrent with this request.  

 

IV. Applicable Code Provisions: 
 

Sec. 16-196 through 16-202 pertaining to Site and Development Plans 

Sec. 16-446 through 16-456 pertaining to the Commercial Neighborhood (CN) zoning district 

Sec. 16-931 through 16-994 pertaining to sign regulations 

Sec. 16-1241 through 16-1312 pertaining to landscaping 

Sec. 16-1331 through 16-1340 pertaining to off-street parking 

 

V. Summary of Proposed Site and Development Plan Details: 
 

The petitioner’s site and development plans stamp-dated October 31, 2017 depict the following: 

 

1. A total land area of approximately 3.20-acres (139,434 square feet). 

2. A one-story 22,978 square foot supermarket building. 

3. A total of 135 parking spaces, including five (5) handicapped spaces. 

4. Two (2) ingress and egress points onto South Jog Road and Chickasaw Road for 

vehicles and one (1) sidewalk connection to South Jog Road and Chickasaw Road. 



 

SP-17-02 Page 3 of 8 Aldi Grocery Store 

5. A dumpster enclosure; dumpster elevations consisting of block with stucco painted to 

match the building and the required gates. 

6. Landscape Plan, including a 6’ high masonry wall along the west property boundary. 

7. Building Plans and Elevations. 

8. Photometric Plan. 

9. Conceptual Engineering Plan. 

10. Boundary Survey. 

 

Table 2:  Proposed Site Data: 

Area: Square Footage: Acreage: Percentage: 

Building Lot Coverage (including covered canopies) 22,978 0.527 17.18% 

Site Impervious Area (excluding building lot coverage) 74,616 1.71 55.79% 

Site Landscape Area 36,147 0.83 27.03% 

Total 133,741 3.07 100% 

Total Floor Area 22,245 0.51 0.16 FAR 

 

VI. Staff Analysis: 

 

The subject site is mostly undeveloped with one single-family structure, which is currently vacant 

and to be demolished. The petition is for a Site and Development Plan approval to construct a one-

story 22,978 square foot grocery store building. The site plan has 135 parking spaces including 

five handicap spaces and has ingress/egress points from Chickasaw Road and South Jog Road. The 

subject site is adequately buffered by a proposed 15-foot wide landscape buffer along South Jog 

Road, a 10-foot wide landscape buffer along Chickasaw Road, and a proposed 6-foot high concrete 

wall along the west property boundary with a 10-foot wide landscape buffer as required by the 

zoning code to buffer the adjacent residential uses.  

 

The applicant has provided architectural elevations depicting banding, and architectural features 

on all four elevations.  The parapet wall around the entire roof will effectively screen mechanical 

equipment. 

 

On August 10 and August 17, 2017, the Land Development Staff reviewed this petition and 

recommended approval subject to the conditions of approval listed below. 

 

Land Development Staff Comments:  

 

 Planning and Engineering Dept.: Incorporated into the staff report. 

 Building Department:   Incorporated into the staff report. 

 Fire Rescue Department:  Incorporated into the staff report. 

 Public Works Department:  Incorporated into the staff report. 

 PBSO District 16:   No objections. 
 

Other Agencies: 

 

 PBC Traffic Division:   Project meets traffic performance standards. 

PBC Water Utilities:  Water and sewer service is available from the Palm 

Beach County Water Utilities Department.  

 MPO / Palm Tran:   No objections. (Incorporated into staff report) 



 

SP-17-02 Page 4 of 8 Aldi Grocery Store 

 LWDD:    No objections. 

 

Standards and Staff Findings: 

 

1. Minimum Lot Requirement: Site area of 139,434 square feet exceeds the 

minimum lot requirement of 10,000 square feet, in 

accord with Section 16-452 (1). Lot width of 203.13 

feet exceeds the minimum width of 100 feet. 

 

2.  Maximum Lot Coverage:   Building lot coverage of 16.5% does not exceed the 

maximum allowable lot coverage of 20%. 

 

3. Minimum Yard Requirements:  Building setbacks meet all yard requirements of 25’ 

front, 10’ side interior, 15’ side corner and 15’ rear. 

 

4. Height Restrictions: The building height of 23’-83” does not exceed the 

allowable height of 25'. 

 

5. Off-Street Parking & Loading: The 135 parking spaces provided exceed the 

minimum code requirement of 112 spaces based on 

a parking rate of 1 space per 200 square feet for Food 

Market. 

 

6. Landscaping: The landscaping plan complies with landscape code 

requirements. 

 

7. Sign Regulations: Permits shall be obtained and meet code 

requirements prior to installation of any signs. 

 

8. Utilities: The proposed water, sanitary sewer and drainage 

systems will meet code requirements subject to final 

permitting. 

 

9. Concurrency: Project meets traffic concurrency.  Water and Sewer 

service and capacities are available to serve the site. 

 

10. Comprehensive Plan: The proposed development is consistent with the 

Commercial (CM) future land use classification.  

The proposed floor area ratio of 0.16 does not 

exceed the maximum of 0.30 FAR for the CN zoning 

district. 

 

11. Color Scheme: The color of the building shall be in accordance with 

the Site and Development Plans dated October 31, 

2017: Walls – Split Face CMU (Autum 207 & Dar 

Buff 200), Aluminum Composite panels (Slate 

Gray); Trim and Accents – Cornice Dryvit 310 

(China White). 



 

SP-17-02 Page 5 of 8 Aldi Grocery Store 

 

12. Site and Building Design: The project layout and architectural design comply 

with the site and building design requirements of the 

Code.  The proposed new building features 

integrated screening of roof top equipment, a clearly 

defined covered entry area, and the building is 

located on the site to respond to the property’s 

configuration.   
 

 

VII. Staff Recommendation: 
 

Approval of SP-17-02 with the following conditions: 

 

1. The most stringent requirements of Exhibit "A" Land Development Staff Report and 

recommendation dated November 15, 2017 and Exhibit "B" Site and Development Plan 

stamp-dated October 31, 2017, as hereafter defined shall apply. (Planning) 

 

2. Permits or permit modifications from the South Florida Water Management District 

(SFWMD), Lake Worth Drainage District (LWDD), Palm Beach County Health 

Department, Palm Beach County Utilities permit, Palm Beach County Right of Way 

permit, and NPDES permit must be obtained prior to the issuance of building permits. 

(Engineering) 

 

3. Complete drainage calculations addressing water quality and quantity in accordance with 

the requirements of SFWMD must be submitted for review along with complete paving 

and drainage construction plans and subsurface investigation with percolation test prior to 

the issuance of building permits. (Engineering) 

 

4. Demolition plan must be submitted prior to the issuance of building permits. ( Engineering) 

 

5. The site plan shall be revised as necessary to reflect all conditions of approval and re-

submitted prior to the issuance of building permits. (Planning) 

 

6. In accord with the requirements of the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System 

(NPDES), best management practices shall be used to control runoff from construction 

activities. (Building and Public Works) 

 

7. The project shall participate in the City Tree Dedication Program per Section 16-1293; at 

the time of issuance of building permits one (1) tree to be donated per 1,000 sq. ft. of 

building area or fraction thereof, therefore (6) (23) Live Oaks or equivalent cash payment 

shall be donated to the City subject to the following specification:  Live Oak, Florida Grade 

#1 Container Grown; minimum 12 ft. high; 2-inch diameter trunk at 4 ft.; and 5 ft. spread. 

(Planning and Building) 

 

8. The project shall be required to pay the applicable City’s impact fee of $2.80 per square 

foot of gross floor area per Section 16-201, at the time of issuance of building permits. 

(Building) 



 

SP-17-02 Page 6 of 8 Aldi Grocery Store 

 

9. Utilities shall be provided underground and sufficient in size to properly serve the site.  

Appurtenances to these systems which require above-ground installation must be 

effectively screened from view.  (Planning, Engineering and Building) 

 

10. All utilities and services to the site shall be provided by entities holding valid franchise 

agreements with the City. (Engineering and Building) 

 

11. All roof top equipment shall be screened on all four sides consistent with the architecture 

of the building; no equipment shall be taller than the proposed screening.  All ground 

mounted mechanical equipment (air conditioning, backflow preventer, etc.) shall be 

screened on all four sides; no equipment shall be taller than the proposed screening.  

(Planning and Building) 

 

12. The building shall be allowed two (2) wall signs: one on the south side facing Chickasaw 

Road and one on the west side facing South Jog Road.  Building wall signs shall be 

internally illuminated individual channel letters or reverse channel letters with consistent 

faces and returns.  No raceways or box signs will be permitted.  (Planning).  

 

13. All freestanding signs shall be consistent in color with those on the building, shall feature 

decorative architectural elements and colors consistent with the building, and shall include 

the numerical street address with minimum 6” high numbers in a contrasting color on both 

faces. (Planning) 

 

14. The dumpster enclosure walls shall match the finish, color and design elements of the 

building walls and trim. At a minimum, the dumpster enclosure gates shall be solid 3/4" 

deep galvanized corrugated 22-gauge steel matching the building color. Dumpster located 

within the recessed loading dock area shall be screened from view. (Planning)  

 

15. The hours of operation shall be limited to 9:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. Monday through Saturday 

and Sunday 10:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. not exceed 7:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. Sunday through 

Thursday and 7:00 a.m. to 12:00 midnight on Friday and Saturday.  (Planning and 

Building) 

 

16. The 10’ X 30’ easement depicted on the site plan shall be provided to accommodate a 

future bus stop on South Jog Road.  The easement shall be dedicated to Palm Tran, in a 

form acceptable to the City Attorney, and recorded prior to the issuance of building permits 

A dedicated 110 volt, 20 amp circuit shall be provided and electrical stubbed out within 

the easement and terminated in a weatherproof box or solar power prior to the issuance of 

a Certificate of Occupancy.  If a later determination is made by Palm Tran that a bus stop 

is needed at this location and a standard City of Greenacres bus shelter is installed within 

the easement on the property, the shelter shall be the permanent maintenance obligation of 

the property owner, including trash collection and electricity for the shelter security light. 

(Planning and Building) 

 

17. A site clearing and tree removal permit shall be required prior to any clearing activities on 

site. This permit shall demonstrate protection of existing trees to remain.  Additions to the 



 

SP-17-02 Page 7 of 8 Aldi Grocery Store 

landscaping plan may be necessary to meet Code requirements if existing material to 

remain is unsuitable for buffer purposes. (Planning) 

 

18. All existing trees shown to remain on the approved landscape plans shall be maintained in 

perpetuity.  In the event they should die, they shall be replaced with like species of a size 

and quantity in accord with the tree credits in Table 16-1271 of the City of Greenacres 

Code. (Planning) 

 

19. All existing invasive non-native plants shall be removed from the property.  It shall be the 

responsibility of the property owner to maintain the site free from invasive plants. 

(Planning and Building) 

 

20. In accord with the determination of compliance with the Traffic Performance Standards by 

Palm Beach County Engineering, no building permits shall be issued after the build-out 

date of December 31, 2018 unless a revised traffic study with a later build-out date has 

been approved by the County and a copy of the approval provided to the City of 

Greenacres. (Planning and Building) 

 

21. No outdoor speakers shall be permitted. (Building) 

 

22. Outdoor storage of materials and equipment is prohibited (i.e. shopping carts, merchandise, 

pallets, etc…) (Planning and Building) 

 

23. All advertisements and legal addresses on insurance policies and business correspondence 

shall clearly state that the project is located within the “City of Greenacres”. (Planning) 

 

24. Non-compliance with any of the conditions of approval will result in withholding of the 

issuance of building permits or a Certificate of Occupancy. (Planning and Building) 

 

 

  



 

SP-17-02 Page 8 of 8 Aldi Grocery Store 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION – December 6, 2017 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

The Planning Commission on a motion made by Commissioner Buzek and seconded by 

Commissioner Robarts, voting seven (5) to zero (0), recommended approval of Site Plan SP-17-

02 (Aldi Grocery Store), as presented by staff. 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION – January 22, 2018 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Joel Flores, Mayor 
 

 

       Attest: 
 

 

__________________________________ 

Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 

 

 

 

Attachments: 

1. Site and Development Plan Packet 

2. Aerial Location Map 

 







ORDINANCE NO. 2017-39 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AMENDING CHAPTER 4, ENTITLED 
BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS, OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES CODE, TO INCLUDE THE FLORIDA BUILDING CODE 
6th EDITION, TOGETHER WITH ALL AMENDMENTS THERETO, AS 
RECOMMENDED BY THE BUILDING CODE ADVISORY BOARD OF 
PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA AND AS CONFORMED TO THE 
CITY’S OPERATIONAL STANDARDS; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN CODE; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
WHEREAS; pursuant to Chapter 553, Florida Statutes, known as the “Florida 

Building Codes Act”, the legislature provided for the adoption and enforcement of a single 

unified state building code, entitled the “Florida Building Code”; and  

WHEREAS; pursuant to the laws of the State of Florida and Section 553.73(4)(b), 

Florida Statutes, the Building Code Advisory Board of Palm Beach County (“BCAB”) has 

reviewed the Code provisions in the Florida Building Code and, based upon that review, 

has recommended the adoption of  amendments to Chapter One of the Code; and  

 WHEREAS; the City Council of Greenacres finds that the adoption of the Florida 

Building Code 6th Edition, together with the amendments to Chapter One as 

recommended by the BCAB, will greatly promote the health, safety and welfare of the 

residents of the City of Greenacres.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  

That Section 4-2, entitled “Florida Building Code” is hereby amended by deleting 

and adding the following provisions: 

 

 



Ordinance No. 2017-39                                                                    Page 2 
  

Sec. 4-2. - Florida Building Code. 

(a) The city hereby adopts by reference the Florida Building Code as mandated by 

Chapter 553, Florida Statutes Including the Florida Building Code 5 6th Edition, 

Plumbing Appendix F.  

(b) The City hereby adopts by reference the “Amendments to Chapter One of the 

2017 Florida Building Code 5 (6th Edition)” as recommended by the Palm Beach 

County Building Code Advisory Board, and as conformed to the City’s 

operational standards, which are on file in the city clerk’s office.   

Section 2. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances 

All ordinances or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent with 

the provisions of this ordinance are hereby repealed. 

 Section 3. Severability 

 If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of 

this Ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or 

void, such holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Ordinance 

and it shall be construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Ordinance without 

such unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of this 

Ordinance after the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid as if 

such part or parts had not been included therein, or if this Ordinance or any of the 

provisions thereof shall be held inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, 

kind of property, circumstances, or set of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect 

the applicability thereof to any other person, property or circumstances. 

 Section 4. Inclusion in Code  

 It is the intention of the City Council, entered as hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Code of Laws and 



Ordinance No. 2017-39                                                                    Page 3 
  

Ordinances of the City of Greenacres, Florida; that the Section(s) of this Ordinance may 

be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intention, and that the word “ordinance” 

may be changed to “Section”, “Article” or another word.  

Section 5. Effective Date 

 The provisions of this Ordinance shall become effective December 31, 2017 or 

upon any amended effective date of the Florida Building Code by the Florida Legislature. 

  



Ordinance No. 2017-39                                                                    Page 4 
  

Passed on the first reading this 18th day of December, 2017. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED on the second reading this 22nd day of January, 

2018. 

Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    John Tharp 
City Clerk      Council Member, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Council Member, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Council Member, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Anderson Thelusme 
       Council Member, District IV 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 
 

 



 
         
 
 

C I T Y OF G R E E N A C R E S 
INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

2018.01LJ7.01 
 
 

TO:                Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 

FROM: Michael Grimm, Chief Building Official 
 

SUBJECT: Building Department Report  
(November 22, 2017 to January 4, 2018)        

 
DATE: January 5, 2018 

 
1) ADMINISTRATION: 

a) Researched and completed one hundred eleven (111)  lien searches providing 
permit and code enforcement case information for a total of three hundred six  
(306) searches year to date. 

     
2) PERMITS/INSPECTIONS: 
 

PERMITS/INSPECTIONS DURING THIS 
PERIOD 

FYTD 
2018 

BUDGETED FOR 
FY 2018 

Building Permits Issued 457 659 2,100 
Inspections Performed 1,463 2,484 7,000 
Construction Value of 
Permits Issued $ 5,747,222 $ 8,552,028 $ 29,000,000 

CO’s Issued 19 39  
CC’s Issued 2 2  
Temporary CO’s Issued -0- -0-  
Illicit  Discharge 
Inspections (Stormwater) 13 20  

 
 

3) BUSINESS AND CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION: 
 

BUSINESS AND 
CONTRACTOR 
REGISTRATIONS 
FY2018 

NEW RENEWALS NOT 
RENEWED CANCELLED 

 
COUNT AMOUNT COUNT AMOUNT COUNT COUNT 

 Period YTD YTD Period YTD YTD YTD YTD 
Commercial 15 49 $ 6,711 13 472 $ 70,596 169 48 
Contractor & General 
Service Registration 42 98 $100 4 61 $ 850  805 
Rental 6 21 $ 1,562 3 770 $ 30,173 137 21 
Home Based 9 36 $ 2,658 20 243 $ 16,884 164 22 
Insurance 
Registration -0- 22 $ 2,324 -0- 163 $ 17,046 29 2 



Memo: 2018.01LJ7.01 
 

2 

 
4) CODE ENFORCEMENT: 

 
5) PLAN REVIEW – PRINCIPAL NEW OR REMODEL PROJECTS: 

 
PROJECT ADDRESS SIZE DESCRIPTION PERMIT# 

 
Church of God 4615 

Melaleuca Ln 
4,800 sq. ft Addition 2017-242 

Zaxby’s 
 (In Target 
Outparcel) 
 

5880 Lake 
Worth Rd 

3,992 sq. ft. Drive-in/Fast Food 
Restaurant 

2017-1591 
*Plans 
Approved 
Waiting for 
payment 

Tire Center 
(Target 
Outparcel) 

5990 Lake 
Worth Rd 

9,177 sq. ft. Construct New Tire 
Store 

2017-1641 
*Plans 
Approved 
Waiting for 
payment 

 
 

6) PROJECTS IN PROGRESS – PRINCIPAL REMODELING/RENOVATION: 
 

PROJECT ADDRESS SIZE DESCRIPTION PERMIT # 
 

Race Trac 
Petroleum 
(Formerly 
Walgreens) 

6025 Lake 
Worth Rd 

4,890 sq. ft. Convenience/Gas 
Station 

2017-1489 
 

South Florida 
Gastroenterology 
Associates PA 

6135 Lake 
Worth Rd 

5,482 New Office 
Space Build Out 

2017-2491 

Nissan 
Dealership 
(Formerly Prof. 
Golf Cart Corp) 

5353 Lake 
Worth Rd 

50,625 sq. ft. Car Dealership 2016-154 

CODE ENFORCEMENT DURING THIS 
PERIOD 

FYTD 2018 BUDGETED FOR FY 
2018 

Inspections Related to Active 
Code Cases 123 244 1,900 

New Cases Started 33   70    350 
Cases Complied 36 75  
Current Open Cases 113   
Fines Collected -0- $ 650 $ 20,000 
New Property Registrations  
Amount due to City  
(11/1/17-11/30/17) 

27 
$ 2,700 

71 
$ 7,100  

Notices Sent (November & 
December)  65 103  

Illegal Signs Removed from 
right-of-ways (November & 
December) 

199 284  

Inspections Not Related to 
Active Code Cases  
(November & December)  

85 201  

Complaints Received and 
Investigated (November & 
December )  

41 62  



Memo: 2018.01LJ7.01 
 

3 

(Temp C.O. 
Issued 8/29/17) 
Nissan Parking 
Garage 
(Temp C.O. 
Issued 9/1/17) 

5353 Lake 
Worth Rd 

121,884 sq. 
ft. 

Three Story 
Parking Garage 

2017-391 

Sai Baba Temple 4761 Myrtle 
Dr 

8.,408 sq. ft. New Construction 2140097 

Jog Medical 
Center 

3387 S Jog 
Rd 

17,376 sq. ft Medical Offices 
(Shell Only) 

2015-1566 

Miami Grill 4513 Lake 
Worth Rd 

1,929 sq. ft. Interior Dining 
Room Remodel 

2016-301 

Church of God 
7th Day 

3535 S Jog 
Rd 

11,500 sq. ft. New Church 2016-2382 

Dunkin Donuts 3098 S Jog 
Rd 

1,596 sq. ft. New Building 
(Temp CO 
Extended) 

2016-2068 

Dunkin Donuts 3098 S Jog 
Rd 

3,000 sq. ft. New Building 
(Temp CO 
Extended) 

2016-192 

Soma Medical 
Building 
 

6239 Lake 
Worth Rd 

5,438 sq. ft. New Medical 
Bldg(Newly 
Annexed-
Formerly 
Checkers) 

2016-3000 

Ross Dress For 
Less T.C.O. 
Issued 7/10/17 
 

6810 Forest 
Hill Blvd 

25,482 sq. ft. Remodel 
(Formerly 
Southeastern 
College) 

2016-2846 

HC Smokehouse 4606 S Jog 
Rd 

1,100 sq. ft. Interior Remodel 2017-628 

Former La Brasa 
/ Lynoras 

5283 Lake 
Worth Rd 

6,336 Convert 
Restaurant into 4 
Separate Bays 
for Business Use 

2017-1816 

Las Ramblas 3900 La 
Rambla 
(Behind 
Greenacres 
Plaza) 

14 Single 
Family 
Homes 

New Construction 2017-0792 

Trafalgar 
(Façade) 
Permit Ready 
Waiting for a 
Contractor 

6300 Forest 
Hill Blvd 

 Update Façade 
on Shopping 
Center & Add 
Towers 

2017-1101 

 
 

7)      PROJECTS IN PROGRESS – PRINCIPAL NEW CONSTRUCTION: 
 

PROJECT ADDRESS/LOCATION 
UNITS OR 

SQ. FT. 
APPROVED 

UNITS 
C.O.’D 

Reserve at 
Summit 

West side of Ranchette Rd, South of 
Summit Blvd 73 65 

Las Ramblas 3900 La Rambla / Common Area  14 -0- 
Santa Catalina 3145 S Jog Rd (Townhomes and 

Commercial units) 
29 residential/ 
12 commercial  -0- 

Whitney Park Bowman St and Haverhill Rd 24  22 
 



  
CITY OF GREENACRES 

 
 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 
2018.01DM2.01 

 
 
 
TO: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM: James McInnis, Director of Finance  

SUBJECT: Department of Finance Activity Report  

DATE: January 11, 2018 

 

 
The following report provides the highlights of activity within the Department of Finance 
for the reporting period from November 25, 2017 through December 31, 2017. 
 
 
1.  AUDIT/BUDGET and FINANCE ADMINISTRATION: 
 

Projects and Activities: 
 
a. Reimbursement requests were submitted for the following grants: 

• Family Central, afterschool program   $   16,292.63 
• USDA Food, after school       $     1,483.68 
• CDBG 1st Street      $   82,679.00 

 
b. Reimbursement requests were received for the following grants: 

• Family Central, afterschool program   $   16,292.63 
• USDA Food, after school       $     1,483.68 

 
c. Voice Over IP – At the meeting held on 6/19/2017, Council approved the 

purchase of a VoIP System through piggybacking a national contract. The 
department has issued the purchase order to Morse Communications for the 
equipment and services. The timeline for implementation given by Morse 
Communications is by October 15, 2017. 12/31/2017: VoIP phones have been 
delivered; departments are choosing their pre-programmed lines and Morse is 
continuing setup on the new phones, including presetting how the phones will 
roll or go to voice mail. Full implementation requires the assignment from AT&T 
of our phone lines to Morse Communication, which is expected at any time; 
projected full implementation is now December, possibly February 2018, 
depending on rollover from AT&T. 
 

d. Solid waste billing to tax roll – This project will last throughout the FY2018 fiscal 
year to perform the work and follow the procedures necessary to assess the 
billing for residential solid waste and recycling collection annually on the 



2018.01DM2.01             Page 2 of 4 
                                                                                                               January 11, 2018 
 

property tax bill beginning in November 2018. The Resolution of Intent to 
Assess was adopted December 4, 2017 and agreements with Tax Collector 
and Property Appraiser were approved and signed December 18, 2017. 
Council Meeting Agenda. 12/31/2017: Staff is currently reviewing rate tiers to 
be added on tax roll. 

 
 
2.  FINANCE OPERATIONS: 
 

Projects and Activities: 
 

a. FY17 Audit/CAFR: Each year as required by Florida Statues, the financial 
records for the City are reviewed, analyzed and audited by independent 
certified public accountants, and then a CAFR is produced and published. Final 
fieldwork is in progress.  Pending major items to be completed before CAFR 
preparation can begin are as follows: 
 

• OPEB valuation for GASB 45 reporting from GRS, a new actuarial 
consulting company. 

• Pension valuation for P&F pension fund 
• GASB 67/68 pension data from the actuaries 

 
b. FY17 Capital Asset Audit by Office of Inspector General:  fieldwork has been 

completed and preliminary exceptions noted and pending review. 
c. Implemented Fire rescue union time pool accrual and usage set up. 
d. Exploring potential resources to improve EMS billing effectiveness. 

 
  YEAR-TO-DATE   

Activity Report for December 2017 FY18 Activity Report BUDGET 

ACTIVITY REPORT 
DATA 

CURRENT 
PERIOD 

TRANSACTIONS 

CURRENT 
PERIOD 

AMOUNT 
FY 2018 YTD  

TRANSACTIONS 
FY 2018 YTD  

AMOUNT 
FY 2018  BUDGET 
TRANSACTIONS 

A/P Invoices 
Processed for 
Payment 

298  $1,695,261 772  $6,151,764 4,100 

ACH Payments 17  $445,319 41  $1,171,712 47 

Payroll Checks 
Issued 4  

$990,939 
13  

$2,337,474 
30 

Payroll Direct 
Deposits 442  1,011  3,900 

Cashier Pmts 
Processed 1,195  $4,845,938 5,642  $7,782,727 22,500 

Solid Waste Bills 
Issued 0  $0 7,036  $725,267 14,100 

Initial Ambulance 
Invoices 366  $255,429 899  $629,800 3,200 

 
  



2018.01DM2.01             Page 3 of 4 
                                                                                                               January 11, 2018 
 
 
3.  INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY: 

 
Projects and Activities: 
 
a. IT worked with Comcast to install the backup Internet service in City Hall and 

Leisure Services building. (completed) 
b. IT is working on changing the park camera – wireless network infrastructure to 

wired infrastructure. (Staff Review) 
c. IT is testing new phones with all departments and Morse Communications. 

(Staff Review) 
d. IT is currently working on the new look of Intranet website powered by AHA 

Consulting technology (Staff Review) 
 

DEPARTMENT CURRENT 
PERIOD 

FY 2017  
YTD 

FY 2017 
BUDGET 

    
Technical Service Requests:    

Administration 9 120 - 
Building 5 46 - 
Finance 4 56 - 
Planning & Engineering 1 25 - 
Public Works 5 18 - 
Fire/Rescue 5 44 - 
Leisure Services 8 107 - 

Total Technical Service Requests 37 416 450 
Computer Training Sessions Conducted 0 6 5 
No. of Computer Training Attendees 0 54 20 

 
 
4.  PURCHASING AND CONTRACTING: 
 

Projects and Activities: 
 

a. 18-001 Professional Surveying Services for Jog Road Lake Worth Road 
Medians – This bid was advertised on December 10, 2017 and opened on 
December 20, 2017 with five (5) proposals received. The proposals are 
currently under review. 

 
b. 18-002 HVAC Repair and Annual Maintenance – This bid was advertised on 

November 19, 2017 and opens on December 20, 2017. There was a mandatory 
pre-bid meeting held on November 28, 2017 at 10:00 am. This bid has been 
cancelled. After further research, purchasing staff has found an alternative 
source to piggyback off of for annual maintenance and repair services through 
the US Communities Contract. 

 
c. 18-003 Solid Waste – The Purchasing Division is currently drafting the 

solicitation document. This bid is planned to be advertised in February. 
 



2018.01DM2.01             Page 4 of 4 
                                                                                                               January 11, 2018 
 

d. 18-004 Consulting Services for Economic Development - The Purchasing 
Division is currently drafting the solicitation document. This RFP is planned to 
be advertised in February. 

 
e. 18-005 Textile Recycling Collection Bin Program - The Purchasing Division is 

currently drafting the solicitation document. This RFP is planned to be 
advertised in January. 

 
f. 18-006 Monument Signs - The Purchasing Division is currently drafting the 

solicitation document. This RFP is planned to be advertised in February. 
 

g. RFQ18-013/LS Janitorial Supplies – This RFQ was posted on the City’s 
website on December 15, 2017 and opened on December 22, 2017. The 
quotes are currently under review. 

 
h. RFQ18-014/PW Sylvester Palms – This RFQ was posted on the City’s website 

on December 28, 2017 and opens on January 10, 2018. 
 

i. RFQ18-015/PW Demo & Disposal of Shuffleboard Court – The Purchasing 
Division is currently drafting the solicitation document. This RFQ is scheduled 
to be posted on the City’s website the beginning of January. 

 
 
 
 
 

ACTIVITY CURRENT 
PERIOD 

FY 2018 
YTD 

FY 2018 
BUDGET 

    
Purchase Orders Issued 81 312 1,000 
Purchase Order Amounts $ 950,427.41 $ 18,081,007.37 $ 19,850,000 
Solicitations Issued 3 14 20 
Solicitations in Progress 5 - - 
Central Store Requests 7 24 100 
Contracts Managed 28 28 28 
Purchasing Card Purchases $ 30,172.80 $ 68,195.61 $ 205,000 
Purchasing Card Transactions 193 542 2,400 
No. of Training Sessions Conducted 0 0 5 

 
 
 
 
 
James McInnis 
Director of Finance 
 
JM/dm 
 



Page 1 of 5 
 

        CITY OF GREENACRES 
INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

2018.01MT6.003 
 

 
TO:  Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM: Michele Thompson, Leisure Services Director 
 
RE:  Department Report for November 25, 2017 through January 11, 2018 
 
DATE: January 12, 2018 
  
  
1. ADMINISTRATION 

PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT THIS  
PERIOD 

 FY 2018 
 TO DATE 

FY 2018 
BUDGET 

Contracts Coordinated  (2 with ELC) 0 0 4 
Collaborative Partnerships  3 14 21 
Ind. Contractor Agreements 3 10 23 
Events Coordinated 2 7 21 
Temporary Use Permits 1 2 4 
Grant Applications 0 0 2 
# of Documents Scanned Reported Quarterly  6,000 

 
 
2.  COMMUNITY & RECREATION SERVICES 

ACTIVITY SPONSORS/ 
PARTNERS 

 FY 2018 
TO DATE 

FY 2018 
BUDGET 

Community Events: 
• Food Truck Invasion 

(Monthly - 12) 

 
Cancelled 

 
Sept.- 50 
Oct.- 50 

 
$13,220 

• Fall Fitness Festival 
(11/18/17) 

Helix - $500 
Eye and Ear - $250 

400 Attendees $4,809 

• Lunch with Santa (12/9/17) 
o Co-sponsored event 

Adv. Disposal-$2,000 
Wolfe & Pravato.-$500 

500 Attendees $10,296 

• Fiesta de Pueblo (1/6/18) 
o Co-sponsored event 

PRHC 3600 Attendees $1,153 

• Daddy Daughter Dance 
(2/24/18)  Ages 4 & Up  

  $4,260 

• Egg’stravaganza (3/31/18)   $14,195 

• “Ignite the Night” (7/4/18)   $34,331 



Page 2 of 5 
 

Neighborhood Events:  
• Thanksgiving Dinner 

(11/22/17) 

 
$250 – Helix 

Local Businesses 

 
550 

 
$3,017 

 

• Back-to-School Block Party 
(8/4/18) 

  $3,017 

Senior Trips: 
• 12/13/17, 1/10/18, 2/7/18, 

3/14/18, & 4/4/18 

 
Broward Stage Door 

Theatre (5) 
 

 

 
12/20/17 – 21 
01/10/18 - 23 

 
42 
 

• TBD - 2018 Hard Rock Casino  30 
Avg. # of daily 
participants/meals served at 
Senior Meal Program 

 
15/465 

 
705 

 
N/A 

Facility Rentals: 
• Fields/Concession Stands 
• Pavilions 
• Center Facility Rentals 

This Period 
              56 

15 
1161   

 
72 
28 

            1902 

 
500 
200 
850 

Total Rental Revenue 
Generated 

$25,972.80 $34,720.82 $151,500 

Youth Leagues/Sponsors: 
• Co-ed Fall Soccer  

(7/31/17 – 12/8/17) 

 
- 

 
98 

 
100 

• Co-ed Winter Basketball  
 (10/23/17 – 3/17/18) 
Peter Piper Pizza - $500 
Applebee’s - $250 
HD Supply - $300 

 
- 

 
158 

 
160 

• Co-ed Spring Baseball  
(2/15/18 – 5/5/18)  

 
Reg. begins 2/16/18 

 

 
- 
 

 
150 

• Co-ed Spring Soccer  
(3/30/18 – 5/18/18) 

 
2 
 

 
2 

 
150 

1 7 free rentals – PBSO, The Arc  
2 30 free rentals – PBSO and School Board; 7 for the Puerto Rico Hurricane Relief Efforts. 
 

 
3.  YOUTH PROGRAMSPROGRAMS 

PROGRAM  
(Hours of Operation) 

DAYS HOURS 

CARES Monday - Friday (school days) 2:00 - 6:00 p.m. 
Cool Zone Monday - Friday (school days) 4:30 - 6:30 p.m. 
Hot Spot Monday - Friday (mentors) 

1st and 3rd Friday and Saturday 
3:30 - 6:30 p.m. 
6:00 - 10:00 p.m. 

PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 
# of Students Enrolled 

AVERAGE 
THIS 

PERI0D 

FY 2018  
TO DATE 

FY 2018 
BUDGET 

Daily Attendance (CARES & Cool Zone) 100 111                                          150  
• CARES 79 88 120 



Page 3 of 5 
 

• Cool Zone  
• Hot Spot 

21 
15 

23 
23 

30 
25 

Daily Transportation  98 109 150 
• 5 Elementary Schools 78 87 120 
• 2 Middle Schools 20 22 30 
• Parent Drop-off 2 2 5 

# of Participants -Youth Delegates in Action 4            4 15 
# of Participants - Sierra Club 8 12 12 
# of Participants in Life Skills Training Prog. 15 23 15 
# of Participants in Mentor Program 15 23 15 
# of Presidential Volunteer Service Hours 
(calculated from Jan-Dec) 

1086.47 hrs 4,973.02 hrs 6,000 hrs 

PROGRAM PARTICIPATION THIS 
PERIOD 

FY 2018  
TO DATE 

FY 2018 
BUDGET 

Grants/Licenses Coordinated: 
• Early Learning Coalition  
• Registration and Parent fees   
• Dept. of Health Child Care Food Program 
• Youth Services Department Grant 

 
$16,292.63 
$14,438.90 
$1,483.68 
$6,416.40 

 
$44,243.62 
$28,831.20 
$2,547.60 
$6,416.40 

 
$314,531 
$158,095 
$11,400 
$77,00 

Service Agreements Coordinated  3 3 4 
OGRAMS 

• On December 12th and 14th PBSO hosted their annual “Shop with A Cop” event at 
Target and Walmart, and 10 students were selected based on need; five (5) where 
randomly selected to shop at Target and five (5) at Walmart. Each child received 
a $100 gift card and were able to shop with PBSO Deputies and purchase gifts for 
themselves and their families.  

• Winter Camp ran from December 22, 2017 through January 5, 2018.  Field trips 
included; Movies at Wellington, Monkey Joes, Peter Piper Pizza, and Fun Depot. 
The Junior Garden Club also had the opportunity to visit the beautiful Gene Joyner 
Garden, and tour the garden at the West Palm Beach Elks Lodge. 

• On January 3rd, the CARES Junior Garden Club and the Oleander Garden Club of 
the Palm Beaches went to the Gene Joyner Garden where members had a tour 
and planted trees. After that the children had lunch at the  
WPB Elks Lodge and a tour of the Elk’s garden too.  

• Youth Programs participated in the “Hanging of Hands” art exihibit displayed in the 
Mandel Public Library in downtown West Palm Beach. This year, the Early 
Learninig Coalition (ELC) of Palm Beach Countyscheduled staff to attend events 
in Tallahassee during Children's Week 2018 (January 21st - 26th, 2018). The first 
of those annual events is the "Hanging of the Hands" in the Capitol Rotunda. ELC 
hopes to be able to hang artwork from all of the Palm Beach County child care 
providers. Below is a picture of the eight foot ribbon of decorated hands that the 
kids created to be displayed! The kids did an amazing job! 
 



Page 4 of 5 
 

 
 
 

4.   GENERAL 
• The Fall Fitness Festival, Green Market & Indoor Rummage Sale was a successful 

Fall event with numerous fitness demonstrations, health, wellness, produce, food, 
clothing, furniture, jewelry, musical entertainment, plus a Kidz Zone with a stilt 
walker, face painter, bounce houses, and arts & crafts.  

• The 18th Annual Thanksgiving Dinner was held Wednesday, November 22nd at the 
Community Center with volunteer assistance from Legacy Church, Helping Hands 
Assistance Program and numerous donations from local restaurants. Children 
from Youth Programs made table decorations and greeting cards for the event that 
were included in over 25 home delivered meals.   

• The “Lunch with Santa” event (co-sponsored by the Greenacres Kiwanis Club) was 
held at the Samuel J. Ferreri Community Park this year, on Saturday, December 
9th from 11:30 a.m. - 3:00 p.m. Approximately 500 attendees weathered rain and 
cold temperatures to experience multiple attractions including; Santa Claus, horse 
and carriage rides, inflatables, carolers, stilt walker/balloon artist, and food and 
drink. Greenacres Fire Rescue grilled and passed out food, Walgreens and the 
Key Club assisted with the toy dissemination.  

• The City co-sponsored Fiesta de Pueblo event (executed by the Puerto Rican 
Hispanic Chamber) on Saturday, January 6th was very successful! The PRHC has 
already reserved the park for next year’s event on January 7, 2019.  

• The Daddy Daughter Dance is back, and will take place in the Community Center’s 
banquet facility on Saturday, February 24th from 6:30 – 9:00 p.m. Plans are now 
underway for the “To the Moon & Back” themed dance event. This will be an 
evening to remember with dinner, dancing, fun and games. Registration is now 
available for ages 4 and over at $15 per person.  

• Discussions are underway with the Nam Knights Organization for the return of the 
Rock-n-Roll Sunday event this year at Samuel J. Ferreri Community Park on May 
20, 2018. This is an event to benefit the Vetsville Cease Firehouse and other 
Veterans organizations.  
 
 

 



Page 5 of 5 
 

UPCOMING EVENTS: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Michele Thompson, CPRP 
Director of Leisure Services 

EVENT DATE TIME LOCATION 
Daddy Daughter Dance Feb 24, 2018 6:30 – 9:00 pm Comm. Center – 

Banquet Hall 
Eggs’travaganza Mar 31, 2018 10:00 am- 1:30 pm SJF Community 

Park 
Rock n’ Roll Sunday May 20, 2018 12:00 pm – 6:00 pm SJF Community 

Park 
Ignite the Night July 4, 2018 5:30 pm -10:00 pm SJF Community 

Park 
Back To School Aug. 4, 2018 12:00 pm – 3:00 pm SJF Community 

Park 















1 | P a g e  
 

CITY OF GREENACRES 
INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

2018.1IC5.001 
 
 
TO:  Andrea McCue, City Manager   

FROM: Mark Pure, Fire Chief 
   
RE: Departmental Report for November 27, 2017 through December 31, 2017 
 
DATE:          January 11, 2018 
 

Total alarms dispatched this month 499 

Average alarms per day  16.09 

Total calls this year  6,170 

In December 2017, 439 patients were treated for Emergency Medical related services. 
Of those patients, 46 were in the City of Atlantis. These requests include a single unit 
responding to assist a person who has fallen to the floor, a cardiac arrest requiring 
multiple units and a combination of personnel, advanced skills, and equipment.  

Service Calls, Cancels, and Public Assists totaled 107. The requests include, but are not 
limited to, persons locked out of home, water evacuation, animal problem, police assist, 
defective elevator, and canceled due to wrong address. 

Fire Rescue transported 335 patients to a hospital or 76% of the patients we were called 
to treat. The majority of those (213) required Advanced Life Support procedures. ALS 
emergencies necessitate additional personnel, specialized equipment and skills. Often, 
an EMT or Paramedic will be taken from the ALS Engine to accompany the one person 
in the rear of the Rescue to assist with life-saving therapies.  

254

185

46

0

100

200

300

Station 94 Station 95 Atlantis

Total Patients  



2 | P a g e  
 

Fire Rescue responded to 63 calls for a fire or smoke related emergency. Five (5) of 
those required an escalated response for a car, brush, or refuse fire; three (3) were in a 
residential or commercial structure.  

Mutual aid is the sending or receiving of emergency resources (apparatus, personnel) to 
or from another entity or agency upon request.  No community has sufficient resources 
to handle every emergency of all sizes. Therefore, neighboring agencies work together 
through a system called Mutual Aid. That system is designed to be limited to large events 
that tax the resources beyond the normal capabilities of the community. During the month 
of December, the Department received aid six times.  

48
63

53
30 39

15 9 18
5 13

0
20
40
60
80

Sick
person

Car
Accident

Fall with
Injury

Cardiac Trouble
Breathing

Abdominal
Pain

Assault Seizures CVA Overdose

Major Incident Types 

2 1 03 2 0

25 27

3
0

20

40

Station 94 Station 95 Atlantis

Fire Responses 

Structure Fires Car, Refuse, Brush Fires Other Fire Related Calls (Smoke Scare, Alarms)

129
84

2652 35 9
0

100

200

Station 94 Station 95 Atlantis

ALS/BLS

ALS Transports BLS Transports

0 0

5
1

0

10

Station 94 Station 95

Mutual Aid

Mutual Aid Given Mutual Aid Received



3 | P a g e  
 

Fire Prevention and Protection focuses on protecting people and property from fire 
through fire safety inspections, fire plans review, fire cause and origin investigations, 
and public education. In addition, the Fire Marshal provides fire safety lectures, attends 
land development meetings, and testifies at code enforcement hearings.  

 

Inspections 162 

Plans Review 9 

Dollar Loss due to fire  $20,200.00 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

 
 

Station Tours, presentations, blood pressure screenings 12 

156

6 9
0

200

Greenacres Inspections Atlantis Inspections Plan Review

Fire Marshal 

Greenacres Fire Rescue employees and family 
members (above) braved a cold rainy day and cooked 
over 300 meals including hamburgers and hot dogs, 
as well as delivered Santa Claus for the annual 
Greenacres Lunch with Santa on December 9, 2017. 

 

Greenacres Elementary School demonstration on December 
4, 2017.  

Councilman Anderson Thelusme, Fire Chief Mark 
Pure, Santa Claus, and Station 94 C shift deliver 
presents to the Children’s Hospital at Palms West.  



Page 1 of 4 

CITY OF GREENACRES 
 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 
#2018.01LN4.01 

 
TO:  Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM: Carlos Cedeño, Public Works Director 
 
RE:  Public Works Department Report 
 
DATE: January 12, 2018     
 
   
Listed below is a brief summary of the activities undertaken by the Public Works 
Department during the period of November 27, 2017 through December 31, 2018. 
 
1. ADMINISTRATION: 

 
a. Director attended Professional Surveying Services for Jog Road & Lake 

Worth Road Medians Bid opening. 
b. Director attended LMS Working Group Meeting. 
c. Director attended Director Training Workshop. 
d. Submitted annual paper records for destruction. 
e. Public Works Project Coordinator completed Introduction to Incident 

Command System ICS-100 course. 
  

ACTIVITY COMMENTS 11/27/17 – 
12/31/17 

FISCAL YEAR 
TO DATE 

FY2018 
BUDGET 

Annual Licenses and 
Reports Submitted  

Hazardous Waste 
Generator Permit 1 1 7 

Citizen Requests 
Processed 

(1) Website,  
(23) recycling bins,  
(1) general requests 

25 74 225 

 
2. ROADS AND DRAINAGE MAINTENANCE  

 
a. Installed refurbished City Entry Sign on Forest Hill Blvd. median, west of 

Jog Road. 
b. Straightened traffic control and street name signs citywide. 

 
ACTIVITY COMMENTS 11/27/17 – 

12/31/17 
FISCAL YEAR 

TO DATE 
FY2018 

BUDGET 
Maintenance of  
Traffic Control Signs 
(1,239)  

Installed (2) black stop 
sign posts at Swain 

Blvd & First St. 
2 4 N/A 



Page 2 of 4 

ACTIVITY COMMENTS 11/27/17 – 
12/31/17 

FISCAL YEAR 
TO DATE 

FY2018 
BUDGET 

Medians Maintained 
(72) 

Jog Rd, 10th Ave N., 
Forest Hill Blvd., Lake 
Worth Rd., 57th Ave. 

8 23 N/A 

Canal Maintenance  
(A & B Canals) 1 Mile 4 12 N/A 

R-O-W Litter Removal City Streets 5 13 N/A 
R-O-W Landscape 
Maintenance City Streets 1 5 N/A 

Trees on medians, 
right-of-ways, & green 
areas maintained 
(1,986) 

Trimmed (193) Sabal 
Palms, (13) Oaks, (3) 

Green Buttonwood and (14) 
Washingtonian Palms on 

Swain Blvd. and (34) Sabal 
Palms and (1) 

Washingtonian Palm on 
Biscayne Drive 

258 258 1192 

Landscape 
Maintenance Retention 
Ponds/Lakes 

Ramblewood Circle, 
Harwich Court 1 4 N/A 

Alleyway Maintenance  5.56 Miles 2 4 N/A 
Underground utility 
locate ticket requests N/A 103 242 700 

 
 
3. VEHICLE MAINTENANCE  

 
a.  Received new 10,000-watt generator (CIP Project #304-049). 
 

ACTIVITY COMMENTS 11/27/17 – 
12/31/17 

FISCAL YEAR 
TO DATE 

FY2018 
BUDGET 

Inspections  

(5) Fuel storage tanks, (6) 
generators, (1) hazardous 
materials inspection at Fire 
Rescue Station 94/PBSO 

District 16 

11 47 N/A 

Repair Orders 
Completed 

(24) Fire & Medic trucks, 
(14) Public Works trucks, 

(1) Building truck,  
(1) Finance van,  

(1) L.S. Van, (2) L.S. trucks, 
(54) small engine 
equipment, and  
(3) L.S. buses 

100 207 800 

Preventive 
Maintenance 
Performed 

(1) Fire & Medic trucks,  
(3) Public Works trucks, 

 (1) Finance van, 
(3) Building vehicles,  

(10) small engine 
equipment 

18 43 190 

Service Calls 
(4) Fire & Medic trucks,  
(1) Public Works truck,  

(1) small engine equipment 
6 15 N/A 



Page 3 of 4 

4. BUILDING SERVICES   
  

a. Coordinated replacement of exercise control board for generator transfer 
switch at Fire Rescue Station 94. 

b. Coordinated replacement of 7.5-ton A/C unit for Administration and 
Reception areas at Fire Rescue Station 94 (CIP Project #304-163).  

c. Coordinated replacement of Zonex System in Administration area at Fire 
Rescue Station 94 (CIP Project #304-163). 

d. Upgraded existing lighting to LED lights in Public Works Vehicle 
Maintenance bays. 

e. Performed annual preventative maintenance for 56 exhaust fans. 
f. Performed annual preventative maintenance on Building Services shop 

tools. 
g. Coordinated quarterly preventative maintenance for lift stations at Freedom 

Park and Municipal Complex. 
h. Removed pay phones throughout City properties. 
i. Replaced solar light on City Entry Sign on Forest Hill Blvd. median, west of 

Jog Road. 
 

ACTIVITY COMMENTS 11/27/17 – 
12/31/17 

FISCAL 
YEAR TO 

DATE 
FY2018 

BUDGET 

HVAC Systems (36)  
Repairs (2) City Hall 2 7 N/A 

Monthly PM for Interior 
Lights 17 Buildings 85 bulbs 115 N/A 

Monthly PM for (17) 
Buildings 
 

Includes inspection and 
replacement of A/C filters, 
flags, fire sprinkler gauges, 
battery recycling and rust 

removal from irrigation 

1 3 12 

Work Orders 
Completed 17 Buildings 90 217 800 

 
 
5. PARKS MAINTENANCE 
 

a. Maintenance Worker I completed Introduction to the Incident Command 
System for Public Works ICS-100 and National Incident Management 
System (NIMS) An Introduction IS-700 courses. 

 

ACTIVITY QUANTITY 11/27/17 – 
12/31/17 

FISCAL 
YEAR TO 

DATE 
FY2018 

BUDGET 

Mowing Public Building 
Grounds 11.7 acres 3 8 36 

Mowing of Parks’ 
Grounds 66.5  acres 3 8 40 

Mowing of Sports Turf 15 acres 8 26 90 



Page 4 of 4 

ACTIVITY QUANTITY 11/27/17 – 
12/31/17 

FISCAL 
YEAR TO 

DATE 
FY2018 

BUDGET 

Athletic Fields (11) 
Maintained and 
Prepped 

Ballfield, Soccer, 
Football 66 212 N/A 

Athletic Courts (26) 
Maintained 

Tennis, Basketball, 
Racquetball, 

Shuffleboard, Volleyball 
9 25 N/A 

Parks and Buildings 
Litter Removal 92 acres 9 46 N/A 

Trees in parks and 
building grounds 
maintained (4,663) 

Trimmed (82) Sabal Palms, 
(1) Slash Pine, (3) Oak trees 

and removed (2) Sabal 
Palms & (1) Slash Pine at 
Community Park; trimmed 
(28) Sabal Palms and (25) 
Slash Pines at FR94/PBSO 

D16 

142 399 933 

Playground Areas 
Maintained (15) N/A 10 40 N/A 

Parks and Playground 
Safety Inspections 

15 Playground areas,  
13 Parks, 11 Athletic 

Fields, & 9 Public 
Buildings 

1 3 12 

Community Events 
Assisted 

Food Truck Invasion, 
Lunch With Santa 2 5 22 

 
 
6. DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS WORK SQUAD  
 

a. Assisted Parks Division with trenching at Former City Hall (WIC). 
 

ACTIVITY COMMENTS 11/27/17 – 
12/31/17 

FISCAL 
YEAR TO 

DATE 
FY2018 

BUDGET 

Canal Maintenance  (1) A Canal, (1) B 
Canal 1 2 N/A 

Alleyway Maintenance  5.56 miles 2 4 N/A 
R-O-W Landscape 
Maintenance Sherwood Forest Blvd 1 2 N/A 

Landscape 
maintenance Municipal Complex 1 3 N/A 

Landscape 
maintenance Community Park 2 5 N/A 

Landscape 
maintenance Veterans Park 2 3 N/A 

Landscape 
maintenance Freedom Park 2 5 N/A 

Work Squad Total 
Hours Worked 

5 inmates for 7 days, 
6 inmates for 6 days 426 969.5 Estimated 

5,500 hr/yr 
 



1 
 

       

November 2017 - Monthly Strategic Report 
 

CAD Calls Monthly Totals 
Business / Residence Checks (Self-Initiated) 2734 
Traffic Stops (Self-Initiated) 715 
Calls for Service (Excluding 1050’s & 1061’s) 1890 
All CAD Calls - Total 5339 

Data Source: Crimeview Dashboard 
*Omit Miscellaneous Calls 

 
SUMMARY 

During the month, there were 5339 generated calls within the District and 65% of these calls were 
self-initiated.  
 

DATA BELOW REPRESENTS TRAFFIC ACTIVITY CONDUCTED BY D16 PERSONNEL 
Data Source: D16 Office Staff 

 

Total Citations Total Warnings Parking Citations 
845 621 2 

 
DATA BELOW REPRESENTS TRAFFIC ACTIVITY CONDUCTED BY THE MOTORS UNIT 

Data Source: D16 Office Staff 
 

Total Citations Total Warnings 
99 87 

 *Motor Unit stats for the timeframe of 10/30/17-12/03/17. 

 
FIELD INTERVIEW REPORTS 

164 conducted per the FIR Track System 
(Provided by Julie Canavan or John Kianka) 

  
DISTRICT 16 TRUANTS 

13 per the Monthly Stat Spreadsheets 
 



2 
 

DISTRICT ACTIVITY/INCIDENTS/INITIATIVES 
 

COMMUNITY EVENTS 
• District 16 participated in the Turkey Drive at the Publix located at 6790 Forest Hill Boulevard 

on 11/04/17. 
• District 16 participated in the Grand Opening for Peter Piper Pizza on 11/04/17. 
• PBSO Special Events and District 16 hosted a Penguin Event at Liberty Park Elementary School 

on 11/17/17. This event was to help educate the parents picking up their children about safety 
and the not leaving children unattended in motor vehicles. Five deputies, Detectives and the 
LEA attended this event. 

• The City of Greenacres hosted a Mayor vs Wes Kain Basketball Challenge on 11/17/17. District 
16 provided security for the event.  

• The City of Greenacres hosted a Greenacres Fall Fitness Festival on 11/18/17. District 16 and 
the PBSO Training Division participated in the event. 

• District 16 participated in the Helping Hands Household Giveaway on 11/28/17. 
 

OPERATIONS 
• The District 16 Detective Bureau completed a Where’s My Car Operation on 11/02/17. This 

was a nighttime operation in an effort to recover stolen vehicles and stolen tags. They 
collaborated with a District 16 Deputy, the District 16 Street Team, and PBSO Deputies from 
the Volunteer Unit. All personnel canvassed the city with the focus on the hot spots for stolen 
vehicles and tags. The volunteer unmarked tag reader was used to query 3,048 license plates 
and as a result successfully completed the operation with the following: 

Stolen Tag Recovered 1 
Citations 3 
Arrest 1 
FIR’s 8 

• District 16 Street Crimes Team along with the District 16 SPOT Liaison/Deputy conducted a 
Semi-Annual SPOT Sweep within the City of Greenacres on 11/10/17. The check was 
completed on 17 registered sexual offenders residing in the city and of the listed offenders four 
(4) individuals were away from home and could not be verified. The remaining 13 individuals 
stated no changes and complied with our request for information.  

 
STREET TEAM 

• The District 16 Street Team conducted proactive patrol in the city where a vehicle was observed 
in the westbound lanes. A FCIC/NCIC check of the tag revealed the vehicle as stolen (ref: U.S. 
Department of Veterans Affairs Police) and a traffic stop was conducted. The occupants were 
immediately removed from the vehicle and detained without incident or injury. The driver of 
the vehicle was subsequently arrested, charged with Grand Theft Auto and this case was cleared 
by arrest. 

• The District 16 Street Team conducted proactive patrol in the city where a traffic stop was 
conduct on a vehicle. The driver immediately bailed out of his vehicle attempting to flee on foot 
who was immediately caught and found to be in possession of both cocaine and heroin. The 
driver was subsequently arrested and charged with Possession of Cocaine with Intent to Sell, 
Possession of Heroin with Intent to Sell, Tampering with Physical Evidence, Resisting without 
Violence and this case was cleared by arrest. 



3 
 

• The District 16 Street Team conducted proactive patrol in the city where a traffic stop was 
conducted on a vehicle. Probable cause was developed to search both the vehicle and its 
occupants. Subsequent to the search the driver and passenger were arrested. One was arrested 
for Trafficking in Heroin 7.1g, Possession of Cocaine 2.3g and the other was arrested for 
Possession of Marijuana. 

• The District 16 Street Team conducted proactive patrol in the city where a traffic stop was 
conducted and contact was made with the driver. Probable cause was established to search the 
vehicle in which the search produced 112.5 grams of marijuana, a Glock Firearm 23 fully 
loaded, six  magazines (three extended), and a box of .223 bullets. The driver was charged with 
DWLS w/ Knowledge, Possession of Marijuana over 20 Grams, Possession of a Firearm During 
the Commission of a Felony, and Delinquent in Possession of a Firearm and this case was 
cleared by arrest. 

• The District 16 Street Team conducted proactive patrol in the city when it was observed that a 
female was being picked up by a male in which a probable cause was established to conduct a 
traffic stop on the vehicle. During the traffic stop, the male was found to be in possession of 
crack cocaine and was charged with Possession of Cocaine and DUS with knowledge. This case 
was cleared by arrest. 

• The District 16 Street Team conducted proactive patrol in which a hand to hand narcotic 
transaction was observed between two different vehicles. The occupants of one of the vehicles 
was observed not wearing their seatbelts and a traffic stop was conducted in the area of the city 
where probable cause was developed to search both the vehicle and its occupants. Subsequent 
to the search the driver and passenger were arrested one was arrested for Possession of 
Marijuana > than 20 g (318.6 g). The other was arrested for Possession of Cocaine with Intent 
to Sell (3.2g), Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, Possession of Marijuana < 20g and was also 
in possession of 20 capsules (3.3g) suspect Heroin. This case was cleared by arrest. 

• The District 16 Street Team conducted proactive patrol in the city where a traffic stop was 
conducted on a vehicle. Probable cause was found to conduct a search of the vehicle as well as 
its occupants. Subsequent to the search the occupant was arrested for Possession of Cocaine, 
Resisting W/O Violence, Tampering w/ Evidence and the driver was arrested for Possession of 
Heroin, Possession of Drug Paraphernalia.  

• The District 16 Street Team conducted proactive patrol in the in city where a traffic stop was 
conducted on a vehicle exiting a business. The vehicle was occupied by four individuals who 
were later identified. A male was observed throwing a white baggie out of the window of the 
vehicle during the traffic stop in which probable cause was found to search both the vehicle and 
its occupants. Subsequent to the search two of individuals were arrested. One was arrested for 
Possession of Cocaine, Tampering w/ Evidence and the other was arrested for Possession of 
Marijuana <20g (NTA issued).  
 

DETECTIVES 
• Detectives investigated a vehicle burglary where several individuals were seen breaking into a 

victim’s vehicle on video. This incident took place at the victim’s work place. Detectives 
acquired the video and created a bolo. The victim was able to identify a suspect seen on the 
video but not the burglar and after an extensive investigation the suspect was identified and 
located. Additional witnesses were located and probable cause was developed for the suspect. 
Detectives completed an interview with the suspect, admissions were made of his guilt and the 
suspect was subsequently arrested. 



4 
 

• Detectives assisted Road Patrol in a Grand Theft and Dealing in Stolen Property investigation 
by conducting victim, witness and suspect interviews. The suspect was later apprehended by 
the D16 Street Team. 

• Detectives investigated the theft of a vehicle where the vehicle was recovered at a later date. 
Property from the stolen vehicle was reported missing. The property was later located on 
OfferUp.com and successfully recovered through a cooperative District 16 Detective Bureau 
and Street Team operation. DNA was collected from the suspect and then was released. The 
DNA results came back negative but due to a previous existing probable cause the suspect was 
relocated and arrested for the Grand Theft Motor Vehicle, Burglary to an Unoccupied 
Conveyance, Grand Theft and Dealing in Stolen Property.  

• Several different deputies responded to a business located in the city on several different dates 
in reference to a retail theft in which beer was stolen. Detectives later discovered that this 
individual had possibly committed eight similar thefts within District 16 and could be a possible 
suspect. This individual was being held in secure detention at the Palm Beach County Jail so 
based on that an in custody arrest was completed for felony retail theft due to him having two 
prior convictions for retail theft and the cases were cleared by arrest. 

• Detectives investigated two incidents of criminal mischief where an individual was observed 
destroying televisions at the same business in two different locations. Surveillance video was 
collected which showed the individual as the suspect as well as showing him leaving in a 
vehicle which later proved to be stolen. The suspect was later apprehended in the stolen vehicle 
and Detectives conducted an interview where the suspect confessed to both crimes stating that 
he was drunk. Two in-custody arrests were then completed.  

 
ROBBERY ARRESTS 

• On 11/14/17 the female victim invited a male into her residence and they were hanging out. At 
some point the male left the Living Room area and was inside the victims’ mother’s room 
removing a pink Beretta Handgun and $1,300 in U.S. Currency from her top dresser drawer. The 
victim confronted him and told him to put the items back; however, he brandished a black semi-
automatic handgun and pointed it at the victims head and told her he would pistol whip her if 
she did not move. He fled the incident location through the front door and was last seen fleeing 
from the area in a green vehicle. On 11/21/17, the male was apprehended on unrelated charges 
within the City of Greenacres and transported to the Violent Crimes Division for a post Miranda 
Warnings interview. Post Miranda he provided a full confession to his involvement with the 
robbery. The stolen pink Beretta was recovered and turned into PBSO evidence. Case Cleared 
by Arrest. 

• On 11/21/17 a female victim was attending to the register when an unknown male entered the 
business. As the victim opened the cash register, the suspect male lunged over the counter and 
attempted to steal monies from the cash tray. The victim was able to fend him off, causing the 
suspect to flee. Over the next hour the same suspect committed two additional business 
robberies. PBSO Deputies spotted the suspect vehicle leaving this incident location and 
ultimately captured the suspect robber. Post-Miranda the suspect advised he stole to support his 
drug habit. He was properly charged and turned over to the PBC Jail for processing.  
 
 
 
 
 



5 
 

ARREST AND NTA STATISTICS  
 

Arrest Data                                                                                      
Arrests & Notice to Appear (NTA) within District 16 

Total Count - 77 
Data Source: Crimeview Dashboard (Calls for Service) 

 
DATA ANALYSIS 

 

The data included in this report is charted and graphed to illustrate and compare changes over a 
specific time period. These charts and graphs are utilized to assist in determining crime trends and 
to measure enforcement efforts. This data is utilized in conjunction with other analysis to develop 
directed patrol and various enforcement activities. The analysis included on these pages is 
presented as a brief highlight to explain the salient points of this report. 
 

 
 
 
 
 



6 
 

 
 

 
 

 



7 
 

DISTRICT 16 MAP OF ACTIVITY 
 Data: Source: Crimeview Dashboard 

 
Persons Crimes 

 
 
 



8 
 

Burglaries 

 

 

 



9 
 

Theft & Vandalism 

 

 
 
 



10 
 

Stolen Vehicles & Recovered Vehicles                                         

 
  
 
 



11 
 

FIR MAP  
 

148 Records Plotted 
Data Source: Crimeview Dashboard 

 
(164) Conducted per the FIR Track System     

                                          


	01 22 2018 Agenda Final
	CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA
	AGENDA
	City Council Meeting
	Monday, January 22, 2018 – 7:00 p.m.
	City Hall Council Chambers
	5800 Melaleuca Lane
	Mayor and City Council
	Administration
	Andrea McCue, City Manager
	Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk
	Agenda
	City Council Meeting
	City Hall Council Chambers
	5800 Melaleuca Lane
	Monday, January 22, 2018 - 7:00 p.m.




	5.A.1 Cert of Congrats El Sabor Latino
	6.A.1 12-18-17 Council Minutes-Draft
	6.A.2 Proc-Greenacres School Choice Week-Jan
	6.A.3.1 Res. 2018-01 CDBG 18-19 Phase 5 Cover Memo
	6.A.3.2 Res. 2018-01  CDBG FY18-19  Phase 5
	6.A.4.1 2018-02  FLC Home Rule Resolution Template
	6.A.4.2 2018-ib---local-self-government
	6.A.5.1 Res  2018-03 Release of Liens Cover Memo
	6.A.5.2 Res 2018-03 Release of Liens
	6.A.5.3 Res 2018-03 Release of Liens Exhibit A
	6.A.6.1 Res 2018-04 Interlocal Agreement with PBC for Staffing Emergency Shelters
	6.A.6.2 Emer Shelter Staffing Agreement
	7.A.1 Ord. 2017-20 ANX-17-01 Cover Memo 2 S Military Trail
	7.A.2 Ord. 2017-20 ANX-17-01 S Military Trail
	7.A.3 Ord. 2017-20 ANX-17-01 Staff Report S Military Trail
	7.A.4 Ord. 2017-20 ANX-17-01 Urban Services Report S Military Trl
	part 1 anx
	part 2 anx

	7.B.1 Ord. 2017-27 CPA-17-02 Cover Memo 2 S Military Trail
	7.B.2 Ord. 2017-27 CPA-17-02 S Military Trail
	7.B.3 Ord. 2017-27 CPA-17-02 S Military Trl Land use Map
	7.B.4 Ord. 2017-27 CPA-17-02 Staff Report S Military Trail
	7.C.1 Ord. 2017-28 ZC-17-02 Cover Memo 2 S Military Trail
	7.C.2 Ord. 2017-28  ZC-17-02 S Military Trail
	7.C.3 Ord. 2017-28 ZC-17-02 S Military Trl Zoning Map
	7.C.4 Ord. 2017-28 ZC-17-02 Staff Report S Military Trail
	7.D.1 Ord. 2017-29 CPA-17-01 Cover Memo 2 Dunkin Donuts
	7.D.2 Ord. 2017-29 CPA-17-01 Dunkin Donuts 4644 Lake Worth Rd
	7.D.3 Ord. 2017-29 CPA-17-01 Staff Report Dunkin Donuts
	7.D.4 Ord. 2017-29 CPA-17-01 Dunkin Donuts Land use Map
	7.E.1 Ord. 2017-30 ZC-17-01 Cover Memo 2 Dunkin Donuts
	7.E.2 Ord. 2017-30  ZC-17-01 Dunkin Donuts (4644 Lake Worth Rd)
	7.E.3 Ord. 2017-30 ZC-17-01 staff report Dunkin Donuts
	7.E.4 Ord. 2017-30 ZC-17-01 Dunkin Donuts Zoning Map
	7.F.1 Ord. 2017-32 ANX-13-03 Cover Memo 2 NW Corner Chickasaw Rd & S. Jog Aldi
	7.F.2 Ord. 2017-32 ANX-13-03 NW Cnr Chickasaw and Jog Rd  ALDI's
	7.F.3 Ord. 2017-32 ANX-13-03 Staff Report NW Corner Chickasaw Rd & S Jog Aldis
	7.F.4 Ord. 2017-32 ANX-13-03 Urban Services Report NW Corner of Chickasaw Rd & S Jog Aldi
	part I
	Part 22
	Part 3

	7.G.1 Ord. 2017-33 CPA-13-04 Cover Memo 2  NW Corner of Chickasaw Rd & S Jog
	7.G.2 Ord. 2017-33 CPA-13-04 NW Corner Chickasaw and Jog Aldi Land use map
	7.G.3 Ord. 2017-33 CPA-13-04 NW corner of Chickasaw rd and S Jog and 3429 S jog for Aldi
	7.G.4 Ord. 2017-33 CPA-13-04 Staff Report NW Corner of Chickasaw Rd & S Jog Aldi
	7.H.1 Ord. 2017-34 ZC-13-04 Cover Memo 2 NW Corner of Chickasaw Rd & S Jog Aldi
	7.H.2 Ord. 2017-34 ZC-13-04 NW Corner Chickasaw and Jog Aldi Zoning Map
	7.H.3 Ord. 2017-34 ZC-13-04 NW corner of Chickasaw Rd and S Jog and 3429 S Jog for Aldi's
	7.H.4 Ord. 2017-34 ZC-13-04 Staff ReportNW Corner of Chickasaw Rd and S Jog ALdi
	7.I.1 SP-17-02 Cover Memo Aldi NW Corner Chickasaw Rd & S Jog
	7.I.2 SP-17-02 Site Plan Packet Aldi NW Corner of Chickasaw Rd & S Jog
	Aldi 1
	Aldi 2
	Aldi 3

	7.I.3 SP-17-02 Staff Report NW Corner Chickasaw Rd & S Jog Aldi
	7.J.1 2017-39 Council Memo amendments to FBC 2nd Reading
	7.J.2 Ord 2017-39 Amendments to the FBC 2nd reading
	10.A.1 Building Department Report
	10.A.2 Finance Dept Report
	10.A.3  LS Report
	TO:  Andrea McCue, City Manager
	FY 2018 BUDGET
	 FY 2018
	ACTIVITY
	SPONSORS/
	PARTNERS

	10.A.4 P&E Dept Report
	10.A.5 Fire Rescue Report December 2017
	FROM: Mark Pure, Fire Chief

	10.A.6 Public Works Dept Report
	TO:  Andrea McCue, City Manager
	1. ADMINISTRATION:
	FY2018
	FISCAL YEAR TO DATE
	11/27/17 – 12/31/17
	COMMENTS
	BUDGET
	2. ROADS AND DRAINAGE MAINTENANCE
	FY2018
	FISCAL YEAR TO DATE
	11/27/17 – 12/31/17
	COMMENTS
	BUDGET
	3. VEHICLE MAINTENANCE
	5. PARKS MAINTENANCE

	FY2018
	BUDGET
	FISCAL YEAR TO DATE
	FY2018
	11/27/17 – 12/31/17
	COMMENTS
	BUDGET
	FY2018
	11/27/17 – 12/31/17
	QUANTITY
	BUDGET
	FY2018
	BUDGET

	10.A.7.1 PBSO - District 16 Monthly - November 2017



